
 

 

 
 

Cherwell District Council, Bodicote House, Bodicote, Banbury, Oxfordshire, OX15 4AA 
www.cherwell.gov.uk 

 

Committee: Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 

Date:  Tuesday 19 February 2019 
 

Time: 6.45 pm 
 
Venue Bodicote House, Bodicote, Banbury, OX15 4AA 
 
Membership 
 

Councillor Neil Prestidge (Chairman) Councillor Sean Gaul (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Mike Bishop Councillor Phil Chapman 
Councillor Mark Cherry Councillor Chris Heath 
Councillor Tony Mepham Councillor Cassi Perry 
Councillor Sandra Rhodes Councillor Les Sibley 
Councillor Bryn Williams Councillor Lucinda Wing 
 
 

 

AGENDA 
 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Members should not normally be subject to the party whip. 

Where a member is subject to a party whip they must declare this at the beginning 
of the meeting and it should be recorded in the minutes. 

 
 
1. Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitute Members      

 
 

2. Declarations of Interest      
 
Members are asked to declare any interest and the nature of that interest which 
they may have in any of the items under consideration at this meeting.   
 
 

3. Urgent Business      
 
The Chairman to advise whether they have agreed to any item of urgent business 
being admitted to the agenda. 

Public Document Pack

http://www.cherwell.gov.uk/


 

 

 
 

4. Minutes  (Pages 1 - 4)    
 
To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 22 January 2019. 
 
 

5. Chairman's Announcements      
 
To receive communications from the Chairman. 
 
 

6. Monthly Performance, Risk and Finance Monitoring Report - December 2018  
(Pages 5 - 52)    
 
Report of Assistant Director: Performance and Transformation 
 
Purpose of report 

 

This report summarises the Council’s Performance, Risk and Finance monitoring 
position as at the end of each month. 

 
Recommendations 
              
The meeting is recommended: 
 
1.1 To note the monthly Performance, Risk and Finance Monitoring Report. 
 
1.2 To note that the Performance, Risk and Finance Monitoring Report is 

considered by Executive on a monthly basis. 
 
1.3 To review and comment on the performance update for December (Appendix 

2) and identify any areas for further consideration by the Executive. 
  
 

7. Draft Housing Strategy 2019-2024: 'Cherwell - A Place to Prosper'  (Pages 53 - 
134)    
 
Report of Assistant Director: Social Care Commissioning and Housing 
 
Purpose of report 

 
To consider and comment on the draft Housing Strategy 2019-2024 and Action Plan 
2019-20, taking in to consideration the results of the public consultation phase. 

 
Recommendations 
              
The meeting is recommended: 
 
1.1 To consider the results of the public consultation and the proposed changes 

to the Strategy in response to feedback from the public, stakeholders and 
partners. 
 



 

 

1.2 To comment on the draft Strategy and action plan in advance of the Strategy 
going to the Executive for adoption on 4 March 2019. 
 

1.3 To consider what the role of Overview and Scrutiny Committee should be in 
monitoring the Strategy and its outcomes going forward. 

  
 

8. Work Programme - 2018/2019  (Pages 135 - 138)    
 
Democratic and Elections Officers will give an update on progress regarding 
subjects raised at previous Committee meetings (appendix 1, attached) 
  
The Committee to consider the work programme 2018/2019. (appendix 2 attached) 
 

 
 

Councillors are requested to collect any post from their pigeon 
hole in the Members Room at the end of the meeting. 

 
 

Information about this Meeting 
 
Apologies for Absence  
Apologies for absence should be notified to 
democracy@cherwellandsouthnorthants.gov.uk or 01327 322043 / 01295 221591 prior to 
the start of the meeting. 
 
Declarations of Interest 
 
Members are asked to declare interests at item 2 on the agenda or if arriving after the 
start of the meeting, at the start of the relevant agenda item.  
 
Local Government and Finance Act 1992 – Budget Setting, Contracts & 
Supplementary Estimates 
 
Members are reminded that any member who is two months in arrears with Council Tax 
must declare the fact and may speak but not vote on any decision which involves budget 
setting, extending or agreeing contracts or incurring expenditure not provided for in the 
agreed budget for a given year and could affect calculations on the level of Council Tax. 
 
Evacuation Procedure 
 
When the continuous alarm sounds you must evacuate the building by the nearest 
available fire exit.  Members and visitors should proceed to the car park as directed by 
Democratic Services staff and await further instructions.  
 

Access to Meetings 
 
If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of these papers or 
special access facilities) please contact the officer named below, giving as much notice as 
possible before the meeting. 
 
Mobile Phones 

mailto:democracy@cherwell-dc.gov.uk


 

 

 
Please ensure that any device is switched to silent operation or switched off. 
 
Queries Regarding this Agenda 
 
Please contact Emma Faulkner / Lesley Farrell, Democratic and Elections 
emma.faulkner@cherwellandsouthnorthants.gov.uk, 01327 322043 / 
lesley.farrell@cherwellandsouthnorthants.gov.uk, 01295 221591  
 
 
Yvonne Rees 
Chief Executive 
 
Published on Monday 11 February 2019 
 

 
 



Cherwell District Council 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held at 
Bodicote House, Bodicote, Banbury, OX15 4AA, on 22 January 2019 at 6.45 
pm 
 
Present:  Councillor Sean Gaul (Vice-Chairman, in the Chair) 

  
 Councillor Mike Bishop 

Councillor Mark Cherry 
Councillor Tony Mepham 
Councillor Cassi Perry 
Councillor Les Sibley 
Councillor Lucinda Wing 
 

Also 
Present: 

Gary Brewer, Gypsy and Traveller Service Manager, 
Oxfordshire County Council 
 

Apologies 
for 
absence: 

Councillor Neil Prestidge 
Councillor Phil Chapman 
Councillor Chris Heath 
Councillor Sandra Rhodes 
Councillor Bryn Williams 
 

Officers: Graeme Kane, Chief Operating Officer (Deputy CEO) 
Adele Taylor, Executive Director: Finance and Governance 
(Interim) & Section 151 Officer 
Hedd Vaughan Evans, Assistant Director Performance and 
Transformation 
Richard Webb, Assistant Director: Regulatory Services and 
Community Safety 
Natasha Clark, Governance and Elections Manager 
Lesley Farrell, Democratic and Elections Officer 
Emma Faulkner, Democratic and Elections Officer 
 

 
36 Declarations of Interest  

 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

37 Chairman's Announcements  
 
The Chairman reminded Members that there would be Code of Conduct 
Training on 24 January 2019 at 6pm and Safeguarding training on Thursday 7 
February 2019 at 6pm. 
 
Details of both sessions had been sent out by the Democratic and Elections 
team and confirmation requested if attendance at either session was planned. 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 22 January 2019 

  

38 Urgent Business  
 
There were no items of urgent business. 
 
 

39 Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 15 November 2018 
were agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
 

40 Unauthorised Encampments  
 
The Chief Operating Officer introduced Gary Brewer, Gypsy and Traveller 
Service Manager, Oxfordshire County Council who gave a presentation on 
Unauthorised Encampments within the Cherwell District. 
 
The Gypsy and Traveller Service Manager explained the process that was 
undertaken when an unauthorised encampment was set-up, including the 
legal process that might need to take place to get an injunction for the 
travellers to move on, and the requirement of the County Council to assess 
welfare needs of travellers before any form of eviction process could be 
started. 
 
In answer to questions from the Committee, the Gypsy and Traveller Service 
Manager advised that information on how to respond to Unauthorised 
Encampments had been included in the briefing note. Information and contact 
details were also available on the Oxfordshire County Council website.  
 
In the course of discussion, the Committee raised concerns that when 
unauthorised encampments were set-up, incorrect information was 
sometimes shared on social media such as Twitter and Facebook by some 
members of the community, escalating situations with Travellers 
unnecessarily. The Committee and officers agreed that accurate 
communication was important when unauthorised encampments occurred, 
and that all parties should do more to ensure correct information was being 
circulated 
 
In response to Members comments regarding the lack of official available 
sites for travellers in the Cherwell District, the Chief Operating Officer 
informed the Committee that this would be a planning matter and agreed to 
speak to the Executive Director of Place and Growth (Interim) to request that 
he provide a briefing note to the Committee, giving the current position 
relating to Authorised Encampment sites in the Local Plan part 2. 
 
The Committee thanked the Gypsy and Traveller Service Manager for his 
informative presentation and work with the Gypsy and Traveller community. 
 
Resolved 
 
(1) That the Presentation and Briefing Note be noted. 

 

Page 2



Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 22 January 2019 

  

(2) That the Interim Executive Director of Place and Growth be requested 
to provide a briefing note to the Committee giving the current position 
relating to Authorised Encampment sites in the Local Plan part 2. 

 
 

41 Draft Business Plan and Budget  
 
The Executive Director Finance and Governance(Interim) & Section 151 
Officer and the Assistant Director Performance and Transformation presented 
the Draft Business Plan and Budget which set out Cherwell District Council’s 
priorities for 2019/2020 and an overview of the anticipated budget. 
 
The Executive Director Finance and Governance(Interim) & Section 151 
Officer explained that 2019/20 was the last year of a four year financial 
settlement from Central Government, and the figures for subsequent years 
were therefore an estimate. A more detailed report was due to be considered 
by the Budget Planning Committee at their meeting on 29 January 2019.  
 
With regard to the Draft Business Plan, the Assistant Director Performance 
and Transformation explained that the plan on a page format would again be 
used for 2019/20, with the three main areas remaining the same for the new 
financial year. A light refresh of the performance indicator headings had been 
carried out. 
 
In response to Members’ comments regarding the amount of business rates 
received by the Council being projected to go down, the Executive Director 
Finance and Governance(Interim) and Section 151 Officer gave a brief 
explanation of Business Rates volume and the existing retention scheme. 
 
Resolved 
 
(1) That the Draft Business Plan and Budget for 2019/2020 be noted. 
 
 

42 Work Programme  
 
The Democratic and Elections Officers gave an update on the status of topics 
suggested for scrutiny. 
 
In response to a request from the Committee, it was confirmed that Youth 
Provision would be added to the next municipal year’s work programme. 
 
Resolved 
 
(1) That the workplan be noted. 
 

The meeting ended at 8.15 pm 
 
 
 Chairman: 

 
 Date: 
 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Cherwell District Council  
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

19 February 2019 
 

Monthly Performance, Risk and Finance 

Monitoring Report – December 2018 

 
Report of Assistant Director: Performance and Transformation 

 
This report is public 

 

Purpose of report 
 

This report summarises the Council’s Performance, Risk and Finance monitoring 
position as at the end of each month. 
 

1.0 Recommendations 
              

The meeting is recommended: 
 
1.1 To note the monthly Performance, Risk and Finance Monitoring Report. 
 
1.2 To note that the Performance, Risk and Finance Monitoring Report is considered by 

Executive on a monthly basis. 
 
1.3 To review and comment on the performance update for December (Appendix 2) 

and identify any areas for further consideration by the Executive. 
  

2.0 Introduction 
 

2.1 The Council is committed to performance, risk and budget management and 
reviews progress against its corporate priorities on a monthly basis.  
 

2.2  This report provides an update on progress made so far in 2018-19 to deliver the 
 Council’s priorities through reporting on performance, the Leadership Risk Register 
 and providing an update on the financial position.  

 
2.3 The Council’s performance management framework sets out the key actions, 

projects and programmes of work that contribute to the delivery of the 2018-19 
business plan and the priorities of the Council. These measures and key 
performance indicators are reported on a monthly basis to highlight progress, 
identify areas of good performance and actions that have been taken to address 
underperformance or delays. 
 

2.4 The Council maintains a Leadership Risk Register that is reviewed on a monthly 
basis. The latest available version of the risk register at the date this report is 
published is included in this report. 

2.5 The Report details section is split into three parts: 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



Colour Symbol
Meaning for Joint Business Plan 

Measures

Meaning for Joint Key Performance 

Measures (KPIs)

Red Significantly behind schedule Worse than target by more than 10%.

Amber Slightly behind schedule Worse than target by up to 10%. 

 Green Delivering to plan Delivering to target or ahead of it.

 Performance Update 
 Leadership Risk Register Update 
 Finance Update 
 

2.6 There are four appendices to this report: 
 

 Appendix 1 – 2018/19 Business Plan 
 Appendix 2 - Monthly Performance Report 
 Appendix 3 – Leadership Risk Register 
 Appendix 4 – Capital Programme  

 

3.0 Report Details 
 
Performance Update 

 
3.1 The Council’s performance management framework sets out the key actions, 

projects and programmes of work that contribute to the delivery of the 2018-19 
business plan (see Appendix 3) and the priorities of the Council.  

 
3.2 The 2018-19 business plan set out three strategic priorities: 

 Protected, Green and Clean; 
 Thriving Communities and Wellbeing; 
 District of Opportunity and Growth. 

 
3.3 This report provides a summary of the Council’s performance in delivering against 

each strategic priority. To measure performance a ‘traffic light’ system is used. 
Where performance is on or ahead of target it is rated green, where performance is 
slightly behind the target it is rated amber. A red rating indicated performance is off 
target. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Priority: Protected, Green and Clean 
 

3.4 The Council is committed to protecting the natural environment and ensuring the 
character of the district is preserved and enhanced. Our commitment included 
working to ensure the district has high standards of environmental cleanliness and 
greater waste and recycling services. Maintaining the district as a low crime area is 
another key part of this priority and the Council is committed to working in 
partnership to deliver against this objective.  

 
3.5 Overview of our performance against this strategic priority: Page 6



  
 Council Fleet turns a greener leaf The Thorpe Lane waste and recycling depot in 

Banbury is welcoming the latest generation of electric vehicles. Cutting both carbon 
and costs, the zero-emission vans are largely charged by solar panels at the depot, 
meaning their use involves only minimal carbon dioxide (Co2) emissions. With lower 
maintenance and tax costs, the vehicles are expected to pay for themselves in less 
than five years. 
The three electric vans will save around 6.5 tonnes of Co2 per year and emit no 
particulates or nitrogen dioxides. Unlike previous 
generations of electric vehicles, the new vans have a 
range of up to 187 miles. Simultaneously, the council is 
seeking improvements to its traditional vehicles by using 
telematics which feedback on how efficiently their 
operator is driving to cut fuel usage. 
  
It is expected that the three electric vehicles added to the 
fleet this week will be successfully trialled over the 
coming months, allowing for the acquisition of more battery-powered vehicles in the 
near future.   

 Air Quality monitoring locations have moved. The location of the diffusion tubes 
is reviewed in December each year. Across CDC two diffusion tubes have been 
relocated; one in Bicester from the Causeway to the A41 Oxford Road at the 
junction with Haydock Road, and the second in Bloxham from the High Street to the 
A361/Barford Road junction.   The tubes have been moved from locations where 
the nitrogen dioxide levels have been consistently low and below the objective level 
to areas of potential concern.        
  

 Cabbies spot checked for compliance People travelling by taxi in the run-up to 
Christmas were advised that we would be spot-checking drivers for compliance. 
Cherwell District Council licensing officers and Thames Valley Police traffic officers 
stopped 38 cars in Banbury and Bicester on the nights of Friday, 7 and Saturday, 8 
December. They were pleased to find that 85 per cent of drivers were properly 
following the conditions of their licences. However, three drivers had their licences 
suspended. The suspensions were for: a non-roadworthy tyre, incorrect display of a 
licence plate and a missing roof light.        
 

The operation was run as part of the Departure Zone campaign, which focusses on 
keeping members of the public safe on festive nights out, and in support of the 
National Police Chiefs' Council Christmas and New Year Drink Drive Campaign.  

 
 

 Protecting the Built Heritage is slightly behind schedule due to the Ardley 
conservation review being delayed until the end of 
Quarter four. Research and reporting is complete for 
Stratton Audley and Somerton.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Priority: Thriving Communities and Wellbeing 
 

Page 7



3.6 The Council is committed to supporting our communities to thrive and to promoting 
the wellbeing of our residents. This priority includes supporting health and 
wellbeing, improving leisure facilities and delivering leisure activities and working in 
partnership with voluntary organisations to deliver services in a manner that 
safeguards children, young people and vulnerable adults. Another key aspect of this 
priority is preventing homelessness, the delivery of affordable housing and 
improving the condition of residential properties.  

 
 
3.7 Overview of our performance against this strategic priority: 
 

 Way to wellbeing mapped out on website - Discovering new activities in north 
Oxfordshire just got easier, thanks to the council’s 
new Wellbeing Activity Map.  
 
 
Gardening, yoga and youth theatre are among the 
affordable activities featured on the online map, 
which has been developed by Cherwell District 

Council’s community services team. People can search for 
activities near where they live by entering their postcode 
on the website. Lots of the activities are free of charge and 
none cost more than £5 per session. 
They include opportunities for sports, arts, learning and 
socialising. The diverse range of groups on the map 
includes: Banbury Star Cyclists’ Club, Bicester Green 

Gym, Cropredy Judo Club, Kidlington Community Singers and Langford Community 
Orchard. 
 
Tristan, who helps run Cherwell Community Theatre, said: “Cherwell District 
Council’s wellbeing map is a fantastic resource for families. At Cherwell Theatre 
Company in Banbury we always accept new members aged 11-plus and no 
experience is necessary, with no need to audition. “Our 
activities encourage creativity and teamwork and are 
accessible to all. Drama is such a wonderful activity for 
feeling good and CDC’s wellbeing map helps us highlight this 
vital service for young people in our locality.” 

 
 Safeguarding Section 11 self-assessment has been 

completed and submitted. A training session aimed at Councillor’s has been 
coordinated in February 2019 to provide general safeguarding awareness. 
 

 Community Safety partnerships have been working closely together reviewing 
actions and priorities. During this period of year Burglary increases partly due to the 
earlier dark nights. In line with the national trend Cherwell has seen an increase in 
this crime at the end of the calendar year. We are 
working with partners including the police to explore how 
we can work more closely to address and raise 
awareness of this, both at the current time and in future 
years. 
 
Cherwell has seen an increase in general reported crime 
in line with the national trend. We will be doing some 

Page 8



work to look at the reasons for this at a local level. Particular increases of note in 
both Council areas are public disorder offences, violent crime and burglary of 
residential and commercial. However it is important to note that the local increases 
in these areas reflect similar national trends. At a local level both Community Safety 
Partnerships are reviewing their priorities and action plans to reflect reported crime 
issues and concerns. 
 
Priority: District of Opportunity and Growth 
 

3.8 The Council is committed to developing the local economy, promoting inward 
investment and delivering sustainable growth. This priority also contributes towards 
making great places to live, work, visit and invest through economic development 
and working in partnership to deliver strategic transport infrastructure projects. 

 
3.9 Overview of our performance against this strategic priority: 

 
 Gardner’s Close - During December the first 3 new owners moved into 

Gardeners Close in Bicester with another 12 due to complete in January. As 
anticipated sales have slowed down during this month but we do expect them to 
pick up after New Year. 

 
 The Hill Youth and Community Centre  Hill Edgar Taylor started the 

excavation work on the foundations ready to start filling with concrete during the 

first week in January 2019. We expect the steel frame to be delivered in January 

with completion early February.  Our work with the community in December 

included attending the Winter Wishes event to talk about the plans and also, 

through our weekly Project Management Group meetings, working together with 

our colleagues from the communications and communities teams to link key 

stages of the construction process with publicity events and community 

involvement. The weekly updates to members, CEDR and The Hill Stakeholders 

Reference Group have continued and are well received. 

 
Summary of Performance 
 

3.10 The Council reports on performance against 20 joint business plan measures and 
13 key performance indicators on a monthly basis. Performance for this month is 
summarised in the table below. The full details, including commentary against each 
measure and key performance indicator can be found in Appendix 2. 

   

Business Plan Measures and Key Performance Indicators (33) 
 

Status 
 

Description December % YTD % 

Green 
  

On target 29 88% 28 85% 

Amber  
 

Slightly off target 2 6% 5 15% 

Red  
 

Off target 2 6% 0 0% 

 
 
 
3.11 Spotlight On: Property, Investment and Contract Management 
 

Page 9



 Facilities Management Team - Success Stories 2018/19  
  
 The Facilities Management (FM) Team manages a significant proportion of the 

properties which Cherwell District Council own. The primary focus for the team in 
2018 has been to ensure that our ‘Statutory’ and ‘Good 
Practice’ compliance obligations, which we have as a 
‘Responsible’ landlord and/or Building Operator, were 
fully met in both a timely and a cost effective manner.  
This was achieved through good management of our 
contactors and associated budgets, combined with a 
robust and appropriate repairs & maintenance regime, 
which, in turn, produced tangible savings against the 
annual budget provision for these works and services.  

 
Facilities Managers across both Councils have been implementing measures to 
improve the security of our key buildings and associated assets, examples of this 
include, at CDC, tighter access and controls in and around the Reception Area of 
Bodicote House.  

 
The FM team were asked to take on the interim management of CDC’s ECO 
Business Centre, a vibrant new co-working structure in North West Bicester built to 
achieve the Passivhaus Plus energy efficiency standard, following its completion in 
September 2018 until the building is formally occupied by an Operator early in 2019. 
This we have done, giving us the chance to test its operational capabilities, address 
any apparent snags/defects and prepare it for handover to the Operator in 
January/February 2019. 

 
Given that Facilities Management is a fundamental function for the safe and 
effective running of a building, the Team has played a crucial role in both Council’s 
preparations for ‘Business Continuity’ it has representation on the Business 
Continuity Steering Group which has been set up to take an overview of all the 
departmental Business Continuity Plans across both Councils giving appropriate 
guidance where required, ensuring that there is cohesion and consistency. 

 
The Team is keen, in conjunction with other teams within the wider PICM 
department, to procure a suitable property management system which will enable 
property data, maintenance records, works orders and financial data to be held in 
one, easily accessible location.  
 
Health and Safety Update 2018 - The Myth, Key Successes and OUR Future 
Journey!  

 
What a remarkable year, full of our great accomplishments over the last 12 months, 
not only for CDC but also for SNC through our shared relationship and joint 
Councils ambition, strong determination in looking after the Safety and Wellbeing of 
our employees, contractors and members of the public whom we serve on a daily 
basis. It’s been a remarkable and rewarding year for us all in the Health and Safety 
team and our community.  

 
 
What Myth?  

 

Page 10



Health and Safety is sometimes blamed for preventing or being used as an excuse 
for preventing activities or works that are vital for the services that we deliver or for 
supporting the Health, Safety and Wellbeing of employees and residents within our 
community. OUR moto is, KEEP IT SIMPLE, BALANCED, AND 
PROPORTIONATE!  
Health and Safety should be seen as a supporting mechanism and not a hindrance. 
Next time someone blames Health and Safety for stopping work or an activity, when 
delivering our key services or creates an hindrance, come and ask the specialists 
who will find the solution and work with you in delivering all our goals.  

 
 Key Successes  
                      

 Launched a brand new intranet page that promotes safety across the Councils  

 Implemented Safety and Workplace hazard identification inspections across key 

sites  

 Worked with stakeholders in delivering a new H&S Policy and framework that 

promotes safety and wellbeing with key deliverables and accountably at all levels  

 Full review of Health and Safety training requirements that will support future 

training needs  

 Improved reporting culture and improved accident and near miss investigation 

process  

 Dedicated points of contacts for each department supporting each team 

 Implementation of a brand new and exciting management system (HSG65) 

Stripping out the burdensome previous system and saved the Councils money.  

 Creation of a new audit framework for ensuring the Council is delivering safety, 

quality, and value for money across all directorates.  

 Improved Manual Handling training within our high risk areas, such as 

Environmental Services, using a model created by an Olympian Athlete!  

 
 And so, much more we could go on!  
 
 Special Projects Management – Good News  
 

 The overview of the Special Projects Manager is to deliver capital projects so that 
 the Councils properties are maintained, so that returns i.e. rent is maximised.  Often 
 this means working closely and in cooperation 
 with the departments Senior Valuer  and 
 Estates Officer’s ensuring that capital works are 
 directed to those properties  with the 
 greatest potential for investment.  
 

 
 Pioneer Square Bicester – Separation of Retail Business Unit into Two  

 Unit 4 Pioneer Square Bicester is a large retail unit located in Bicester Town Centre.  
Due to the large size of the unit has not attracted any local retailers to occupy the 
unit which has remained empty for a number of years.   

 

Page 11



For the retail unit to become more attractive to smaller 
retail businesses the Property Team have secured 
capital funding to divide the unit into two retail spaces. 

 
 The Property Team has worked with a number of 
 retailers and has now successfully let both retail units, 
 securing income for the council for a number of years.  
 
 The works will significantly enhance the capital value of 

the council’s assets, its let ability and improving the 
facilities for the local community.   

 
 
 

Property, Investment and Contract Management 2018 overview 
 

2018 got off to a terrific start with completion of CDC’s acquisition of the Castle 
Quay Shopping Centre which with over 80 stores dominates retailing in Banbury 
and affords the Council a unique opportunity to shape the future vitality of the town 
centre. The acquisition came with planning consent for 80,000 sq.ft leisure and 
retail led development adjoining the centre which the Council have progressed 
through the course of the year in the capacity of landlord developer. In the last few 
months construction has started on site and we are in active discussions with 
several tenants for the remaining units who will join those who have already signed 
on the dotted line. 

 
Since buying Castle Quay the Council have made two additional acquisitions both 
of which will generate income for CDC and in the longer term prove strategically 
important in delivering the Council’s long-term objective of regenerating Banbury 
town centre. They are the Antelope Garage which is opposite the Morrison 
superstore and the Tramway Industrial Estate. The first of these was bought as a 
vacant petrol filling station which the Council has refurbished and subsequently let 
to three tenants. The second, which exchanged in the last days of 2018, is a ten-
unit industrial estate of 81,000 sq.ft which is fully let and prominently positioned in 
the Canalside regeneration area, close to the railway station. 

 
These initiatives have not distracted the team from looking after the Council’s 
operational portfolio and its pre-Castle Quay investment assets. At one point in 
early / mid 2018 the historic investment portfolio was 100% let which is an unusual 
and enviable situation for any substantial investor to find themselves. Achieving this 
and maintaining close to full occupancy is a relentless task and during the year the 
team have welcomed ten new tenants to the estate from sectors as diverse as 
Hotels, Health and Wellbeing, Serviced Offices, Vehicle Maintenance and Organic 
Food. We have also agreed terms with a similar number of existing tenants to 
renew their leases and have numerous live discussions ongoing with other 
occupiers keen to remain in Council owned property.  

 
In tandem with this Property Investment and Contract Management also conducts 
rent reviews, lease restructuring and during 2018 our management portfolio 
expanded to include a redundant library, disused swimming pool and a dovecote. 
Whilst maintaining this level of activity we have also been fortunate in being able to 
assist other departments within the Council in taking on newly developed assets 
such as the Kingsmere Community Centre and the market leading Eco Business 

Page 12



Centre in Bicester, the first commercial building in the UK to achieve the 
internationally recognised Passivhaus Plus accreditation.   

 
And looking to next year? Well, there will doubtless be more of the same, and we’re 
already aware that CDC will be acquiring a new arts venue, extending a community 
centre and investing substantially in maintaining and enhancing properties across 
the Council’s portfolio.  

 
Risk Update 

 
3.12 The Council maintains a Joint Leadership Risk Register that is reviewed on a 

monthly basis. The latest available version of the risk register at the date this report 
is published is included in this report. 

 
3.13 The heat map below shows the overall position of all risks contained within the 

Leadership Risk Register.  
 

 
 

3.14 The table below provides an overview of changes made to the Leadership Risk 
Register during the past month. Any significant changes since the publication of the 
report will be reported verbally at the meeting. 

 

Leadership Risk Score Direction Latest Update 

L01 Financial Resilience 9 Low risk ↔ Reviewed, Mitigating actions and 
comments updated. 

L02 Statutory functions 9 Low risk ↔ Reviewed, comments updated. 

L03 Lack of management Capacity 12 Medium 
risk 

↔ Reviewed, comments updated. 

L04 Local Plan 8 Low risk ↔ Full review, all areas updated.  

L05 Business Continuity 9 Low risk ↔ Reviewed, control assessment and 
mitigating actions updated. 

L06 Partnering 12 Medium 
risk 

↔ Reviewed, questions raised. 

L07 Emergency Planning 12 Medium 
risk 

↔ Reviewed, mitigating actions & 
comments updated. 

L08 Health & Safety 12 Medium 
risk 

↔ Reviewed, no changes. 

L09 Cyber Security 15 Medium 
risk 

↔ Reviewed, control Assessment and 
Mitigating Actions updated. 

L10 Safeguarding the Vulnerable 8 Low risk ↔ Reviewed, questions raised. 

L11 Income generation through 
council owned companies 

12 Medium 
risk 

↔ Reviewed, mitigating actions and 
comments updated. 

L12 Financial sustainability of third 8 Low risk ↔ Reviewed, no changes. 

Page 13



party third party suppliers 

L13 Local Government 
Reorganisation 

15 Medium 
risk 

↔ Full review, all areas updated. 

L14 Corporate Governance 9 Low risk ↔ Reviewed, no change. 
 
 
Finance Update 
 

3.15  We are continuing to develop the way we report and the ease of access and 
understanding of information we provide to ensure Members, and the public, are 
fully aware of the financial position of the Council.  

 
 In previous years financial reporting has been on a quarterly basis. This frequency 

of information is being improved during 2018/19. We have introduced monthly 
monitoring and reporting across the organisation. This improvement in reporting is 
providing budget managers, senior leadership and members with more up to date 
information regarding the financial position and outlook for the Council.    

 
 The finance team has aligned itself with the business areas to provide better 

support and consistency and continuity of advice moving forward across both 
revenue and capital budget areas in addition to monitoring any over funding levels.  

 
 The risk based monitoring undertaken to date has highlighted areas of risk at this 

stage. The variances to date are set out below. All services are reviewing their 
forecasts to identify savings and efficiencies which may mitigate some of the risks 
being identified. Further risks to this position will be highlighted and detailed in 
future reports. 

 
3.16 Revenue Position 
 

 The Council’s forecast financial position is set out in the table below. 
 
Revenue Monitoring 
 
(Brackets denotes an Underspend) 

Budget 
£000 

Forecast 
£000 

Current 
Month 

Variances 
£000 

Prior Month 
Variances 

£000 

Corporate Services 258 272 14 14 

CORPORATE  SERVICES TOTAL 258 272 14 14 

Corporate Services £14k Additional Supplies and Service Cost. 

Communities 2,647 2,679 32 46 

Leisure & Sport 2,674 2,760 86 84 

Housing 1,676 1,580 (96) (92) 

WELLBEING TOTAL 6,997 7,019 22 38 

Communities £32k consist of additional £21k for Executive Director post; and £11k additional 
Employee cost. 

Page 14



 
Leisure & Sport £86k consist of additional £30k for Assistant Director post; and budget 
realignment cost of £56k for the Parkwood contract fees. 
 
Housing (£96k), income of (£4k) due to new legislation on Houses with Multiple Occupancy 
“HMO”, underspends on supplies and services has resulted in additional savings of (£92K). 

Planning Policy & Development 1,414 1,738 324 324 

Economy & Regeneration 555 555 - - 

PLACE & GROWTH TOTAL 1,969 2,293 324 324 

 
Planning Policy & Development £324k comprises £170k under recovery of planning income due 
to the volatility in the number of expected planning applications; however, there is an earmarked 
reserve to assist with managing this risk, additional £79k cost for the Executive Director post of 
Place and Growth, and £75k on Building Control due to continued reliance on agency staff caused 
by shortage of skilled personnel to fill the vacant roles. Currently under review for potential savings. 

Environmental Services 5,163 5,219 56 48 

Environmental Health & Licensing (49) (49) - - 

ENVIRONMENT TOTAL 5,114 5,170 56 48 

Environmental Services £56k made up of £147k due to increase in the price charge per tonne 
(Gate Fees) for dry goods recycling. Officers are keeping the market under close review. There has 
also been an additional income (mainly from the car parks) of (£125k) and additional staffing cost 
of £34k. 

Law & Governance 1,424 1,445 21 71 

Finance & Procurement 1,715 1,935 220 220 

Property Investment & Contract 
Management 

(3,041) (2,738) 303 303 

FINANCE & GOVERNANCE TOTAL 98 642 544 594 

 
Law and Governance £21k to allow for the additional cost further to outsourcing the Corporate 
Fraud Team to OCC. Local Land Charges £50k now reduced to £25k and reported in Customer & 
IT Services: Performance & Transformation. 
 
Finance & Procurement £220k forecast overspend arising from interim staff costs required to 
support the Council in meeting financial reporting deadlines and implementing financial 
management improvements. 
 
Property Investment Contract Management £303k mainly due to the delay in the project 
completion date of Crown House, hence the expected income from Crown House Property 
Investment Contract Management will be lower by £289k in 2018/19 and £14k NDR Budget 
realignment cost. 

Customers & IT services 2,713 2,713 - - 

Strategic Marketing & Communications 334 370 36 36 

Page 15



HR, OD & Payroll 756 786 30 30 

Performance & Transformation 387 344 (43) (68) 

CUSTOMERS & IT SERVICES TOTAL 4,190 4,213 23 (2) 

Strategic Marketing and Communications £36k overspend due to use of interim resources, 
pending opportunities for increased joint working with OCC in this area. 
 
HR, OD and Payroll £30k Additional HR related legal cost. 
 
Performance and Transformation (£43K) made up of (£68k) savings due to budget realignment 
and a £25k under recovery in Land Charges income. 

TOTAL DIRECTORATES 18,626 19,609 983 1,016 

Revenue Monitoring 
Budget 

£000 
Forecast 

£000 

Current 
Month 

Variances 
£000 

Prior Month 
Variances 

£000 

Use of Reserves 5,345 5,345 - - 

Investment Costs 2,074 2,074 - - 

Investment Interest & Income (2,937) (3,337) (400) (400) 

Pension Costs 257 240 (17) (17) 

Capital Charges (4,002) (4,002) - - 

EXECUTIVE MATTERS TOTAL 737 320 (417) (417) 

Interest on Investment (£400k) increase in interest income and reduction in interest payable for 
Treasury Management. 
Pension Costs (£17k) reduction in pension cost. 

COST OF SERVICES 19,363 19,929 566 599 

 
    

Funding 

Budget 
£000 

Forecast 
£000 

Current 
Period 

Variances 
£000 

Prior Period 
Variances 

£000 (Brackets denotes an Increase in Funding) 

Business Rates Baseline (3,673) (3,673) - - 

Revenue Support Grant (637) (637) - - 

FORMULA GRANT EQUIVALENT (4,310) (4,310) - - 

  

Transfer to Parish Councils for CTRS 349 349 - - 

New Homes Bonus (4,009) (4,009) - - 

GRANTS AWARDED TOTAL (3,660) (3,660) - - 

  

BUSINESS RATES GROWTH TOTAL (4,829) (5,629) (800) (800) 

BUSINESS RATES GROWTH (£800k) Increase is due to growth in new businesses in the 
Cherwell District and an increase in pooling income from growth in new businesses in the 
Oxfordshire Districts. 

Council Tax (6,506) (6,506) - - 

Collection Fund  (58) (58) - - 

COUNCIL TAX INCOME TOTAL (6,564) (6,564) - - 

TOTAL INCOME (19,363) (20,163) (800) (800) 

Reserve management      (170) (170) 

(Surplus)/Deficit     (404) (371) 

 

Page 16



 
 

 
 

The Council is forecasting some variance with its overall expectations. The graph above 
shows that the forecast overspends do not significantly impact upon the overall profile of 
spend for the Council.  
  

3.17 Capital Programme 

 
A summary of the capital programme forecast is set out in the table below. The 
detailed Capital programme is shown in the appendices to this report. 
 

Directorate 
Budget 

£000 
Forecast 

£000 

Re-
profiled 

into  
2019/20 

£000 

Re-
profiled 
beyond 
2019/20 

£000 

Current 
Period 

Variances 
£000 

Prior Period 
Variances 

£000 

Wellbeing 3,747 1,998 1,763 0 14 - 

Place & Growth   14,626 13,382 1,244 0 - - 

Environment 1,830 1,121 619 0 (90) (90) 

Finance & Governance 91,854 23,817 43,318 24,667 (52) (45) 

Customers & IT Services 943 943 0 0 - - 

Total 113,000 41,261 46,944 24,667 (128) (135) 

    

Budget Update:  
The Budget change from £103,500k (Reported Nov-18) to £113,000k (Reporting Dec-18), an increase of 
£9,500k funding approved for the purchase of Tramway Industrial Estate, Banbury. 

Re-Profiled into 2019/20 and Beyond 2019/20: 
 
Wellbeing £1,763k Comprises £375k budget for the Sunshine Centre project which is not expected in 2018/19, 
£14k budget to cover Biomass Heating Bicester Leisure centre which is currently under investigation to ascertain 
the validity of this work the investigation is not expected to complete in 2018/19, £80k budget to cover solar PV 
component replacement at the sports centre which is not expected in 2018/19; and £30k Spiceball Leisure centre 
bridge resurfacing works to be determined post completion of the CQ2 new bridge connection in 2018. Re-profiled 
into 2019/20. And a £65k work on the Cooper sports Facility Floodlight, will not be completed in 2018/19 due to 
access issue, hence re-profiled to 2019/20 and £265k project cost for Football Development Plan in Banbury; 
North Oxfordshire Academy Astroturf; Corporate Booking System and Woodgreen - Condition Survey Works; 
project not required for this year due to the outcome of further investigation / completion date in 2019/20, hence 
reprofiled to 2019/20. £934k Discretionary Grants Domestic Properties & Disabled Facilities Grant not required in 
2018/19 but envisaged to be utilised in 2019/20.  
  
Place & Growth £1,244k comprises of £1,160k for East West Railways where 5 years of scheduled capital 
contributions to 2019/20 have not yet been requested. Re-profiled to 2019/20; and £84k spending linked to the 

WELLBEING PLACE & GROWTH ENVIRONMENT
FINANCE &

GOVERNANCE
CUSTOMERS & IT

SERVICES

Budget 36% 10% 26% 5% 23%

Forecast 35% 11% 25% 7% 22%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

Page 17



delivery of "The Hill youth and community centre".  
 
Environment £619k made up of £200k budget for the replacement of parking equipment, Off road parking 
facilities and depot electric charging point, £50k planned changes to the "Public Conveniences", £322k deferred 
due to the useful life of some vehicles longer than estimated, £32k Work on the "Charging point for Depot electric 
vehicles & proposed Bay Marking" projects; will not be required in 2018/19, but next budget year, hence reprofiled 
to 2019/20 and £15k Work on the "Urban Centre Electricity Installations"; will not be required in 2018/19, but next 
budget year, hence re-profiled to 2019/20. 
 
Finance & Governance £67,985k comprises £674k for work on; Academy Harmonisation; Spiceball Riverbank 
Reinstatement; Banbury Health Centre - Refurbishment of Ventilation, Heating & Cooling Systems; Retained 
Land;  Thorpe Place Industrial Units; Thorpe Way Industrial Units; Thorpe Lane Depot - Tarmac / drainage; EPC 
certification & compliance works are all planned for completion in 2019/20, £42,644k work on CQ2 planned for 
next year. Re-profiled into 2019/20. And an additional cost of £24,667k work on CQ2 planned for completion 
beyond 2019/20. 

Current Period Variances:  
 
Wellbeing £14k additional spend on the "Sports Centre Modernisation Programme", this cost is currently under 
review. 
 
Environment (£90k) Budget no longer required. 
 
Finance & Governance (£52k) is made up of, (£7k) savings on completed projects, (£74k) savings for work 
completed on the Community Buildings, Bradley Arcade Roof Repairs and the Orchard Way Shopping Arcade 
Front Service, for less than the original bid value achieving the same goals and an additional £29k cost for a 
second fire exit route to the "Antelope Garage" in Banbury. 

 

 
 

Wellbeing in £000
Place & Growth in

£000
Environment in £000

Finance &
Governance in £000

Customers & IT
Services in £000

Budget 3,747 14,626 1,830 91,854 943

Forecast 1,998 13,382 1,121 23,817 943

Re-profiled into 2019/20 1,763 1,244 619 43,318 0

Re-profiled beyond 2019/20 0 0 0 24,667 0

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

90,000

100,000

'£
0

0
0

 

Page 18



 
 

 
 
Where a capital project spans more than one financial year or there are delays to the 
project, re-phasing or re-profiling of expenditure may be needed. Re-profiling and phasing 
updates to capital projects will be identified in future reports. 
 
The overall capital programme is currently expecting to spend to target. This position will 
be thoroughly reviewed by the Capital Programme Working Group. The next meeting of 
this group will undertake a line by line review of the capital programme and the output of 
this meeting will be provided in the next monitoring report.  
 
 

4.0 Conclusion and Reasons for Recommendations 
 
4.1 It is recommended that the contents of this report are noted. 
 

5.0 Consultation 
 
5.1 This report sets out performance, risk and budgetary information from the previous 
 month and as such no formal consultation on the content or recommendations is 
 required. 

 

6.0 Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 
 
6.1 The following alternative options have been identified and rejected for the reasons 

as set out below. 

Wellbeing, 3% 
Place & Growth, 13% 

Environment, 2% 

Finance & Governance, 
81% 

Customer
s & IT 

Services, 
1% 

Allocated Budget 

Wellbeing 

3% 

Affordable 
Housing 

Disabled 
Facilities 
Grants 

Cooper Sports 
Facility 

Floodlights 

Place & Growth 

13% 

Graven Hill 

East West 
Railways 

Environment 

2% 

Vehicle 
Replacement 
Programme 

Equipment 

Finance & 
Governance 

81% 

Castle Quay 

Industrial 
Units and 

compliance 

Customers & IT 
Services 

1% 

Upgrade 
Uninterrupted 
Power Supply 
Backup / Data 

Centre

Microsoft 
Licensing 

Agreement 

Page 19



 
Option 1: This report illustrates the Council’s performance against the 2018-19 
business plan. As this is a monitoring report, no further options have been 
considered. However, members may wish to request that officers provide additional 
information.  
 

7.0 Implications 
 
 Financial and Resource Implications 
 
7.1 The financial implications are detailed within section 3.15 of this report.  
 

Comments checked by:  
 
Adele Taylor, Executive Director: Finance and Governance (Interim) 
Adele.taylor@cherwellandsouthnorthants.gov.uk 
0300 003 0103 

 
Legal Implications 

 
7.2 There are no legal implications from this report. 
  

Comments checked by:  
 
Nick Graham, Monitoring Officer: Law and Governance 
Nick.Graham@cherwell-dc.gov.uk  

 
Risk management  

  
7.3 This report contains a full update with regards to the Council’s risk position at the 

end of the previous month. A risk management strategy is in place and the risk 
register has been fully reviewed.  
 
Comments checked by:  
 
Louise Tustian, Team Leader: Insight Team 
01295 221786 
Louise.tustian@cherwellandsouthnorthants.gov.uk  
 
 

8.0 Decision Information 
 
Key Decision  

 
Financial Threshold Met: No 
 
Community Impact Threshold Met: No 
 
Wards Affected 
All 
 
Links to Corporate Plan and Policy Framework 
All 

Page 20

mailto:Adele.taylor@cherwellandsouthnorthants.gov.uk
mailto:Nick.Graham@cherwell-dc.gov.uk
mailto:Louise.tustian@cherwellandsouthnorthants.gov.uk


  
Lead Councillors –  
 
Councillor Richard Mould – Lead member for Performance Management 
Councillor Tony Ilott – Lead member for Finance and Governance 
 
 

Document Information 
 

Appendix No Title 

Appendix 1 
Appendix 2 
Appendix 3 
Appendix 4 

2018/19 Business Plan  
Monthly Performance Report  
Leadership Risk Register  
Capital Programme 

Background Papers 

None 

Report Author Hedd Vaughan-Evans – Assistant Director: Performance and 
Transformation 
 

Contact 
Information 

Tel: 0300 003 0111 
hedd.vaughanEvans@cherwellandsouthnorthants.gov.uk 
 
 

 

Page 21

mailto:hedd.vaughanEvans@cherwellandsouthnorthants.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Operational Excellence 
Rigorous Financial Management 

Income optimisation 
Commercial & Procurement excellence 

Effective Governance 
Alternative Delivery Vehicles 

High  
quality Waste &  

Recycling services 

Enhance   
leisure facilities Increase 

tourism 
Provide support to 

voluntary sector 

Promote 
 inward investment 
& business growth 

Protect the 
built heritage 

Reduce our  
carbon footprint & 
protect the natural 

environment 

Prevent 
homelessness 

Deliver 
innovative & effective 

housing schemes 

Deliver welfare 
reform agenda 

Safeguard 
the vulnerable 

Mitigate 
impact of HS2 

Enhance community 
resilience as part of 
emergency planning 

Increase 
employment at 

strategic employment sites 

High quality 
street cleansing 

Provide 
 and support  

health and wellbeing 

Maintain 
district as a low 

crime area 

Public Value 
24/7 access to services 

Right  first time, every time 
Service at point of need 

Efficient & effective services 
Customer Service Excellence 

Best  Council to work for 
Sustainable relationships with key partners 

Culture of Innovation & Creativity 
Effective People service 

Employer of choice 
Enabled through digitisation 

Corporate Social responsibility 

Shared Organisational Plan 

Tackle 
environmental 

crime 

“Great places to live, 
work, visit & invest” “District of  

Opportunity 
& Growth” 

“Thriving  
Communities 
& Wellbeing” 

“Protected, Green 
& Clean” 

Joint Business Plan 2018-19 :“Two Councils, one organisation” 

“Here to Serve” 

Deliver the Local 
Plans for CDC & SNC 

Deliver the Masterplans for key economic centres: 
Bicester/Banbury/Kidlington/Brackley/Towcester/Silverstone 

Deliver 
affordable 

housing 

Appendix 1 -

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Key to symbols 

Appendix 2 – Monthly Performance Report 

December 2018 
Includes: 

Colour Symbol
Meaning for Joint 

Business Plan 
Measures

Meaning for Joint Key 
Performance 

Measures (KPIs)

Red
Significantly behind 
schedule

Worse than target by 
more than 10%.

Amber
Slightly behind 
schedule

Worse than target by 
up to 10%. 

 Green Delivering to plan /
Ahead of target

Delivering to target 
or ahead of it.

 Joint Programme Measures

 Joint Key Performance Measures (KPIs)

P
age 25



Joint Programme Measures ‐Protected, Green and Clean 
Measure Portfolio Holder Director/Lea

d Officer Last Milestone Next Milestone Status Commentary   YTD 

JBP1.1.1 Maintain High 
Quality Waste & 
Recycling Services Cllr D Bambridge 

Cllr D Pickford 

Carr, Jane 
Kane, Graeme 
Potter, Ed 

Christmas collections for 
both Councils went well 
with few problems 

Develop new plans to 
deal with improving 
recycling quality and 
volumes 

Service on track after Christmas disruption- catch up 
collections on Mondays & Saturdays went well. 

JBP1.1.2 Provide High 
Quality Street Cleansing 
Services

Cllr D Bambridge 
Cllr D Pickford

Carr, Jane 
Kane, Graeme 
Potter, Ed

Urban centres kept clean 
over the festive season, 
some catch up needed 
between Christmas and 
New Year

Developing 
Neighbourhood blitz 
programme in CDC and 
extra resources for 
both Councils allocated 
during January & 
February committed to 
verge clearances now 
the vegetation has died 
back 

Urban centres cleanliness over the Christmas period 
kept to a good standard. Some verges especially in 
rural areas looking less than satisfactory as litter is 
uncovered with the die back of vegetation

JBP1.1.3 Tackle 
Environmental Crime 

Cllr D Bambridge 
Cllr D Pickford 

Carr, Jane 
Kane, Graeme 
Potter, Ed 

Development of future 
campaigns taken place, 
almost ready to 
progress 

New campaigns being 
developed with the 
Comms team, first drafts 
ready. 

Generally on track - fly tipping slightly lower in SNC and 
slightly higher in CDC compared to the corresponding 
period last year 

JBP1.1.4 Reduce Our 
Carbon Footprint and 
Protect the Natural 
Environment

Cllr D Bambridge 
Cllr D Pickford

Carr, Jane 
Kane, Graeme 
Riley, Nicola 
Webb, Richard

CDC -  
Discussions have taken 
place with the Bicester 
Delivery 
Team regarding an 
anti-idling 
campaign at the 
London Road crossing in 
Bicester. 

CDC -  
A review 
of data collected via 
Bicester Air Quality 
Demonstration Project 
showed levels from fixed 
sensors located within the 
AQMA were in line with 
monitoring undertaken 
by Environmental 
Protection. The data 
collected from mobile 
sensors located within 
and outside a vehicle 
showed pollution levels 
inside the vehicle on 
short  urban journeys 
were twice as high, on 
hourly average, as 
outdoor pollution levels. 
Confirming that pollution 
levels are often higher 
inside a vehicle. 

SNC -  
Air quality data for the 
monitoring locations 
within the Towcester Air 
quality Management 
Area is being reviewed 
to compare the 
measured levels of 
nitrogen dioxide before 
and during the road 
closure through 
Towcester. 

SNC -  
A briefing note on air 
quality in the Towcester 
Air Quality Management 
Area will be taken to 
February Scrutiny 
Committee; a comparison 
of the 
data before and 
during the road closure 
through Towcester has 
been requested.

Air quality monitoring continued across both 
districts with the monitoring of nitrogen dioxide 
levels at 47 locations in CDC and 32 locations in 
SNC. 

Nitrogen dioxide levels are measured using diffusion 
tubes; these are small plastic tubes containing a gel 
that absorbs nitrox oxide. The tubes are changed 
monthly and returned to a laboratory for analysis. 
The monthly results are used to calculate the 
annual mean for the site. The annual mean air 
quality objective level for nitrogen dioxide against 
which the data is assessed is 40 µg/m. 

The location of the diffusion tubes is reviewed in 
December each year. At SNC there is no change. At 
CDC two diffusion tubes have been relocated; one 
in Bicester from the Causeway to the A41 Oxford 
Road at the junction with Haydock Road, and the 
second in Bloxham from the High Street to the 
A361/Barford Road junction. The tubes have been 
moved from locations where the nitrogen dioxide levels 
have been consistently low and below the objective 
level to areas of potential concern. 

P
age 26



Joint Programme Measures ‐Protected, Green and Clean 
Measure Portfolio Holder Director/Lea

d Officer Last Milestone Next Milestone Status Commentary YTD 

JBP1.1.5 Mitigate the 
Effects of HS2

Cllr C Clarke   
Cllr S Clarke

Carr, Jane 
Feehily, Paul 
Newton, Jim

Project update 
meeting on 15th 
January.

Hs2 / SNC Project 
update meeting - 15th 
January. 
Route wide Planning 
Forum 
meeting 24 January. 

Design proposals for hs2 viaduct structures at Edgcote 
and Lower Thorpe are anticipated to emerge for 
consultation in first quarter 2019

JBP1.1.6 Maintain the 
District as a Low Crime 
Area

Cllr A McHugh 
Cllr K Cooper

Carr, Jane 
Kane, Graeme 
Riley, Nicola 
Webb, Richard

Meetings held with a variety 
of partners to improve 
partnership links and focus 
on Community Safety 
Partnership priorities across 
both District areas. 

An improved tasking format 
adopted by the community 
safety team in CDC has 
gone  live, reviewed 
monthly. 
Training Audit completed by 
Service and Team providing 
an understanding of staff 
who have not completed 
relevant training. 

Section 11 safeguarding 
self-assessment completed 
for Oxfordshire. No 
requirement for 
Northamptonshire although 
annual review based on 
recommendations from 
section 11 last year 
conducted and presented 
to SNC Scrutiny. Improved 
partnership interaction 
across both District areas, 
this will enhance the work 
of the Community Safety 
Partnership and its network 
to deliver a safe and low 
crime District area. 

The Community Safety 
team in Cherwell DC has 
adopted a different tasking 
approach looking at 
enhancing the role it has in 
the community and 
responding to community 
safety issues robustly, this 
includes outcome focused 
approach and monitoring.    

Community Safety 
Partnership Action Plans 
are to be revised in Q4 
for both District areas. 

Safeguarding training 
and awareness will be 
delivered to Councillors. 

Improvement work, 
following the audit of 
training across 
Team/Service areas, will 
continue.

Community Safety: 
During this period of year Burglary increases partly 
due to the earlier dark nights. Cherwell and South 
No r t han t s  
have seen an increase in this crime in both areas at the 
end of the calendar year. We are working with partners 
including the police to explore how we can work more 
closely to address and raise awareness of this both at the 
current time and in future years. 
Both Cherwell and South Northants have seen an 
increase in general reported crime in line with the 
national trend. We will be doing some work to look at 
the reasons for this at a local level. South Northants 
remains below its average most similar group areas. 

Particular increases of note in both Council areas are 
public disorder offences, violent crime and burglary of 
residential and commercial. However, it is important to 
note that the local increases in these areas reflect 
similar national trends. 

At a local level both Community Safety Partnerships are 
reviewing their priorities and action plans to reflect 
reported crime issues and concerns.  

Safeguarding: 
SIRI (The Councils' system for recording 
safeguarding concerns) for both District areas has 
seen an increase in 2019, this is likely due to the 
awareness and training that has occurred in Q1/2 to 
staff. The Majority of these referrals are passed to 
other partners such as adult or children services for 
further assessment. 

A training session aimed at Councilors has been 
coordinated in February 2019 to provide general 
safeguarding awareness in both Cherwell and South 
Northants.

P
age 27



Joint Programme Measures ‐Protected, Green and Clean 
Measure Portfolio Holder Director/Lead 

Officer Last Milestone Next Milestone Status Commentary YTD 

JBP1.1.7 Protect the Built 
Heritage

Cllr C Clarke 
Cllr R Clarke

Carr, Jane 
Feehily, Paul 
Jolley, Robert 
Newton, Jim

SNC-                      
Committee agreed 
not to designate 
Hackleton as a 
conservation area 
in December 2018. 

CDC -   
Research and 
report on Stratton 
Audley and 
Somerton 
completed and 
passed to graphic 
design team.

SNC -  
Research on the 
suitability (or not) 
for the possible 
designation of 
Shutlanger and 
Helmdon as 
conservation areas 
is underway and is 
scheduled for 
March Committee. 

CDC -
Research to 
continue on Ardley 
and to commence 
on Duns Tew and 
Balscote. 
Arrangements to 
be made for 
Somerton and 
Stratton Audley to 
go out to 
consultation. 

SNC - 

Delivering to Plan. All conservation area appraisals well 
received by Committee. 
Other villages to be considered are: Helmdon, 
Shutlanger, Whittlebury, Syresham, Horton, and 
Wappenham  

CDC -  
Research and report on Stratton Audley and Somerton 
completed and passed to graphic design team. Ardley 
was also due to be completed but this activity has now 
moved to March hence the Amber rating.

P
age 28



Joint Programme Measures ‐ Thriving Communities & Wellbeing 
Measure Portfolio Holder Director/Lead 

Officer Last Milestone Next Milestone Status Commentary YTD 

JBP2.1.1 Provide & Support 
Health & Wellbeing

Cllr A McHugh 
Cllr C Clarke 
Cllr K Cooper 
Cllr T Ilott

Carr, Jane 
Feehily, Paul 
Riley, Nicola 
Rowe, Rosie

CDC & SNC - 
Wellbeing Activity 
Maps launched and 
promoted to 
parishes. Visual 
marketing material 
developed.

CDC & SNC - 
Wellbeing Activity 
Maps:  
consolidation and 
further 
development of 
mapped activities. 
Development of 
business continuity 
plans to ensure 
information is kept 
accurate and up to 
date. 

CDC and SNC - 
'Good Neighbour' 
scheme 
development 
agreements with 
Northants ACRE 
and Oxfordshire 
Volunteer link-up. 

Wellbeing Activity Maps 

The Activity maps are now a district wide tool to visually 
support communities within interactive maps that plot 
activities / groups and opportunities to improve health and 
wellbeing and will support the aim of tackling social isolation 
across both districts. 

CDC and SNC Good Neighbour Schemes 
Meeting with both partners in CDC & SNC to agree 
service level agreements and the structure of the 
schemes offer in February.

JBP2.1.2 Provide enhanced 
leisure facilities

Cllr G Reynolds 
Cllr K Cooper

Carr, Jane 
Didcock, Liam 
Kane, Graeme 
Riley, Nicola

Completion of 
Brackley Swimming 
Pool redevelopment

Works to 
commence on the 
replacement of the 
Metal Halide 
Floodlights at Cooper 
Sports Facility with 
more efficient LED 
lights. This will also 
increase the current 
lighting levels 
improving facilities 
for users. Planned 
for March/April 
2019 

The works relating to the re-development of the gyms 
within Cherwell have now been completed. 

All 3 Gyms re-opened at the end of December 2018 in 
preparation for business in the New Year.

P
age 29



Joint Programme Measures ‐ Thriving Communities & Wellbeing 
Measure Portfolio Holder Director/Lead 

Officer Status YTD 

JBP2.1.3 Provide 
support to the 
voluntary sector 

Cllr A McHugh 
Cllr K Cooper 

Carr, Jane 
Kane, Graeme 
Riley, Nicola 

Last Milestone 

Winter Wishes - Brighter 
Futures consultation 
event delivered on 20 
December Play:Full - 
Holiday Hunger initiative 
delivered over the 
Christmas school holiday 
period Support to the 
Banbury Community 
Church, developing a 
business plan for the 
new Hill centre and 
funding applications to 
deliver services once 
built. 

Consultation for M40 
Public Art installation - 
CDC Officer support to 
Grimsbury Youth club 
to relaunch the open 
access youth evening 
and prevent its closure 

The first SNC Older 
Peoples stakeholders 
meeting held in 
December. 

Next Milestone 

Development of the Hill 
Implementation group 
Preparation for Age 
Friendly Pop up 
consultation event in 
Castle Quay in Jan. 

Preparation of New 
Year Wishes Brighter 
Futures consultation 
event for Grimsbury in 
Feb. To follow a similar 
format to winter wishes 
and produce a multi- 
agency action plan for 
the community to work 
towards in 2019. 

Jan Community Link 
publication to be 
completed and 
distributed to voluntary 
sector partners. 

Developing a community 
development plan for 
Graven Hill Bicester 
Cherwell Young People, 
Play & Wellbeing 
partnership meeting 17 
Jan Preparation / 
planning for Bicester 
Volunteer fair for schools 
- 8 Feb

SNC-  
Seniors stakeholders group 
- 26 Feb
Proposals in preparation for 
SNC cabinet to broaden 
availability of New Homes 
bonus grant funding from 
April 2019.

CDC - 
Community 
Lottery - Develop 
rollout plan for lead 
up to July Launch, 
and recruitment of 
3rd sector 'Good 
Cause' partners. 

Commentary 

The Winter Wishes consultation event saw CDC, The 
Sunshine Centre, The Hill & St Pauls Church work in 
partnership to deliver a fun event and activities to 
engage the local community and find out what their 
aspirations are for 2019. The consultation results will 
form an action plan for the community to work together 
in the New Year. The event had 130 people attend. 

SNC Older Peoples Stake Holder Group – Following the 
successful SNC Seniors forum in October a stake 
holder group has been formed to work together on 
joint initiatives under the theme of services for the 
elderly and share good practice with partners across 
the district. Stake holders include AgeUK Northants, 
South Northants Volunteer Bureau, Police, Grand 
Union and A  C  R E . 

The Hill Implementation group will be formed to help 
develop the programme and service that will be   
delivered in the new Hill centre in autumn 2019. This 
group will also advise on internal interiors of the new 
centre and any technical changes made by the 
contractor during the build. 

CDC: Community Lottery - Remote Operator licence 
issued by Gambling Commission on 12/12/18. Good 
cause' partners will be the main beneficiaries of the 
CDC lottery, taking a share of the ticket revenue 
generated by their supporters. 

SNC: 35 community grant applications assessed, and 
recommendations prepared for 07/01/19 Community 
Funding Panel. 

Results of the SNC Parish New Homes Bonus (NHB) 
consultation showed strong majority in favour of ending 
the parish-based ring fencing of NHB funding. 

P
age 30



Joint Programme Measures ‐ Thriving Communities & Wellbeing 
Measure Portfolio Holder Director/Lead 

Officer Status Commentary YTD 

JBP2.1.4 Enhance 
community resilience 
as part of emergency 
planning

Cllr A McHugh             
Cllr D Bambridge

Carr, Jane 
Kane, Graeme 
Riley, Nicola 
Webb, Richard

Last Milestone 

The Thames Valley Local 
Resilience Forum annual 
conference was attended 
by a several senior 
managers from the 
councils. Learning from 
major recent incidents, 
including the chemical 
contamination in 
Salisbury, was shared at 
this event which will help 
our local preparations 
and planning. 

The Senior Management 
Team received a report 
on the status of our 
business continuity 
arrangements in 
December. This report 
identified that service 
level business continuity 
plans have been updated 
to reflect current council 
arrangements. A draft 
business continuity 
strategy and updated 
policy were also 
considered and both these 
documents should 
be finalized early in 
2019. 

Next Milestone 

Officers will be working with 
partners through the local 
resilience forums to prepare 
for any disruption which 
could arise through the 
different Brexit scenarios. 

Senior managers 
will be attending 
emergency planning 
training facilitated by 
Oxfordshire County 
Council in December and 
February to support our 
senior manager duty rota. 

An audit of progress on 
improving our business 
continuity arrangements 
following a 2017 review will 
report in January. 

In order to ensure we have robust emergency plans and 
relationships with key partners, we have a number of 
arrangements in place, including- 

Facilitating the Inter Agency Group which plans 
for events at Silverstone in 2019; 
Engaging with Parish Councils on their local 
emergency plans together with Oxfordshire County 
Council; 
Attending and supporting regional and national 
exercises, conferences and training with key partners. 
This has included learning from those agencies 
involved in major terrorist and weather-related 
incidents in recent years including Manchester, 
Salisbury, Lancaster and London. 
Working with the local resilience forums to assess 
risks and plan for foreseeable events and 
circumstances which could adversely impact on 
our communities. 

The revised business continuity strategy was due for 
approval by CEDR in December 2018, however this is 
likely to be finalised during Quarter 4 and as such the 
RAG is Amber. 

JBP2.1.5 Prevent 
homelessness

Cllr J Donaldson            
Cllr K Cooper

Carr, Jane
Douglas, Gillian
Kane, Graeme

 

CDC - A Triage 
Officer has been 
appointed to help the 
team deal with people 
approaching the service 
for assistance as 
they are homeless
or threatened with 
homelessness. 

Mystery shopping work 
to help us improve the 
access to and quality of 
homelessness services 
has been commissioned 
and will happen within 
the next 6 months. 

CDC-A Homelessness
Prevention Fund will be
established by the end of
January and a report on the
Council's review of single
homelessness will be
completed. We have been
successful in attracting
Government funding to provide 
5 additional winter beds for
rough sleepers January-March
2019.  The provision is in
Oxford and will provide high
level support to help people
recover and access
accommodation in Cherwell.
SNC - the team will
complete a review of the
customer journey for people
approaching the council
seeking housing advice and
help regarding homelessness
to ensure the process is
efficient and effective.

Both councils will host meetings with key partners 
regarding homelessness work (Homelessness 
Prevention Network meetings) in January. Also a 
review of the impact of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act will be completed at both councils by 
the end of J  a n u a r y  .

The number of households who are receiving advice 
and assistance from housing options staff to 
prevent or relieve homelessness has increased. 

Also, the SNC team are meeting with colleagues in the 
health sector to establish the potential for an outreach 
housing options service within local acute and 
community hospitals. 

P
age 31



Joint Programme Measures ‐ Thriving Communities & Wellbeing 
Measure Portfolio Holder Director/Lead 

Officer Last Milestone Next Milestone Status Commentary YTD 

JBP2.1.6 Safeguard the 
vulnerable

Cllr A McHugh 
Cllr K Cooper

Carr, Jane 
Kane, Graeme 
Riley, Nicola

Universal Credit full 
service has become 
live in the SNC 
area. The benefits 
team continue to 
work closely with 
external partners 
such as DWP and 
Credit Union to 
support residents 
through this 
change.

A new workplan will 
be implemented in 
January 19 to 
support 
improvements to 
the average time 
taken to assess 
new claims for 
Housing Benefit 
and Council Tax 
reduction.

Support for the most vulnerable residents continues to 
be offered particularly with the introduction of Universal 
Credit. The Benefits team are also monitoring the time 
taken to assess new claims and will be introducing a new 
work plan to seek improvements. 

We continue to monitor the performance on the time taken to 
assess new claims for Housing Benefit and Council Tax 
Reduction. Discretionary Housing Payments are available to 
those who have a short fall in their rent and each case is 
considered on its own merits. 

The Debt and Money advice team continue to support some of 
the most vulnerable residents with financial 
gains totaling over £21,000 in December 18 and cumulative 
gains of over £3m since the service started. 

JBP2.1.7 Deliver affordable 
housing and work with private 
sector landlords

Cllr C Clarke  
Cllr J Donaldson 
Cllr K Cooper 
Cllr R Clarke

Carr, Jane 
Douglas, Gillian 
Kane, Graeme

SNC - 
Although a small 
number of new 
affordable homes 
were expected to 
be completed in 
December, the 
homes have not 
been completed 
and handed over. 
This is not unusual 
as developers tend 
prioritise open 
market sale homes 
to get buyers 
moved in before 
Christmas. 

CDC -
In 
December 57 new 
affordable homes 
were completed 
comprising 38 
affordable rent and 19 
shared ownership 
homes. 

SNC - 
Despite the 
completion of 
some new 
affordable homes 
being delayed this 
month, we are still 
on track to meet the 
target of delivering 
173 new affordable 
homes in 2018/19. 

CDC -  
The total of new 
affordable homes 
completed so far in 
2018/19 is 
359, so we are on 
track to exceed the 
target of delivering 
400 new affordable 
homes in 2018/19.

Private Sector Housing work at CDC: 
No further Landlords Home Improvement Grants were 
completed in December, so the total remains at 6 so far this 
year. However, a further 3 grants have been approved, with 
another being worked up and discussion underway in relation 
to 5 further premises. 

CHEEP: The total for completed grants remains at 8 for the 
year so far but a further 3 have been   approved. 
Uptake remains surprisingly modest given the further 
restrictions on letting rented property with low energy- 
efficiency that will apply from April 2019.

P
age 32



Joint Programme Measures ‐ Thriving Communities & Wellbeing 
Measure Portfolio Holder Director/Lead 

Officer Last Milestone Next Milestone Status Commentary YTD 

The Benefits team 
will continue to 
monitor the impact 
of Universal credit 
on residents, 
landlords and the 
Councils. The 
project team made 
up of colleagues 
from benefits, 
housing and 
customer services 
will remain in place 
and we will continue 
to work with 
external partners 
such as DWP. 

JBP2.1.8 Deliver the welfare 
reform agenda 

Cllr J Donaldson 
Cllr K Cooper 
Cllr P Rawlinson 
Cllr T Ilott 

Douglas, Gillian 
Green, Belinda 
Hunkin, Andrew 
Taylor, Adele 

Housing Options is working with Citizens Advice North 
Oxfordshire and South Northamptonshire to fast track 
homelessness clients with debt and money advice issues 
including those affected by welfare reform (e.g. the Benefit 
Cap or delays in Universal Credit). 
Welfare Reform agenda is delivering as planned. 

Universal Credit 
full service became 
live in the South 
Northants area in 
November 18. A 
member briefing 
was held at South 
Northants in 
December 18. 

P
age 33



Joint Programme Measures ‐ District of Opportunity & Growth 
Portfolio Holder Director/Lead 

Officer Last Milestone Next Milestone Status Commentary YTD 

JBP3.1.1 Deliver innovative 
and effective housing schemes 

Cllr J Donaldson 
Cllr K Cooper 

Carr, Jane 
Douglas, Gillian 
Kane, Graeme 

We are still 
negotiating with 
landlords to secure 2 
private rented 
properties for the 
next wave of Syrian 
refugee families 
arriving. 

Complete work to 
quantify the social 
value of the 
proposed 
community led 
development and 
complete 
development 
appraisal work to 
inform the valuation 
of the council owned 
land in Hook Norton. 

Work is ongoing with Hook Norton Low Carbon (HNLC) to 
develop proposals for a community led housing development 
in Hook Norton village. 

HNLC submitted a report to the OxFutures Board regarding 
progress to date on the proposals for a community led 
housing development in Hook Norton. The work to date and 
progress report were endorsed by the OxFutures Board and 
HNLC have been given additional financial support which will 
help continue to progress the project. 

Carr, Jane 
Feehily, Paul 
Jolley, Robert 
Newton, Jim

CDC –  
Prepared new Service 
Level Agreements 
with Tourist 
Information Centres.  
Prepared 
promotions for 
Monte Carlo Rally 
coming to Banbury 
in Jan 2019. 

SNC-                 
Country pursuits 
guide update 
meeting held.

CDC -
Finalise new Service 
Level Agreements 
with Visitor 
Information Centres 
an Experience 
Oxfordshire. 
Promote Monte Carlo 
Rally coming to 
Banbury 31 Jan 2019. 

SNC-                          
Completion of the 
Rural Development 
Programme for 
England funding 
bid for the 
Watermeadows 
Project. 

 

CDC-                                                                   
Membership and day-to-day liaison with Experience 
Oxfordshire to promote Cherwell as a visitor destination. 
Contract management of Banbury and Bicester Visitor 
Information Centres. 

SNC: 
Rural Development Programme for England 
- Watermeadows bid is progressing to full application.
Distribution of tourism guides to local sites continues. 
Work is progressing in the preparation of the new 
SNC Country Pursuits Guide. Working with Stoke Bruerne 
Canal Partnership to support the preparation of a Business 
Plan.

JBP3.1.2 Increase Tourism Cllr L Pratt 
Cllr S Clarke 

  CDC-
Young Enterprise 
Trade Fair; Banbury 
Market Place 
December 8. 11 
teams, representing 
9 schools held a 
market stall. Job 
Fairs; 2019 dates 
published, to cover 
Banbury, Bicester 
and Kidlington. 

SNC-                     
Business Support 
given to 3 Business 
Start Ups and 10 
contacts 
made/follow ups 
with established 
businesses. 

CDC -
Job Fairs; promote 
dates to employers 
and residents. 

SNC- 
Provide support 
and facilitate the 
delivery of discrete 
projects that come 
from the 
Masterplans, to 
ensure they are 
delivered on time 
and to maximise the 
economic benefit to 
the Districts. 

CDC-                                                                                                  
Banbury Business Improvement District (BID); continued 
support to the manager and Board. 
Dates and venues confirmed for 2019 Job Fair 
programme; Banbury – Friday 1st March 2019, Banbury 
Town Hall, Bicester – Friday 26th April 2019, John-Paul II 
Centre, Bicester, Kidlington – Friday 7th June 2019, 
Exeter Hall, Kidlington. 

SNC-                                                                        
Continued support to pre-start and existing business with 
a variety services and visits/meetings.

 

 JBP3.1.3 Deliver the 
masterplans for the key 
economic centres 

Cllr C Clarke 
Cllr R Clarke 

Carr, Jane 
Feehily, Paul 
Jolley, Robert 
Newton, Jim 

P
age 34



Joint Programme Measures ‐ District of Opportunity & Growth 
Portfolio Holder Director/Lead 

Officer Status Commentary YTD 

JBP3.1.4 Increase employment 
at strategic employment sites, 
promote investments & 
business growth 

Cllr L Pratt 
Cllr S Clarke 

Carr, Jane 
Feehily, Paul 
Jolley, Robert 
Newton, Jim 

Last Milestone 

CDC-
Cherwell Business 
Awards; encouraged 
nominations. 
Applications close 
31 January 2019. 
Cherwell Industrial 
Strategy; preparing 
consultation 
workshops for 
2019. Responded 
promptly to all 
Business Enquiries. 

SNC-
4 SNC Job 
Club members 
supported back into 
work. Local 
businesses continue 
to use the job as a 
way of promoting 
their vacancies. 

Next Milestone 

Engage consultees 
from business and 
other organisations. 
Cherwell Business 
Awards; Encourage 
final nominations (by 
6 January) and 
applications (by 31 
January). Business 
Enquiries; respond 
promptly to all. 

SNC-                     
Attending an 
Employing 
Apprentices 
workshop being 
held at Silverstone 
Innovation Centre, 
offering the 
opportunity to learn 
about employing 
apprentices and 
some of the issues 
that employers 
face in employing 
apprentices. 

CDC-                                                                        
Websites; updating to assist investors. Growth Deal; 
engaging with County partners to draw benefits for 
Cherwell through the Local Industrial Strategy, Spatial 
Plan, Infrastructure and Housing. Property exhibition 
(MIPIM UK) ;follow up enquiries from 27 b u s i n e s s e s . 

SNC-
4 SNC Job Club members supported back into work. 
Working with Job Club Partner to promote "Learn My 
Way" workshop to support Job Club Members on 
Universal Credit and using the internet. 
Preparation of the annual Job Club Partners Review 
meeting. 

JBP3.1.5 Delivery against Local 
Plans for CDC & SNC

Cllr C Clarke 
Cllr R Clarke

Bowe, Andrew 
Carr, Jane 
Darcy, Andy 
Feehily, Paul 
Newton, Jim 
Peckford, David

CDC -           
The dates and 
matters for the 
main hearings for 
the examination of 
the Partial Review 
of the Local Plan 
have now been 
released by the 
Planning Inspector. 

SNC-
Consultation on the 
Regulation 19 Plan 
ended in November 
2018.

CDC-
Public Hearings for 
the Partial Review of 
the Local Plan will 
take place in February 
2019. 

SNC -
The Plan is to be 
considered by Full 
Council on January 
14th, 2019 with a 
recommendation to 
submit to the 
Planning Inspectorate 
for examination. 

CDC-                                                                                        
The dates and matters for the public hearings for the 
examination of the Partial Review of the Local Plan 
were released by the Planning Inspector on 18 
December and have been made publicly available. 
Preparation for the hearings is on-going. 

SNC -                                                                                       
It is intended to submit the Plan for examination before 
January 24th, 2019. The Council will then work with the 
Planning Inspectorate to secure a timely examination of the 
Plan

P
age 35



1 

CDC KPIs ‐ Clean, Green and Safe 

Measure Council Portfolio Holder Director/Lead 
Officer Result Target Status Commentary YTD 

Result 
YTD 
Target YTD 

JBP1.2.1C % Waste Recycled & 
Composted CDC Cllr D Pickford 

Kane, Graeme 
Potter, Ed 48.12% 47.92% 

Due to the mild weather in December 18 there 
has been more garden waste collected than 
December 17, this has helped with the recycling 
rate for December. 
But the current recycling rate for the first 9 
months of 2018/19 is down 1.8% on the 
previous year due to the hot summer and the 
reduced amount of garden waste collected. 

55.98% 57.06% 

P
age 36



2 

CDC KPIs ‐ Thriving Communities & Wellbeing 

Measure Council Portfolio Holder Director/Lead 
Officer Result Target Status Commentary YTD 

Result 
YTD 
Target YTD 

JBP2.2.1C Number of households 
living in Temporary 
Accommodation (TA) 

CDC Cllr J Donaldson Douglas, Gillian 
Kane, Graeme 28.00 43.00 

Numbers in temporary accommodation are 
remaining low at the end of this month and 
through the quarter. The continued focus on 
preventing housing issues becoming a crisis has 
continued to show positive results. We are 
working to ensure that our Allocations Scheme is 
used to rehouse homeless households before 
they become roofless but also to balance this 
with helping other households who have 
significant housing needs. 

28.00 43.00 

JBP2.2.2C Average time taken to 
process Housing Benefit new 
claims 

CDC Cllr T Ilott Green, Belinda 
Taylor, Adele 18.45 15.00 

The average time taken to process New Claims 
for the month of December 2018 is 
18.45 days. Our target for processing New 
Claims is 15 days against a national average 
of 22 days. Plans are being put into place for a 
new way of working from 21 January 2019 
where a team will be dedicated to dealing with 
New Claims with a daily monitoring of the work 
to ensure New Claims are being dealt with as 
proactively as possible. We are reliant upon 
the claimants to provide evidence to support 
their claim on occasions where we are unable 
to obtain information from other sources 
which can cause unavoidable delays in making 
a decision on a new claim.   However, with the 
close daily monitoring all options available to 
obtain evidence to speed up the processing 
times of New Claims will be monitored. Our 
year to date average time to process new 
claims remains within our target of 15 days. 

14.83 15.00 

JBP2.2.3C Average time taken to 
process Housing Benefit change 
events 

CDC Cllr T Ilott Green, Belinda 
Taylor, Adele 11.94 8.00 

The average time taken to process change in 
details for the month of December 2018 is 
11.94 days. Our target for processing change 
in details is 8 days. It is proving difficult to 
remain within target for processing changes 
with the increasing change in details received 
on a daily basis from Department for Work 
and Pensions regarding changes to Universal 
Credit awards. We continue to look into our 
working practices to help us manage with the 
increased work with the resources available. A 
plan is being put in place on 21 January    
2019 where we will have a dedicated team to 
deal with change in details. The work will be 
monitored on a daily basis to ensure the   
work is being dealt with as proactively as 
possible. We are also continuing with the 
Automation project to help us manage the 
work. 

8.16 8.00 

P
age 37



3 

CDC KPIs ‐ Thriving Communities & Wellbeing 

Measure Council Portfolio Holder Director/Lead 
Officer Result Target Status Commentary YTD 

Result 
YTD 
Target YTD 

JBP2.2.5C Number of visits/usage 
of District Leisure Centres CDC Cllr G Reynolds Didcock, Liam 

Kane, Graeme 113,541 88,156 

The throughputs at the Cherwell Leisure 
Facilities are showing an improved performance 
YTD. As a total throughput across the Leisure 
Centres, Joint Use Sites and Pavilions there has 
been an increase of more than 18,000 against 
December last year. In a more detailed view 
Spiceball Leisure Centre had increased by circa 
3,000 users, Bicester Leisure Centre by 2,500 
and Kidlington Leisure Centre by 1,800 users. 
Woodgreen Leisure Centre usage had increased 
by 800 users and the Joint Use at NOA and 
Cooper showing an increase of 2,300 users and 
a decrease of 400 users respectively. Both 
Pavilions and Sports Grounds at Whiteland's and 
Stratfield Brake performed well with increases 
7,500 and 1,500 respectively. Whilst this is a 
positive position across nearly all Centres it is 
noted that for the same period last year we did 
sustain a prolonged period of inclement weather 
meaning usage figures would have been 
adversely affected 

1,251,756 1,132,972 

JBP2.2.6C % of Council Tax 
collected, increasing Council Tax 
base 

CDC Cllr T Ilott Green, Belinda 
Taylor, Adele 9.02% 9.50% 

The amount of Council Tax that Cherwell is due 
to collect has increased by just over £75k 
during December. We are continuing to issue 
recovery and the team are concentrating on 
tasks which will aid collection rates. 

83.81% 86.50% 

JBP2.2.7C % of Business Rates 
collected, increasing NNDR base CDC Cllr T Ilott Green, Belinda 

Taylor, Adele 9.85% 9.00% 

The amount we have collected within the 
month is nearly £260k more in December 
than in November.  We have also continued 
to improve our work position and are working 
on correspondence dated within just less than 
2 weeks. 

84.92% 86.00% 

P
age 38



4 

CDC KPIs ‐ District of Opportunity & Growth 

Measure Council Portfolio Holder Director/Lead 
Officer Result Target Status Commentary YTD 

Result 
YTD 
Target YTD 

JBP3.2.1C % Major planning 
applications processed within 13 
weeks 

CDC Cllr C Clarke Feehily, Paul 
Seckington, Paul 86% 60% 

7 Major Planning Applications were 
determined during December. 6 were 
determined within the target period or 
agreed time frame. As such, our target of 
determining more than 60% of Major 
Applications within time has been met. 

87% 60% 

JBP3.2.2C % Non-Major planning 
appeal decisions allowed CDC Cllr C Clarke Feehily, Paul 

Seckington, Paul 0% 10% No Non-Major Planning Appeals were 
determined during December. 

1% 10% 

JBP3.2.3C % Planning 
enforcement appeal decisions 
allowed 

CDC Cllr C Clarke Feehily, Paul 
Seckington, Paul 0% 10% No Planning Enforcement Appeals were 

determined during December. 
0% 10% 

JBP3.2.4C % of nonmajor 
applications processed within 8 
weeks 

CDC Cllr C Clarke Feehily, Paul 
Seckington, Paul 90% 70% 

81 Non-Major planning applications were 
determined during December 73 were 
determined within the target period or agreed 
timeframe. Therefore, the target of determining 
more than 70% of Non-Major Applications within 
the period has been met. 

90% 70% 

JBP3.2.5C Maintaining 5-year 
land supply CDC Cllr C Clarke Feehily, Paul 

Peckford, David 5 5 

Q3 Provisional housing completions recorded as 
387 reflecting that house building is on- going on 
a large number of sites across the district. 

The 2018 Annual Monitoring Report was 
endorsed by the Executive on 3 Dec. It 
demonstrates that the district has a 5.0 land 
supply for 2018-2023 and 5.2 for the period 
2019-2024.  The housing projections 
include an estimated total of 1238 new homes 
(net) for 2018/19. The total at the end of Q3 is 
975. 

5 5 

JBP3.2.6C Major planning appeal 
decisions allowed 

CDC Cllr C Clarke 
Feehily, Paul 
Seckington, Paul 0.00 10.00 No Major Planning Appeals were determined 

during December. 
2.78 10.00 

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Strategic risks that are significant in size and duration, and will impact on the reputation and performance of the Council as a whole, 

and in particular, on its ability to deliver on its corporate priorities

Risks to systems or processes that underpin the organisation’s governance, operation and ability to deliver services

Risk Definition

Leadership

Operational

Im
p

a
ct

5 - Catastrophic

3 - Moderate L01,  L02, LO5, L14 LO3, L06, LO7, L08, L11 L09, L13

Appendix 3 –  Cherwell District Council – Latest Leadership Risk Register as at 23/01/2019

Risk Scorecard – Residual Risks
Probability

1 - Remote 2 - Unlikely 3 - Possible 4 - Probable 5 - Highly Probable

4 - Major L04, L10, L12

1 - Insignificant

2 - Minor

P
age 41



Ref
Name and Description of 

risk

Potential impact Controls

Control assessment Lead Member Risk owner Risk manager
Direct’n of 

travel

Mitigating actions 

(to address control issues) Comments Last updated

P
ro

b
a

b
il

it
y

Im
p

a
ct

R
a

ti
n

g Fully effective

Partially effective

Not effective

P
ro

b
a

b
il

it
y

Im
p

a
ct

R
a

ti
n

g

Reduced medium and long term financial viability Medium Term Revenue Plan reported regularly to members.

Fully

Key staff recruited to and review of workload and capacity 

across the team. Additional resilience and resource for financial 

accounting and reporting engaged through external partners 

and agencies.

Maintaining focus in this area with ongoing 

review, staff and member training and 

awareness raising.

Reduction in services to customers Efficiency plan in place and balanced medium term

Fully 

Investment strategy approach agreed for 18/19 and all 

potential investments now  taken through the working groups 

prior to formal sign off.  Robust review and challenge of our 

investment options to be regularly undertaken through our 

usual monitoring processes.

Ensuring support is utilised from and provided 

by external partners and stakeholders. 

Continued reliance on central govt (RSG) and therefore reduced 

opportunity for independent decision making

Highly professional, competent, qualified  staff

Partially 

Timeliness and quality of budget monitoring particularly 

property income and capital to be improved. Project with 

Civica is ongoing. 

Financial Systems project reviewed to meet business needs. 

Financial System Solution Project started to 

ensure future finance provision is fit for 

future. 

Reduced financial returns (or losses) on investments/assets Good networks established locally, regionally and nationally
Fully

 Asset Management Strategy to be reviewed and refreshed in 

the new year.

Inability to deliver financial efficiencies National guidance interpreting legislation available and used regularly
Partially 

Inability to deliver commercial objectives (increased income) Members aware and are briefed regularly
Partially 

Poor customer service and satisfaction Participate in Oxfordshire Treasurers' Association's work streams

Fully

Finance support and engagement with programme 

management processes being implemented.

Increased complexity in governance arrangements  Integration and development of Performance, Finance and Risk 

reporting during 18/19.

Integrated reporting being embedded and 

working well. 

Lack of officer capacity to meet service demand Treasury management policies in place

Fully

Regular involvement and engagement with senior management 

across Counties as well as involvement in Regional and National 

finance forums.

 This has bee  Investment strategies in place

Partially 

Regular member meetings, training and support in place and 

regularly reviewed. Briefings provided on key topics to 

members with particular focus on key skills for specific 

committees such as audit committee. 

Regular financial and performance monitoring in place
Partially

Financial support and capacity developed during 18/19 through 

development programme.

Independent third party advisers in place
Fully 

Regular utilisation of advisors.

Regular bulletins and advice received from advisers

Fully 

Internal Audits being undertaken for core financial activity and 

capital. 

Regular reporting of progress on internal 

audits considered by the committee

Property portfolio income monitored through financial management arrangements 

on a regular basis Partially

Asset Management Strategy in place and embedded.
Partially 

 Transformation Programme in place to deliver efficiencies and increased income in 

the future Partially

Legal challenge Embedded system of legislation and policy tracking In place, with clear 

accountabilities, reviewed regularly by Directors Partially
Establish corporate repository and accountability for 

policy/legislative changes

Loss of opportunity to influence national policy / legislation Clear accountability for responding to consultations with defined process to ensure 

Member engagement

Fully

Review Directorate/Service risk registers

Financial penalties National guidance interpreting legislation available and used regularly
Fully

Reduced service to customers Risks and issues associated with Statutory functions incorporated into Directorate 

Risk Registers and regularly reviewed Partially

Clear accountability for horizon scanning, risk identification / categorisation / 

escalation and policy interpretation in place Partially
Ensure Internal Audit plan focusses on key leadership risks

Robust Committee forward plans to allow member oversight of policy issues and 

risk management, including Scrutiny and Audit Partially

Develop stakeholder map, with Director responsibility allocated 

for managing key relationships

 Internal Audit Plan risk based to provide necessary assurances
Partially

Standardise agendas for Director / PFH 1:1s

Strong networks established locally, regionally and nationally to ensure influence on 

policy issues
Fully

New NPPF published 05/03/18 will guide revised approach to 

planning policy and development management.

Senior Members aware and briefed regularly in 1:1s by Directors

Partially

Allocate specific resource to support new projects/policies or 

statutory requirements e.g. GDPR

Financial impact due to use of agency staff, possible impact on 

customers and frontline service delivery if capacity risks are not 

managed. 

Use of interims / fixed term and project roles to support senior capacity as required. 

Fully

Separate CDC and SNC Senior Leadership teams to work closely 

together during separation to mitigate the impact of any 

capacity issues resulting from separation.

Separate CDC and SNC Senior Leadership 

Teams now live with Executive support 

arrangements in place. Risk to be kept under 

review as management team transition to new 

working arrangements.

Inability to deliver council’s plans Arrangements in place to source appropriate interim resource if needed

Fully

AD HR / OD briefed and leading the process

Joint CEDR meetings to take place fortnightly.

Inability to realise commercial opportunities or efficiencies Delegations to Chief Exec agreed to ensure timely decisions

Fully

Communications to be delivered by CEO
Regular comms being provided by the Chief 

Executives

Reduced resilience and business continuity HR / Specialist resource in place to support recruitment process and manage 

implications Fully

External support provided. 

Reduced staff morale and uncertainty may lead to loss of good people Ongoing programme of internal communication

Fully

Resilience training programme for Assistant Directors in place.

Separate CDC and SNC Senior Leadership Teams in place to provide capacity 

required at each site. Partially

↔
Councillor Barry 

Wood
Yvonne Rees Claire Taylor 4 3

Risk reviewed 

09/01/18 - 

Commentary 

Updated.

Inherent (gross) 

risk level 

(no Controls)

Residual risk level (after 

existing controls)

9334

Risk reviewed 

09/01/18 - 

Commentary 

Updated.

Councillor Barry 

Wood
Yvonne Rees Claire Taylor 3 33 4 12

Risk reviewed - 

08/01/19- 

updated a 

number of 

mitigating 

actions to 

reflect current 

position

9 ↔

Review of BUILD! to ensure procurement and capital 

monitoring arrangements are in place and development of 

forward programme. 

Service planning process for 2019-20 to 

started. Separate service plans for Cherwell.

Separate leadership risk registers to be put in 

place for Cherwell.

L01 Financial resilience – 

Failure to react to 

external financial shocks, 

new policy and increased 

service demand. Poor 

investment and asset 

management decisions.

Councillor Tony 

Illot
Adele Taylor Adele Taylor164

Ensure Committee forward plans are reviewed regularly by 

senior officers

L02 Statutory functions – 

Failure to meet statutory 

obligations and policy 

and legislative changes 

are not anticipated or 

planned for.

↔

L03 Lack of Management 

Capacity - Increased 

workload relating to local 

government 

reorganisation and 

changes to joint working 

between SNC and CDC 

impact on the capacity of 

management. 

4 4 16 12

P
age 42



Ref
Name and Description of 

risk

Potential impact Controls

Control assessment Lead Member Risk owner Risk manager
Direct’n of 

travel

Mitigating actions 

(to address control issues) Comments Last updated

P
ro

b
a

b
il

it
y

Im
p

a
ct

R
a

ti
n

g Fully effective

Partially effective

Not effective

P
ro

b
a

b
il

it
y

Im
p

a
ct

R
a

ti
n

g

Inherent (gross) 

risk level 

(no Controls)

Residual risk level (after 

existing controls)

Risk reviewed - L01 Financial resilience – Inappropriate development in inappropriate places The Council's Local Development Scheme (LDS) provides a programme for the 

preparation and submission of Local Plans.  The LDS is periodically reviewed and 

presented to the Executive for consideration.  The effectiveness of adopted Local 

Plan policies is reviewed through an Annual Monitoring Report which is also 

presented to the Executive.  Local Plans and accompanying guidance are prepared 

in accordance with the LDS. 

Fully

Regular review meetings on progress and critical path review. A district wide Local Plan was completed and 

adopted in 2015.  A Partial Review of the Local 

Plan, to assist Oxford with its unmet housing 

need, was submitted to Government for 

Examination on 5 March 2018.  A preliminary 

public hearing was held on 28 September 

2018.  On 29 October, the Inspector advised 

that the Council could proceed to main 

hearings.  Main hearings are to be held during 

the weeks commencing 4 and 11 February 

2019.

Work continues on a Supplementary Planning 

Document for Banbury Canalside.  There is a 

need to achieve a deliverable, masterplan 

framework for the site which would  meet 

Local Plan requirements, expected design 

standards and which satisfactorily responds to 

stakeholder issues. An Annual Monitoring 

Report and updated Local Development 

Scheme were presented to the Executive in 

Dec 2018.  The LDS incorporates the timetable 

for the new countywide Joint Statutory Spatial 

Plan - the Oxfordshire Plan 2050. It also 

provides for a district wide Local Plan review.

The Oxfordshire authorities have collectively 

commenced work on the Oxfordshire Plan 

2050. 

Negative (or failure to optimise) economic, social, community and 

environmental gain

Resources are in place to support delivery including Barrister support when 

required for Local Plans.
Partially

Regular Lead Member briefings and political review

Negative impact on each council’s ability to deliver its strategic 

objectives

For issues which are solely within the control of CDC policies, plans and resources 

are in place Partially
Local Development Scheme updated as required

Without a local plan, a lack of community engagement on development 

locations

Local Development Scheme provides Executive oversight of plan-making 

programme to ensure local plans are made

Fully

Regular Lead Member briefings and political review

Without a local plan, negative impact in terms of ensuring coordination 

on cross boundary strategic issues

Maintenance of an up to date Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) to 

support policy making. Fully
SCI updated as required (last updated 2016)

The Local Development Scheme provides for Executive oversight of plan-making 

programme to ensure local plans are made in good time.  The Oxfordshire councils 

have agreed to produce a Joint Statutory Spatial Plan (JSSP) - the Oxfordshire Plan 

2015 Fully

Local Development Scheme updated as required.  Regular 

review meetings on progress and critical path review to ensure 

timely CDC contributions to the Oxfordshire Plan.

Inability to deliver critical services to customers/residents Business continuity strategy in place

Partially

All individual service Impact Assessments and BC Plans have 

been updated.

Financial loss Services prioritised and recovery plans reflect the requirements of critical services
Partially

BC Improvement plan, including testing, being developed by 

Steering Group
Loss of important data ICT disaster recovery arrangements in place

Fully

ICT transition to data centre and cloud services have reduced 

likelihood of ICT loss and data loss

Inability to recover sufficiently to restore non-critical services before 

they become critical

Incident management team identified in Business Continuity Strategy

Partially

Corporate ownership and governance sits at senior officer level

Loss of reputation All services undertake annual business impact assessments and update plans

Fully

Draft Business Continuity Strategy and Policy being updated for 

sign-off by Leadership Team.

Business Continuity Plans tested

Partially

Progress report was provided to CEDR in December

Potential reduction in service areas funded by the County Council 

resulting in an unplanned increase in demand on district functions 

leading to service difficulties. 

Robust governance/contract management framework in place for key third party 

relationships

Partially

Review existing arrangements/ contracts to ensure appropriate 

governance

Poor service delivery Standard agenda item at senior officer meetings

Inability to deliver council’s plans and outcomes for communities Training and development of senior officers/members to fulfil their responsibilities 

with partner organisations Partially

Continue Institute of Directors training for Officers and 

Members

Legal challenge Leader and CEO engaging at National and county level to mitigate impacts of 

potential service reductions for residents Partially

Financial loss Regular review and sharing of partnership activity/engagement at senior officer 

meetings Partially

Inability to partner in the future

Reduced opportunity for inward investment in the future

↔

Ongoing meetings with wider health partners 

to ensure evidence based approach to 

investment in Wellbeing Directorate Services

04/01/19 -Risk 

reviewed and 

questions 

raised. 

Answers not 

given?

Councillor Barry 

Wood
Graeme Kane Nicola Riley 4 3

The plan to update all the service business 

continuity plans is progressing. Managers have 

had refresher training to support them in 

completing the plans. The first drafts have also 

been subject to a peer to peer review to check 

they are robust.  An officer Steering Group is 

in place to provide professional advice on 

critical aspects of the plans. An internal audit 

began in December to quality assure our 

plans. 

Risk reviewed, 

Controls and 

comments 

updated 

04/01/19

↔

9 ↔

Councillor Colin 

Clarke
Paul Feehily

David 

Peckford

Risk reviewed 

08/01/19 - 

Control 

assessments 

and Comments 

updated.

Councillor 

Andrew McHugh
Graeme Kane Richard Webb 3 3

Not maintaining an up-to-

date Local Plan - Failure 

to ensure sound local 

plans are submitted on 

time.

L05 Business Continuity - 

Failure to ensure that 

critical services can be 

maintained in the event 

of a short or long term 

incident affecting the 

Councils' operations
4 4 16

L04

3 5 15 2 4 8

L06 Partnering - 

Financial failure of a 

public sector partner 

organisation 

Failure to build the 

necessary partnership 

relationships to deliver 

our strategic plan. 

Failure to ensure the 

necessary governance of 

third party relationships 

(council businesses, 

partners, suppliers) 

4 4 16 12

P
age 43



Ref
Name and Description of 

risk

Potential impact Controls

Control assessment Lead Member Risk owner Risk manager
Direct’n of 

travel

Mitigating actions 

(to address control issues) Comments Last updated

P
ro

b
a

b
il

it
y

Im
p

a
ct

R
a

ti
n

g Fully effective

Partially effective

Not effective

P
ro

b
a

b
il

it
y

Im
p

a
ct

R
a

ti
n

g

Inherent (gross) 

risk level 

(no Controls)

Residual risk level (after 

existing controls)

Risk reviewed - L01 Financial resilience – Inability of council to respond effectively to an emergency Key contact lists updated monthly.

Fully

Chief Operating Officer meets with ACO Oxfordshire Fire and 

Rescue quarterly to oversee shared EP arrangements.

Unnecessary hardship to residents and/or communities Dedicated Emergency Planning Officer in post to review, test and exercise plan and 

to establish, monitor and ensure all elements are covered Partially
Active involvement in Brexit contingency planning being led by 

TV LRF

Risk to human welfare and the environment Added resilience from cover between shared Environmental Health and Community 

Safety Teams as officers with appropriate skill Fully

Legal challenge Senior management attend Civil Emergency training

Fully

Training for senior officers was completed in June and 

November; further exercises were completed in September 

and November at a regional and national event with partners. 

Potential financial loss through compensation claims Multi agency emergency exercises conducted to ensure readiness

Fully

Senior managers have attended multi-agency exercises and 

duty manager training with OCC senior managers.

Ineffective Cat 1 partnership relationships On-call rota established for Duty Emergency Response Co- ordinators

Fully

Active participation in Local Resilience Forum (LRF) activities

Fully

Both authorities are represented at the Local Resilience Forum

Fatality,  serious injury & ill health to employees or members of the 

public

New Health & Safety Corporate H&S arrangements & guidance in place as part of 

the newly adopted HSG65  Management System

Partially

Corporate H&S Policy now finalised and communicated to all 

levels of managers and staff. The launch of this policy has 

helped to ensure that roles & responsibilities are discharged 

effectively. The next stage is underway, this is to  update 

Corporate H&S arrangements and guidance documents which 

support the policy underneath. 

Criminal prosecution for failings Clearly identified accountability and responsibilities for Health and Safety 

established at all levels throughout the organisation

Fully

All Assistant Directors to complete a H&S Checklist to provide a 

status on the management of H&S in their service areas 

(checklist devised by H&S team to ensure H&S Management 

System framework is covered). AD's to submit checklist to their 

Director by 3/9/18. Corporate H&S Manager has sent a follow 

up note to Directors to suggest chasing outstanding AD 

checklists. Recommended that ED's and AD's consider the gaps 

within the checklists and liaise with their management teams 

on the agreed actions that they will be taking to address them. 

Actions to be formalised into service plans & monitored at DMT 

Meetings. Further support, advice & assistance provided by 

H&S Team (contacts established for each directorate area).  

Financial loss due to compensation claims Corporate Interim H&S Manager & H&S Officer in post to formalise the H&S 

Management System & provide competent H&S advice & assistance to managers & 

employees. Awaiting new Health & Safety Manager Partially

Internal Audit Schedule rolling 3 year 

programme has  now been developed and is 

underway.
Enforcement action – cost of regulator (HSE) time Proactive monitoring of Health & Safety performance management internally

Partially

Increased sickness absence Proactive monitoring of Health & Safety performance management externally

Fully

Management of H&S training will now be included within the 

new eLearning programme which is in the process of being 

procured. Risk Assessment Workshop training is being 

developed. Robust training already in place in Environmental 

Services.

Increased agency costs Effective induction and training regime in place for all staff

Partially

Good awareness in higher risk areas of the business, e.g. 

Environmental Services. However other areas need improved 

awareness of risk assessment process

Reduction in capacity impacts service delivery Positive Health & Safety risk aware culture
Partially

Corporate Health & Safety meeting structure in place for co-ordination and 

consultation Partially

Corporate body & Member overview of Health & Safety performance via 

appropriate committee
Fully

Assurance that third party organisations subscribe to and follow Council Health & 

Safety guidelines and are performance managed where required
Partially

Graeme Kane Richard Webb16 12 ↔
Councillor 

Andrew 

McHughy

↔

Risk reviewed 

03/01/19 - No 

changes.

3 4

Active plans are in place to ensure the 

authority is prepared for a variety of 

emergencies. Continual improvements are 

being made as a result of a review of these 

plans and in partnership with the Local 

Resilience Forum. Plans are developing to 

create two systems for SNC and CDC 

separately from January 2019.

Risk reviewed 

08/01/19 - 

Mitigating 

actions 

updated.

Senior Officer Meeting receives regular 

updates from Corporate H&S Manager. 

Relevant updates taken to appropriate 

committee. Joint Council and Employee 

Engagement Committee (JCEEC)  to be formed 

by HR in Oct/Nov time. To be in place to 

ensure robust communication methods are in 

place for consultation between HR/H&S and 

TU. 

HR AD in the process of co-ordinating JCEEC 

meetings.

12

Recently approved Internal Audit plan for 18/19 included an 

audit of our overall H&S management system framework which 

commenced in Q1 with a follow up planned prior to the end of 

18/19.  Four main recommendations have been made which 

are being considered and will be included in future updates of 

the Leadership Risk Register. The H&S team also conduct 

reviews internally across all services and teams, the current 

scope will be expanded from topic-based themes to cover all 

elements of our overall H&S management system to ensure 

compliance with our standards.

Councillor Lynn 

Pratt
Adele Taylor Martin Green 4 3

Reviews of leases and performance monitoring to be reviewed 

to satisfy the Councils providers/ contractors are managing 

significant risks.

4 4

L08 Health and safety

- Failure to comply with 

health and safety 

legislation, corporate 

H&S policies and 

corporate H&S landlord 

responsibilities

5 4 20

L07 Emergency Planning (EP) 

- Failure to ensure that 

the local authority has 

plans in place to respond 

appropriately to a civil 

emergency fulfilling its 

duty as a category one 

responder

P
age 44



Ref
Name and Description of 

risk

Potential impact Controls

Control assessment Lead Member Risk owner Risk manager
Direct’n of 

travel

Mitigating actions 

(to address control issues) Comments Last updated

P
ro

b
a

b
il

it
y

Im
p

a
ct

R
a

ti
n

g Fully effective

Partially effective

Not effective

P
ro

b
a

b
il

it
y

Im
p

a
ct

R
a

ti
n

g

Inherent (gross) 

risk level 

(no Controls)

Residual risk level (after 

existing controls)

Risk reviewed - L01 Financial resilience – Service disruption File and Data encryption on computer devices

Fully

Financial loss / fine Managing access permissions and privileged users through AD and individual 

applications Fully

Prosecution – penalties imposed Consistent approach to information and data management and security across the 

councils

Fully

Cyber-security was reviewed by Internal Audit in May 2017 and 

a review meeting was held on 30th August 2018. The output 

has been received and signed off with good progress summary 

noted.

Individuals could be placed at risk of harm Effective information management and security training and awareness programme 

for staff

Partially

The IT service are in discussions with the Regional Police Cyber 

Security Advisor. Initial training session held with the IT 

Management team in October 2018. Further table top session 

held in November with IT Management Team.

Sessions for all staff are being arranged for January 2019.

Reduced capability to deliver customer facing services Password security controls in place

Fully

Complete the implementation of the intrusion prevention and 

detection system by the end of January 2019.

Unlawful disclosure of sensitive information Robust information and data related incident management procedures in place

Fully

Agree Terms of Reference and re-implement the security forum 

as the Information Governance Group, with meetings to be 

held on a minimum quarterly basis. 1st meeting should be 

January 2019, chaired by the Information Governance 

Manager. 
Inability to share services or work with partners Appropriate robust contractual arrangements in place with all third parties that 

supply systems or data processing services

Fully

Develop a comprehensive information security training 

programme with annual mandated completion which is 

assessed by June 2019.

Loss of reputation Appropriate plans in place to ensure ongoing PSN compliance
Fully

Cyber Security highlighted during the recent all staff briefing in 

relation to cyber essentials plus

Adequate preventative measures in place to mitigate insider threat, including 

physical and system security
Partially

Insider threat mitigated through recruitment and line management processes
Fully

Increased harm and distress caused to vulnerable individuals and their 

families

Safeguarding lead in place and clear lines of responsibility established
Fully

Ongoing internal awareness campaigns

Council could face criminal prosecution Safeguarding Policy and procedures in place Fully Ongoing external awareness campaigns

 Criminal investigations potentially compromised Information on the intranet on how to escalate a concern
Fully

Annual refresher and new training programmes including 

training for new members

Potential financial liability if council deemed to be negligent Mandatory training and awareness raising sessions are now in place for all staff. 
Fully

Training monitoring to be developed through new HR/Payroll 

system

Safer recruitment practices and DBS checks for staff with direct contact
Partially

Continue to attend Child exploitation groups 

Action plan developed by CSE Prevention group as part of the Community Safety 

Partnership Partially

Data sharing agreement with other partners Partially

Attendance at Children and Young People Partnership Board (CYPPB) Fully

Annual Section 11 return compiled and submitted as required by legislation.

Fully

Engagement with Joint Agency Tasking and Co-ordinating Group (JATAC) and 

relevant Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) safeguarding sub group
Fully

Engagement at an operational and tactical level with relevant external agencies and 

networks Partially

Through failure of governance or robust financial / business planning the 

councils fail to generate expected income.

Annual business planning 

Partially

Changes in the shareholder support side line management 

been put in place.  Additional oversight and capacity from 

senior managers

Financial planning
Partially

Resilience and support being developed across business to 

monitor and deliver projects.

Corporate governance mechanisms 

Partially

Skills and experience being enhanced to deliver and support 

development, challenge and oversight.

Due diligence Partially

Business casing 

Partially

Risk reviewed 

04/01/19 - 

Control 

Assessment, 

Mitigating 

Actions 

Updated.

Councillor Ian 

Corkin
Claire Taylor

David 

Spilsbury
3 5

L09

L11 Income Generation 

through council owned 

companies

3 4

Cyber Security - If there 

is insufficient security 

with regards to the data 

held and  IT systems used 

by the councils and 

insufficient protection 

against malicious attacks 

on council’s systems 

then there is a risk of: a 

data breach, a loss of 

service, cyber- ransom.

4 5 20 15

L10 Safeguarding the 

vulnerable (adults and 

children) - Failure to 

follow our policies and 

procedures in relation to 

safeguarding vulnerable 

adults and children or 

raising concerns about 

their welfare

3 4

Councillor Tony 

Illot
Adele Taylor 3

Risk reviewed 

08/01/19 -  

comments 

updated to 

reflect this.

12 ↔

Staff turn over has lead to increase in risk last 

month. Mitigations in place in terms of 

additional senior management oversight. 

Knowledge and experience building take place 

with training and support as required.

The increased score last month remains the 

same this month although some additional 

actions in place.

Adele Taylor 4

↔

Cyber security incidents are inevitable. 

The only way to manage this risk is to have 

effective controls and mitigations in place 

including audit and review. 

The cyber-essentials plus certification has now been passed.

4/01/19 -Risk 

reviewed and 

questions 

raised. 

Answers not 

given?

Councillor Barry 

Wood
Graeme Kane Nicola Riley 2 4 8 ↔

Continued focus in this area with ongoing 

programme of training and awareness raising.

12

12

P
age 45



Ref
Name and Description of 

risk

Potential impact Controls

Control assessment Lead Member Risk owner Risk manager
Direct’n of 

travel

Mitigating actions 

(to address control issues) Comments Last updated

P
ro

b
a

b
il

it
y

Im
p

a
ct

R
a

ti
n

g Fully effective

Partially effective

Not effective

P
ro

b
a

b
il

it
y

Im
p

a
ct

R
a

ti
n

g

Inherent (gross) 

risk level 

(no Controls)

Residual risk level (after 

existing controls)

Risk reviewed - L01 Financial resilience – The financial failure of a third party supplier results in the inability or 

reduced ability to deliver a service to customers.

Contracts in place to cover default.
Partially

Meetings take place when required with suppliers to review 

higher risk areas.

Business continuity planning

Partially

Inability to deliver Council priorities and plans, impacting on quality of 

services delivered to residents and communities.

Separate CDC and SNC Senior Leadership Teams in place from January 2019. Fully  Standing item at senior officer meetings - regular review of risk 

and control measures.

Separate CDC Senior Leadership Team in place 

from 1st January 2019. 

Potential impact of CDC/SNC separation on quality of services delivered 

to residents and communities.

Agreed programme of separation in place Partially Legal advice sought with regards to the employment 

implications of re-organisation and separation proposals. 

Structure includes clear responsibility for 

separation from SNC. 

Joint CEDR Meetings to take place fortnightly with clear focus on separation. Fully Separation tracker and risk register to be circulated at all senior 

management meetings.

Separation proposals agreed for Economic 

Growth, Planning Policy and Design and 

Conservation teams.

Programme Board and Project Team established to deliver separation. Fully Collaboration Agreement to underpin joint working with SNC 

following the end of the s113 to be agreed.

Collaboration Agreement to underpin on-

going joint working between CDC and SNC 

agreed by Executive  and Council in January 

2019.

Strategic partnership opportunities with Oxfordshire County Council being explored 

with s113 agreement in place.

Partially OCC - CDC section 113 agreement completed. 

Regular review and sharing of partnership activity / engagement at senior officer 

meetings

Partially Regular communications plan with cascade briefings from 

Assistant Directors planned quarterly. New monthly newsletter 

focussing on change to be issued.

Threat to service delivery and performance if good management 

practices and controls are not adhered to. 

Clear and robust control framework including: constitution, scheme of delegation, 

ethical walls policy etc.

Partially Standing item at senior officer meetings – regular review of risk 

and control measures

Risk of ultra vires activity or lack of legal compliance Clear accountability and resource for corporate governance (including the 

shareholder role). 

Partially Review of constitution to take place 2018/19

Risk of fraud or corruption Integrated budget, performance and risk reporting framework. Partially

Risk to financial sustainability if lack of governance results in poor 

investment decisions or budgetary control.

Corporate programme office and project management framework. Includes project 

and programme governance.  

Partially Implementation of corporate programme office – May 2018

Failure of corporate governance in terms of major projects, budgets or 

council owned companies impacts upon financial sustainability of the 

councils.  

Internal audit programme aligned to leadership risk register. Partially Full review of HR policy to be undertaken during 2018/19

Training and development resource targeted to address priority issues; examples 

include GDPR, safeguarding etc. 

Partially Monitoring Officer to attend management team meetings

HR policy framework. Partially

Annual governance statements Partially

↔

S113 Agreement terminates on 16 January 

2019. Collaboration Agreement being 

developed. Executive and Cabinet will consider 

its adoption on 7 and 14 January 2019 

respectively. Service schedules are being 

developed for all services that require ongoing 

joint working - and these are programmed o 

be in placed by 16 January 2019.

05/12/18 - Risk 

reviewed, Risk 

Owner & 

Manager & 

Comments 

updated

L14 Corporate Governance - 

Failure of corporate 

governance leads to 

negative impact on 

service delivery or the 

implementation of major 

projects providing value 

to customers. 
4 4 16

Councillor Barry 

Wood
Yvonne Rees Nick Graham 3

L12 Financial sustainability 

of third party suppliers

3 4 12

Risk reviewed 

and updated 

09/01/19 

Councillor Barry 

Wood
Yvonne Rees Claire Taylor 5 3

Risk previously escalated due to suppliers 

financial difficulties which could result in loss 

of service. The Council continues to monitor 

suppliers financial stability and meets with 

suppliers when required. Financial company 

insight being gained through use of 

monitoring tools and financial advice. 

8 ↔
Councillor Tony 

Illot
Adele Taylor Adele Taylor 2 4

Risk reviewed 

08/01/19- No 

changes.

15 ↔

L13 Local Government 

Reorganisation CDC - 

Separation from SNC 

impacts on the provision 

of services to residents 

and communities. 

5 4 20

3 9

P
age 46



Appendix 4 

PROJECT 

MANAGER / 

SERVICE OWNER

ED /

ASSISTANT 

DIRECTOR

PROJECT

APPROVAL

DATE

DESCRIPTION BUDGET FORECAST

RE-

PROFILED

INTO

2019/20

RE-

PROFILED

BEYOND

2019/20

Current 

Month

Variances

£000

Prior Month

Variances

£000

OUTTURN NARRATIVE

Stuart Parkhurst Nicola Riley Sunshine Centre 440 65 375 - -

Works tendered ready to proceed, held pending 

transfer of lease from OCC to CDC, hence 

works likely start in Mar-19 with completion 

scheduled for Oct-19. 

Forecasted spend of £65k in 18/19 is for 

professional fees and reprofiling £375k into 

19/20 when the work will be carried out and 

completed.

Wellbeing - Communities 440 65 375 - - -

Liam Didcock Jane Carr 2012/13 Biomass Heating Bicester Leisure Centre 14 14 - -
Further work is currently being undertaken to 

ascertain if the budget will be required.

Liam Didcock Jane Carr 2016/17 Whitelands Farm Sports ground 25 25 - -

Final account still under review. (NB. Any 

overspend will be covered by funds from 

Section 106.)

Liam Didcock Jane Carr 2013/14 Solar Photovoltaics at Sports Centres 80 80 - -

To cover solar PV component replacement 

which may not be called upon in 2018/19, hence 

re-profiled to 2019/20

Liam Didcock Jane Carr 2013/14 Football Development Plan in Banbury 20 20 - -

No expenditure requirement for 2018/19. 

Schedule for completion in 2019/20, to include 

football facility with a wider context, and 

address the inactivity in Banbury.

Liam Didcock Jane Carr 2014/15 North Oxfordshire Academy Astroturf 207 24 183 - -

Due to potential works needed to be undertaken 

outside of school term, hence expansion to 

spectator area to be re-profiled to 19/20. 

Remainder of budget is for Capital to support 

3G Pitch - currently being pursued by planners 

as Academy in breach of planning condition.

Liam Didcock Jane Carr 2014/15 Stratfield Brake Repair Works 12 12 - - Full budget spent - no further works planned

Liam Didcock Jane Carr 2007/08 Sports Centre Modernisation Programme 36 52 16 -

Further work is currently being undertaken to 

review the accuracy of the payments made 

todate.

Liam Didcock Jane Carr 2016/17 Bicester Leisure Centre Extension 122 122 - - Comment to Follow.

Liam Didcock Jane Carr 2016/17 Spiceball Leis Centre Bridge Resurfacing 30 30 - -

Works to be determined post completion of the 

new bridge connection in 2018,  as part of the 

CQ2 project. Re-profiled to 2019/20

Liam Didcock Jane Carr 2017/18 Corporate Booking System 60 60 - -

No expenditure planned for 2018/19. Further 

work being undertaken to determine the 

provision of booking system for sport and 

leisure through JADU and likely expenditure 

required for 2019/20.

Liam Didcock Jane Carr 2015/16 Woodgreen - Condition Survey Works 2 2 - -
Further work is currently being undertaken to 

ascertain if the budget will be required.

Liam Didcock Jane Carr 2017/18
Bicester Leisure Centre - Access Road 

Improvements.
33 23 (10) -

Works completed  - overall project cost was 

£23k against a £33k budget (No further spend 

required) hence a savings of £10k.

CHERWELL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2018-19

£000's

P
age 47



Appendix 4 

PROJECT 

MANAGER / 

SERVICE OWNER

ED /

ASSISTANT 

DIRECTOR

PROJECT

APPROVAL

DATE

DESCRIPTION BUDGET FORECAST

RE-

PROFILED

INTO

2019/20

RE-

PROFILED

BEYOND

2019/20

Current 

Month

Variances

£000

Prior Month

Variances

£000

OUTTURN NARRATIVE

CHERWELL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2018-19

£000's

Liam Didcock Jane Carr 2017/18
Cooper School Performance Hall - Roof, 

Floor & Seating
38 38 - -

Works completed  - although may be an 

opportunity to upgrade some of the 'inner 

workings' of the seating to help with lifespan

Liam Didcock Jane Carr 2017/18
North Oxfordshire Academy - Replacement 

Floodlights
20 14 (6) -

Works completed - not expected any more 

spend from this budget

Liam Didcock Jane Carr 2017/18
North Oxfordshire Academy - Sports 

Pavilion Improvements
6 20 14 -

Works completed and budget spent - should be 

showing full spent of budget £20k

Liam Didcock Jane Carr 2018/19 Cooper sports Facility Floodlights 65 65 - -

Due to access issue, work is scheduled for 

completion in the summer of 2019/20. Full 

budget will be spent

Wellbeing - Leisure and Sport 770 330 454 - 14 -

Tim Mills Gillian Douglas
Various as 

per budget
Empty Homes Work-in-Default Recoverable 100 100 - -

Moving £100k to Capital Reserves (NB. This 

needs to remain at £100k per annum. Any 

unspent budget is to be reprofiled and topped 

up to £100k)

Tim Mills Gillian Douglas
Various as 

per budget
Disabled Facilities Grants 1,995 1,200 795 - -

The DFG budget for 2018-19 is £1,995k made 

up of £1,200k slippage and £795k external 

funding from Better Care Fund. (The Council 

took a 'holiday' from its £375k annual top-up.  

Expected expenditure is £1,200k.  A further 

CDC 'top-up holiday' is proposed for 2019-20 

provided uncommitted funds from 2018-19 are 

slipped to 2019-20.  Spend to-date £739k with a 

further £19k committed but not yet paid. 

(NB. Spend for this budget invariably 

accelerates towards the end of the year.)

Tim Mills Gillian Douglas
Various as 

per budget
Discretionary Grants Domestic Properties 339 200 139 - -

Only £200k of the budget will be required this 

financial year and £139k re-profiled to 2019/20.

Stuart Parkhurst Gillian Douglas 2017/18 Woodpiece Road Parking Options 70 70 - -
Work programmed for Q4. On target for 

completion in 2018/19 and on budget.

Joanne Barrett Gillian Douglas 2018/19 Abritas Upgrade 33 33 - -

Wellbeing - Housing 2,537 1,603 934 - - -

Wellbeing Total 3,747 1,998 1,763 - 14 -

Jane Norman Robert Jolley 2013/14 Community Centre Refurbishments 84 84 - -

Spending is directly linked to the delivery of 

"The Hill youth and community centre". It is 

likely that the new facility won’t be completed 

this financial year, hence the fund which is 

earmarked in the main for fixtures and fittings 

won’t be needed until 2019/20.

Currently under mobilisation, construction due 

to start end of Nov-18 with completion due in 

autumn 2019.

P
age 48



Appendix 4 

PROJECT 

MANAGER / 

SERVICE OWNER

ED /

ASSISTANT 

DIRECTOR

PROJECT

APPROVAL

DATE

DESCRIPTION BUDGET FORECAST

RE-

PROFILED

INTO

2019/20

RE-

PROFILED

BEYOND

2019/20

Current 

Month

Variances

£000

Prior Month

Variances

£000

OUTTURN NARRATIVE

CHERWELL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2018-19

£000's

Jane Norman Robert Jolley 2015/16 The Hill Youth Community Centre 989 989 - -

Currently under mobilisation, construction due 

to start end of Nov-18 with completion due in 

autumn 2019.

Andrew Bowe Robert Jolley 2015/16 East West Railways 1,160 1,160 - -

There is a 5 years schedule of capital 

contributions to 2019 / 20 have not yet been 

requested. Re-profiled to 2019/20 

Jane Norman Robert Jolley Build Programme Phase 1a 1,182 1,182 - -
Agreed capital budget re-profiled from 2017/18 

now coded to the applicable service area.

Jane Norman Robert Jolley 2018/19 Build Programme Phase 1b 1,875 1,875 - -

Jane Norman Robert Jolley 2018/19 Build Programme Phase 2 6,500 6,500 - -

Jenny Barker Robert Jolley 2016/17 NW Bicester Eco Business Centre 2,236 2,236 - - Completed

Robert Jolley Paul Feehily 2014/15 Graven Hill - Loans and Equity 600 600 - -

Place & Growth - Economy & 

Regeneration

14,626 13,382 1,244 - - -

Place & Growth Total 14,626 13,382 1,244 - - -

Ed Potter Graeme Kane 2017/18 Car Park Refurbishments 467 267 200 - -

Budget for the replacement of parking 

equipment which is not expected in 2018/19. Re-

profiled to 2019/20.

Ed Potter Graeme Kane 2014/15 Energy Efficiency Projects 28 14 14 - -

Charging points for Depot electric vehicles will 

require more time to add additional charging 

points hence defer to 2019/20.

Ed Potter Graeme Kane 2012/13 Glass Bank Recycling Scheme 8 8 - - Now completed on Budget

Ed Potter Graeme Kane 2015/16 Public Conveniences 50 50 - -

Budget for the uplift of the Public Conveniences, 

work not expected to start in 2018/19. Re-

profiled to 2019/20.

Ed Potter Graeme Kane 2015/16 Off Road Parking Facilities 18 18 - -

Proposals for Bay Marking being put forward 

however we do not expect this spend to take 

place this year. Re-profiled to 2019/20.

Ed Potter Graeme Kane Annual Vehicle Replacement Programme 879 557 322 - -
£322k deferred due to the useful life of some 

vehicles longer than estimated.

Ed Potter Graeme Kane 2016/17 Wheeled Bin Replacement Scheme 125 125 - - On Target for completion this year.

Ed Potter Graeme Kane 2016/17 Urban Centre Electricity Installations 15 15 - -

Work on the Urban Centre Electricity 

Installations not expected to commence until 

next financial year, hence re-profiled to 

2019/20.

Ed Potter Graeme Kane 2011/12 Bicester Cattle Market Car Park Phase 2 90 0 (90) (90) Budget no longer required

Ed Potter Graeme Kane 2018/19 Vehicle Lifting Equipment 30 30 - - On Target for completion this year.

Ed Potter Graeme Kane 2018/19 Container Bin Replacement 20 20 - - On Target for completion this year.

Ed Potter Graeme Kane 2018/19 Banbury Market Improvements 20 20 - - On Target for completion this year.

Environment - Environment 1,750 1,041 619 - (90) (90)

Natasha Barnes Claire Taylor 2014/15 Customer Self-Service Portal CRM Solutn 80 80 - -

Environment - Environment 80 80 - - - -

Environment Total 1,830 1,121 619 - (90) (90)

P
age 49



Appendix 4 

PROJECT 

MANAGER / 

SERVICE OWNER

ED /

ASSISTANT 

DIRECTOR

PROJECT

APPROVAL

DATE

DESCRIPTION BUDGET FORECAST

RE-

PROFILED

INTO

2019/20

RE-

PROFILED

BEYOND

2019/20

Current 

Month

Variances

£000

Prior Month

Variances

£000

OUTTURN NARRATIVE

CHERWELL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2018-19

£000's

Belinda Green Adele Taylor 2017/18 Academy Harmonisation 119 40 79 - -
Spend of £40K in 2018/19, re-profile the 

remaining budget into 2019/20

Finance & Governance - Finance & 

Procurement

119 40 79 - - -

Stuart Parkhurst Robert Fuzesi 2013/14 Condition Survey Works 77 77 - -

Works completed, review taking place, final 

account to follow. On target for full spend and 

completion in 18/19.

Stuart Parkhurst Robert Fuzesi 2014/15 Bradley Arcade Roof Repairs 55 30 (25) (20)

Works completed, review taking place, final 

account to follow. On target to spend £30K and 

completion in 18/19, leaving a surplus funds of 

£25K.

Stuart Parkhurst Robert Fuzesi 2018/19 Orchard Way Shopping Arcade Front Serv 20 18 (2) (4)

Project completed, however due to usage of site 

equipment an additional spend of £2K is 

needed. Completed in 18/19. Surplus funds of 

£2K.

Stuart Parkhurst Robert Fuzesi 2016/17 Community Buildings - Remedial Works 150 76 (74) (50)

Works completed, review taking place, final 

account to follow. On target for spend of £75K 

and completion in 18/19. Surplus funds of £74K.

Savings for work completed for less than the 

original bid value achieving the same goals.

Robert Fuzesi Adele Taylor 2016/17 Spiceball Riverbank Reinstatement 50 50 - -

On hold pending the completion of a new bridge 

as part of the CQ2 development.  Reprofiled to 

2019/20

Stuart Parkhurst Robert Fuzesi 2017/18 Banbury - Antelope Garage 0 29 29 29

Works completed, awaiting final account. 

Looking at spend in 18/19 of £31k. Look at 

using surplus funds to cover expenditure instead 

of reserve.

Additional cost for a second fire exit route to the 

"Antelope Garage" in Banbury.

Stuart Parkhurst Robert Fuzesi 2017/18
Banbury Health Centre - Refurbishment of 

Ventilation, Heating & Cooling Systems
270 50 220 - -

In design stage, works progressing, project will 

be partly re-profiled into 2019/20. Budget 

reprofile of £220K. On target for full spend.

Stuart Parkhurst Robert Fuzesi 2017/18
Thorpe Way Industrial estate - Roof & Roof 

Lights
64 64 - -

On site mid November, on target for completion 

in Dec-18. On target for full spend.

Chris Hipkiss Adele Taylor 2017/18 Castle Quay 2 72,000 4,689 42,644 24,667 - -

Chris Hipkiss Adele Taylor 2017/18 Castle Quay 1 7,636 7,636 - -

Shelagh Larard Robert Fuzesi 2017/18 Franklins House - Travelodge 783 783 - -
Practical completion issued, working on final 

account. Looking to be on target.

Stuart Parkhurst Robert Fuzesi Bicester - Pioneer Square 135 135 - - Work Completed

Liam Didcock Nicola Riley 2018/19 Cherwell Community Fund 100 100 - -

Stuart Parkhurst Robert Fuzesi Housing & IT Asset System joint CDC/SNC 50 50 - -

Possible harmonisation project will overtake 

and therefore this budget/project will move over. 

Project on hold until decision made.

P
age 50



Appendix 4 

PROJECT 

MANAGER / 

SERVICE OWNER

ED /

ASSISTANT 

DIRECTOR

PROJECT

APPROVAL

DATE

DESCRIPTION BUDGET FORECAST

RE-

PROFILED

INTO

2019/20

RE-

PROFILED

BEYOND

2019/20

Current 

Month

Variances

£000

Prior Month

Variances

£000

OUTTURN NARRATIVE

CHERWELL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2018-19

£000's

Stuart Parkhurst Robert Fuzesi Orchard Way - external decorations 95 95 - -

Works in design stage, awaiting actual costs. 

Project anticipated to be on target, final account 

will be known end of Q4.

Stuart Parkhurst Robert Fuzesi 2018/19 Retained Land 180 90 90 - -

In design stage, project will be partly re-profiled 

into 2019/20. Budget reprofile of £90K. On 

target for full spend.

Stuart Parkhurst Robert Fuzesi 2018/19 Thorpe Place Industrial Units 175 88 88 - -

Awaiting award by PSG, expected start date 

Feb 19. Project anticipated to be on target, 

works to be completed end of July 19, therefore 

reprofiling to take place of £87.5K. On target for 

full spend.

Stuart Parkhurst Robert Fuzesi 2018/19 Thorpe Way Industrial Units 145 73 73 - -

Awaiting award by PSG, expected start date 

Feb 19. Project anticipated to be on target, 

works to be completed end of July 19, therefore 

reprofiling to take place of £72.5K. On target for 

full spend.

Stuart Parkhurst Robert Fuzesi 2018/19 Horsefair Banbury 100 100 - -

Potential issues with tender returns, causing 

delay on award. Currently on target, more 

information will be known in Q4.

Stuart Parkhurst Robert Fuzesi 2018/19 Thorpe Lane Depot - Tarmac / drainage 110 55 55 - -

Awaiting award by PSG, expected start date 

Feb 19. Project anticipated to be on target, 

works to be completed end of July 19, therefore 

reprofiling to take place of £55K. On target for 

full spend.

Stuart Parkhurst Robert Fuzesi 2018/19 EPC certification & compliance works 40 20 20 - -

Awaiting award by PSG, expected start date 

Feb 19. Project anticipated to be on target, 

works to be completed end of July 19, therefore 

reprofiling to take place of £20K. On target for 

full spend.

Chris Hipkiss Adele Taylor 2018/19 Tramway Industrial Estate, Banbury 9,500 9,500 - -

Tramway Industrial Estate (total area of 80,915 

sq ft) comprises of 10 units situated on 

Haslemere Way, Banbury which is situated on 

the proposed Canalside Redevelopment area.  

The majority of units incorporate a two storey 

office with warehouse accommodation and 

loading from the front of the premises.  All units 

are fully let, with a total passing rent of 

£493,119 pa (average £6.09 per sq ft).

Crown House

Finance & Governance - Property, 

Investment & Contract Management

91,735 23,777 43,239 24,667 (52) (45)

Finance & Governance Total 91,854 23,817 43,318 24,667 (52) (45)

Tim Spiers Claire Taylor Microsoft Licensing Agreement 110 110 - -

Previously reported that a (£110k) for Microsoft 

licensing agreement budget was no longer 

required, following further investigation it has 

been established that the total budget is 

required and will be spend in 2018/19.

Rakesh Kumar Claire Taylor 2014/15 Land & Property Harmonisation 83 83 - -

Tim Spiers Claire Taylor Annual 5 Year Rolling HW / SW Replacement Prog 50 50 - -

P
age 51



Appendix 4 

PROJECT 

MANAGER / 

SERVICE OWNER

ED /

ASSISTANT 

DIRECTOR

PROJECT

APPROVAL

DATE

DESCRIPTION BUDGET FORECAST

RE-

PROFILED

INTO

2019/20

RE-

PROFILED

BEYOND

2019/20

Current 

Month

Variances

£000

Prior Month

Variances

£000

OUTTURN NARRATIVE

CHERWELL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2018-19

£000's

Tim Spiers Claire Taylor Annual
Business Systems Harmonisation 

Programme
69 69 - -

Tim Spiers Claire Taylor 2014/15
Upgrade Uninterrupted Pwr Supp Back up / 

Datacentre
115 115 - -

Tim Spiers Claire Taylor 2017/18 IT Strategy Review 139 139 - -
Agreed capital budget re-profiled from 2017/18 

now coded to the applicable service area.

Tim Spiers Claire Taylor 2014/15 Land and Property Harmonisation 167 167 - -

Tim Spiers Claire Taylor Customer Excellence & Digital Transfer 85 85 - -
All online forms are been replaced by a new 

CRM system by the end of the year.

Hedd Vaughan-

Evans
Claire Taylor Unified Communications 125 125 - -

Customers Service Devt - Customers & IT 

Services

943 943 - - - -

Customers & Service Devt - HR, OD & 

Payroll

- - - - - -

Customers & IT Services Total 943 943 0 0 0 0

Capital Total 113,000 41,261 46,944 24,667 (128) (135)
128 - Under Spend

P
age 52



Cherwell District Council 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 19 February 2019 
 

Draft Housing Strategy 2019 - 2024 : ‘Cherwell - A Place 
to Prosper’ 

 
Report of Assistant Director: Social Care Commissioning and Housing 

 
This report is public 

 
 

Purpose of report 
 
To consider and comment on the draft Housing Strategy 2019-2024 and Action 
Plan 2019-20, taking in to consideration the results of the public consultation phase. 
 
 

1.0 Recommendations 
              

The meeting is recommended: 
 
1.1 To consider the results of the public consultation and the proposed changes to the 

Strategy in response to feedback from the public, stakeholders and partners. 
 

1.2 To comment on the draft Strategy and action plan in advance of the Strategy going 
to the Executive for adoption on 4 March 2019. 
 

1.3 To consider what the role of Overview and Scrutiny Committee should be in 
monitoring the Strategy and its outcomes going forward. 
 

 

2.0 Introduction 
 

2.1 The previous Housing Strategy for Cherwell District Council was published in 2011 
covering the period 2012-2017. It incorporated the Homelessness Strategy which is 
now a standalone and refreshed Strategy adopted in July 2018 and covering the 
period 2018-20. Homelessness is therefore not included in the draft Housing 
Strategy in any level of detail although clearly delivering new housing and improving 
existing housing contributes to the prevention and resolution of homelessness. 

 
2.2 The draft Housing Strategy (appendix 1) sets out our priorities for responding to the 

wider housing needs of the district but with a focus on affordable housing which is 
the council’s key role. It takes particular account of the current and future needs of 
groups such as older people, disabled people, young people, vulnerable families 
and people on low income. The housing needs of these groups are a priority in 
terms of vulnerability, access to housing, affordability and achieving positive health 
outcomes.   

Page 53

Agenda Item 7



2.3 It is not a statutory requirement to have a Housing Strategy but is seen as good 
practice in setting out the Council’s priorities and plans for meeting housing need 
based on local assessments of need. This includes intelligence from key internal 
and external partners such as Build!, the Bicester Team, Development 
Management, Oxfordshire County Council and Oxfordshire Housing and Growth 
Deal. It is also important that we are clear and open with our partners (particularly 
Registered Providers (RPs)) and communities about what we expect to deliver. We 
aim to set out clearly how we will create the right environment and support them in 
their work to deliver housing in response to identified need. 

 
2.4 Cherwell District Council has a strong track record of enabling and delivering 

affordable housing and finding innovative solutions to meet housing need. This 
commitment is unwavering and our partnership with Oxfordshire County Council 
gives further opportunities to develop the diversity of housing our communities 
need. 
 

2.5 We expect the Housing Strategy to guide and influence partners, particularly 
developers and RPs, in helping to deliver quality housing that meets our 
community’s needs and enables them to live healthy, positive lives. We are very 
clear that we are not just in the business of delivering affordable housing. We also 
have a key role and responsibility in building sustainable and cohesive 
communities. Working with partners to achieve this is essential. 

 
2.6 We expect the final Strategy to be a material consideration in Development 

Management decisions and the evolution of Planning policy and it is clearly 
important that Housing and Planning work closely to deliver our ambitions. 

 
 

3.0 Report Details 
 
3.1 Since our previous strategy was produced there have been some major changes in 

legislation and national policy.  In summary: 
 

3.1.1 Welfare Reforms – The Welfare Reform Act 2012 introduced significant 
changes to the benefits system including new caps on local housing 
allowance (LHA) and housing benefit, the creation of Universal Credit (UC) 
and the reform of Council Tax Benefit and Disability Living Allowance (DLA).  
The Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 contained further changes including 
the ending of automatic entitlement for 18-21 year olds and the restriction of 
benefits for families with more than two children.  

 
3.1.2 The Care Act 2014 – The Care Act 2014 extends the role of local authorities 

with adult social care responsibilities who provide assistance to people who 
have care needs.  The Act defines housing as a ‘health-related service’, 
highlighting the need for integrating care and support provision.  To meet 
these needs Adult Care will and local housing authorities need to work 
closely to provide a range of housing and support services, such as 
supported housing and extra care housing.  

 
3.1.3 Housing and Planning Act 2016 – The Housing and Planning Act 2016 

introduced a number of policy changes including: 
• the potential for extension of the Right to Buy (RTB) to RPs 

Page 54



• starter homes (a home available to first time buyers between 23 and 
39 at a discount of 20%) were defined as affordable housing for the 
purposes of the National Planning Policy Framework 

• local planning authorities have a duty to keep a register of demand for 
self-build properties and grant planning permission for adequate 
serviced plots to meet the measured demand for self-build housing in 
the district. 

• new and changed enforcement powers for local housing authorities 
aimed at tackling rogue landlords 

 
3.1.4 The Housing White Paper 2017 - ‘Fixing our broken housing market’, 

released in February 2017 set out the Government’s proposals to: 
• make changes to the planning system to facilitate development and 

build homes faster 
• ensure the required infrastructure is delivered at the right time 
• support smaller builders, local authorities and housing associations to 

build 
• support building for rent and custom and self-build initiatives 
• provide more support for first time buyers alongside other affordable 

provision 
• introduce a revised methodology for calculating housing need. 

 
3.1.5 The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 (HRAct) - implemented in April 2018 

and has substantially increased the duties owed by local authorities to 
homeless people and people threatened with homelessness.  These include 
a greater emphasis on homelessness prevention with councils being 
required to help people at risk of losing accommodation as soon as they are 
threatened with homelessness within 56 days and increased duties to 
households not in priority need. 

 
3.1.6 National Planning Policy Framework – the government published the revised 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and amended Planning Policy 
Guidance in 2018. Changes include: 
• introduction of a new Affordable Housing definition.  Social rented 

homes are reintroduced into the government’s definition and it is 
broadened to include Build to Rent units (marketed at an affordable 
rent), Starter Homes and Discounted Market Sale housing. 

• At least 10% of homes on 10+ dwelling schemes should be for 
affordable home ownership, with exemption rural exception sites, 
Build to Rent schemes and specialist housing proposals (such as for 
the elderly or students). 

• Introduction of ‘entry level exception sites’ suitable for first-time buyers 
or those looking to rent their first home.  These sites must comprise a 
high proportion of entry-level homes and adjacent to existing 
settlements. 

• Shifting viability assessment from the decision-making stage to the 
plan making stage and ‘where up to date policies have been set out 
the contributions expected from development, planning applications 
that comply with them should be assumed to be viable’. 

• Introduction of a new standardised housing needs assessment 
 
3.1.7 The Social Housing Green Paper – The government published the green 

paper ‘A new deal for social housing’ on 14 August 2018, setting out a 

Page 55



proposed strategy for reforming social housing. It aims to rebalance the 
relationship between landlords and residents, tackle stigma and ensure 
social housing can act as a stable base and support social mobility. It is 
based around five themes: 

• ensuring homes are safe and decent 
• effective resolution of complaints about social landlords 
• empowering residents and strengthening the regulator 
• tackling stigma and celebrating thriving communities 
• expanding supply and supporting home ownership.  

 
3.1.8 Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) Licensing reforms - From 1 October 

2018 the Government extended the number of properties subject to 
mandatory licensing so it is now a requirement that HMOs that are occupied 
by 5 or more people from two or more separate households regardless of 
how many floors are subject to mandatory licensing. 

 
These developments demonstrate the dynamic nature of housing and related 
policy in recent years and have been taken in to account and reflected in the 
Strategy. 

  
Key Facts – State of the District’s Housing 

 
3.2  This is the evidence base that has been collated and used to identify what our 

priorities should be and where the challenges and gaps are. Just as the 
Homelessness Review informed the Homelessness Strategy the State of the 
District has informed the draft Housing Strategy and is a public document published 
as a resource that partners and interested parties can refer to. The document can 
be found as Appendix D at 
https://www.cherwell.gov.uk/downloads/download/1329/housing-strategy-2018-
2011-consultation-documents 

 
3.3 A summary of key achievements under the previous strategy and a document 

setting out the strategic context for the new strategy can also be found on this 
webpage. 

 
Housing Strategy 2019 – 2024 : The Priorities 

 
3.4 We identified the following 3 high level priorities in consultation with the Lead 

Member, Housing and key internal and external partners. We also drew on the 
points raised by the 20 Councillors who attended a Member workshop about the 
Strategy on 9 October 2018. 

 
PRIORITY 1: Increase the supply and diversity of affordable housing to ensure the 
right types of housing are available in the right places. 

 
PRIORITY 2: Improve the quality and sustainability of our homes and build thriving, 
healthy communities  

 
PRIORITY 3: Enhance opportunities for residents to access suitable homes and 
have housing choices 

 
3.5 These priorities have been supported and accepted by the majority of consultees 

and we believe these are the right overarching priorities for the Strategy. 

Page 56

https://www.cherwell.gov.uk/downloads/download/1329/housing-strategy-2018-2011-consultation-documents
https://www.cherwell.gov.uk/downloads/download/1329/housing-strategy-2018-2011-consultation-documents


 
3.6 The Strategy expands on these priorities to describe what we are aiming to achieve 

and deliver. The action plan details the ‘how’ in 2019/20 and will be refreshed and 
monitored annually in recognition of the changing policy landscape, local authority 
structures and resources and key partnerships. 

 
3.7 We have made a number of changes to the detail of how we will deliver against 

these priorities, taking in to account what consultees have told us. 
 
  Consultation 
 
3.8 Following the draft Strategy being approved by the Executive on 3rd December 

2018 we consulted on the Strategy between 7th December 2018 and 25th January 
2019. This took the form of stakeholder meetings and a web based questionnaire. 
61 people commented through the website, 46 of whom were local residents. We 
held stakeholder events in January which were attended by 51 people and received 
many comments from the voluntary and community sector, RPs and county council 
colleagues in particular at these events. 48 people commented on the strategy via 
social media. 

 
3.9 Consultation responses are set out at appendix 3 with comments on how we have 

responded to these submissions. 
 
 Action Plan 
 
3.10 Attached at appendix 2 is the Action Plan 2019-20 for implementation of the 

Strategy. This will be refreshed annually. Although 92% of consultees support our 
priorities 46% did not agree that the actions would deliver the priorities. This might 
be a reflection of the ambitions within the Strategy and the fact that the action plan 
is focussed on year 1 of a 5 year strategy. In response to this we have tightened the 
action plan to ensure it is clearly linked to the priorities and deliverable within our 
resources. We recognise that the housing market is dynamic and affected by 
national policy, changes in the economy and Brexit. Therefore it is essential that we 
keep the action plan under review and adapt our plans when environmental factors 
affect the local housing situation. 

 
 
4.0 Conclusion  
 
4.1 The Housing Strategy is an important document in setting out the council’s 

ambitions and priorities against Housing which is a key Business Plan priority 
(relates directly to Business Plan priorities: Deliver Affordable Housing, Prevent 
Homelessness and Deliver Innovative and Effective Housing Schemes but also to 
wider priorities such as Promote Health and Wellbeing, Enhance Community 
Resilience and Support and Safeguard Vulnerable People). 

 
4.2 Consultation responses have given us important information about the role many of 

our partners are keen to play in helping us deliver the Strategy. Many respondents 
confirmed the challenges of delivering the volume of housing that our communities 
need at rents that are truly affordable and of a quality and accessibility that people 
have a right to expect. Many responses were about tackling homelessness and 
meeting the needs of vulnerable people. The challenge of providing the diversity of 
housing and support required within constrained budgets and in a housing market 

Page 57



where house prices are out of reach for the majority of people was raised by a 
number of respondents. Public sector partners raised the importance of responding 
to changing demographics and the diversity of housing we will need to deliver for 
older people and disabled adults in particular. Our partnership with Oxfordshire 
County Council is a crucial mechanism for this delivery and in addressing gaps in 
housing provision that affect particular groups e.g. care leavers. 

 
4.3 The Strategy is supported by an equalities impact assessment, attached at 

appendix 4. 
 
 

5.0  Implications 
 
 Financial and Resource Implications 
 
5.1 Delivery of the Housing Strategy requires significant investment of time and 

resource by the council.  
 
5.2 Decisions about specific projects and developments will need to be made, 

depending on the business case, throughout the lifetime of the Strategy. 
 
 Comments checked by: 

Denise Taylor, Group Accountant, 01295 221982 
denise.taylor@cherwellandsouthnorthants.gov.uk 

 
Legal Implications 

 
5.3 The Housing Strategy is not a statutory requirement but takes account of the 

relevant legislation regarding housing. 
 
 Comments checked by: 

Richard Hawtin, Team Leader – Non-contentious. 01295 221695, 
Richard.hawtin@cherwellandsouthnorthants.gov.uk  

 
 

7.0 Decision Information 
 
Wards Affected:  
 
All 
 
Links to Corporate Plan and Policy Framework 

 
Deliver Affordable Housing, Prevent Homelessness and Deliver Innovative and 
Effective Housing Schemes but also to wider priorities such as Promote Health and 
Wellbeing, Enhance Community Resilience and Support and Safeguard Vulnerable 
People 

 
Lead Councillor:   
 
Councillor John Donaldson, Lead Member for Housing 

 
 

Page 58

mailto:Richard.hawtin@cherwellandsouthnorthants.gov.uk


Document Information 
 
Appendix No Title 

1 Draft Housing Strategy 2019-24 

2 Action Plan 2019-20 

3 Consultation Responses 

4 Equalities Impact Assessment 

Background Papers 

None 

Report Author Gillian Douglas, Assistant Director: Social Care Commissioning 
and Housing 

Contact 
Information 

gillian.douglas@cherwellandsouthnorthants.gov.uk 

Telephone : 01295 221605 

 

Page 59

mailto:gillian.douglas@cherwellandsouthnorthants.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

Appendix 1  
 
 
REVISED DRAFT 
 
Cherwell District Council 
Housing Strategy 2019-2024 
 
‘Cherwell - A Place to Prosper’ 

Page 61



2 

 

Contents 
 

Foreword ............................................................................................................................... 3 

Introduction…………………………………………………………………………………………....4 

Key Achievements……………………………………………………………………………………5 

Strategic Context……………………………………………………………………………………..6 

People and Place……………………………………………………………………………………..7 

Housing Strategy Priorities 2018 – 2023.………………………………………………………….8 

Resources ........................................................................................................................... 16 

Consultation ........................................................................................................................ 18 

  

Page 62



3 

 

Foreword 

A safe and secure home that is suitable for our family is something we all have a right to. A 
home is essential and provides the foundation for everything we do – work, play, raising 
children, forming and maintaining relationships, participating in our community and building a 
good quality of life. Some of us will spend most of our time in our home as we get older and 
our health and care needs change.  All the more reason for our home to be a place of refuge 
and relaxation. 
 
This is the point of the Housing Strategy – to address the current and anticipated housing 
needs of people in our district and set out our priorities for improving access to affordable 
and suitable housing and for building healthy communities.  
 
In the strategy we are focussing on people but also recognising the importance of place. 
Housing exists in the context of places that people want to live in and we need to consider 
the wider infrastructure when developing, improving and allocating housing. This includes 
access to jobs, transport, shops, community facilities, green spaces and play parks. It means 
designing in opportunities for walking and cycling and for engagement with neighbours. It 
means living in a place that promotes good health, where the air is clean and where the 
housing is good quality and energy efficient.  
 
We want to enable and deliver new affordable housing but also address issues in the 
existing stock. The majority of homes in the district are in good condition but there is a 
significant number that are below acceptable standard, both private rented sector homes 
and owner occupied. We want to tackle this issue robustly by identifying the minority of bad 
landlords who take advantage of their tenants and against whom enforcement action is 
necessary. 
 
Much of what is in the strategy is aspirational and can only be delivered with our partners 
and with investment. Cherwell District Council aims to be forward thinking and is well placed 
to deliver given the track record of affordable housing development, the willingness to 
innovate and the strong partnership working.  Access to affordable housing is the second top 
priority for people in our district. We also have over a thousand low income households 
waiting for affordable housing. These facts together point to how proactive and relentless we 
need to be in the pursuit of new housing solutions. Housing is also at the top of the national 
agenda. At county level we are a lead authority in the delivery of housing through 
Oxfordshire Growth Deal. This sets a positive context for driving our ambitions forward and 
demonstrates the commitment we have to always doing the best for our communities. 
 
We look forward to working with partners and communities to deliver on our commitments 
and to making sure Cherwell is a place where people can prosper. 
 
Councillor John Donaldson, Lead Member Housing 
 

Page 63



4 

 

Introduction  
 
This Housing Strategy sets out Cherwell District Council’s plans for the housing service for 
the period 2019-2024.  The previous Housing Strategy was a combined Housing and 
Homelessness Strategy that covered the period 2012-2017.  This is a standalone Housing 
Strategy as we published a new Homelessness Strategy in July 2018, in recognition of the 
significant shift in homelessness legislation with the implementation of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017 (HRAct).   
 
Our 2019-2024 strategy has been shaped by national policy and local context and is 
informed by data and information about our local housing market.  A strong evidence base is 
essential to ensure that key strategic priorities and action plans are intelligence led.  A key 
source of evidence for this housing strategy is Cherwell District Council’s “State of the 
District’s Housing Report 2018”.  This strategy should be read in conjunction with this report.  
Other evidence for the strategy includes Oxfordshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
(SHMA) 2014, data from our internal housing register/housing advice and private sector 
housing databases and the Cherwell Local Plan 2015. 
 
In July 2017 we became a shared housing service with South Northamptonshire Council.  
However, local government reorganisation in Northamptonshire has prompted a termination 
in the partnership between Cherwell District Council and South Northamptonshire Council.  
There is currently a programme of work taking place that will culminate in the separation of 
the 2 councils. This programme is expected to be completed in mid-2019.  We have also 
formed a new partnership with Oxfordshire County Council and with effect from 1 October 
2018 we have a shared Chief Executive with the county council.  From January 2019 we 
have a shared Assistant Director for Housing and Social Care Commissioning. This 
arrangement is new and the strategy recognises that the relationship between the two 
organisations will grow and develop. There will be lots of opportunities to work together over 
the lifetime of the strategy to join up pathways and improve housing solutions for our 
residents.   
 
The Housing Strategy has three strategic priorities, these are: 

 Increase the supply and diversity of affordable housing to ensure the right types of 
housing are available in the right places 

 Improve the quality and sustainability of our homes and build thriving, healthy 
communities. 

 Enhance opportunities for people to access suitable homes and have housing 
choices 

 
Taking into account the level of change anticipated in national policy, the housing market, 
the local government sector and our communities we felt the housing strategy needed a 
degree of flexibility.  The structure of the strategy is unlikely to change over the course of its 
life and will remain focused on the 3 key themes. But we will review regularly with the aim of 
producing an annual action plan which will enable us to respond to the changing 
environment.  The action plan 2019-20 sets out year 1 delivery. 

Page 64



5 

 

Key Achievements  
 
Our key housing achievements over the course of our 2012-2017 strategy include: 
 

 Between April 2012 and March 2018 over 1,500 new affordable homes were 
provided in the district. Each year since 2014/15 we exceeded our target of enabling 
150 new affordable homes to be built per year; in 2017/18 this rose to 443. 
          

 We secured the Graven Hill Military Base site which will eventually provide up to 
1,900 homes. 72 units were completed by July 2018 of which 36 were self-build, 11 
were custom build and 25 were affordable housing. 

 

 Build!® have produced a total of 258 affordable homes including 65 self-build/ 
custom build or self-finish units and working with a developer to convert office space 
in Banbury into affordable rented accommodation for singles and couples. 

 

 We helped more than 640 disabled residents with Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) 
and a further 18 households via discretionary grants through our Home Improvement 
Agency. 
 

 We provided direct practical help to over 2,200 residents through our Small Repairs 
Service  

  

 We helped 1,058 vulnerable and older people with home improvements through 
discretionary grant funding 

 

 We concluded 708 statutory interventions including improvement notices (both formal 
and informal) and prohibition orders, and resolved serious health hazards in 581 
homes. 

 

 We have inspected 438 houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) to ensure appropriate 
standards are achieved and maintained. 

 

 77 home improvement grants were issued to bring private rented sector properties up 
to decent standard and these  were then let to local households in housing need at 
an affordable rent. 
 

 We worked with regional partners to secure total funding of £412k from the 
Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC); and were able to use £58k of 
this to improve 28 homes in the district. 

   

 We conducted a review and produced a new homelessness strategy and action plan 
for the period 2018-2020:  [https://www.cherwell.gov.uk/info/55/strategy-policy-and-
development/544/homelessness-review-and-strategy]. This will be actively monitored 
through the period. 

 
A full list of our achievements over the period 2012-2017 can be found on the council 
website.  

 

 

Page 65

https://www.cherwell.gov.uk/info/55/strategy-policy-and-development/544/homelessness-review-and-strategy
https://www.cherwell.gov.uk/info/55/strategy-policy-and-development/544/homelessness-review-and-strategy


6 

 

 3. Strategic Context  

Legislation and policies at a national, regional and local level have an impact on the content 
and delivery of the housing strategy.  There have been considerable changes to the national 
policy framework for both housing and planning since the last housing strategy document 
was produced in 2012.  The key legislation and policies that relate to the housing strategy 
are listed below:   
 

National  

 Welfare Reform Act 2012 

The Care Act 2014 

Housing and Planning Act 2016 

Welfare Reform Act 2016 

The Housing White Paper 2017 “Fixing our broken housing market” 

The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

The National Planning Policy Framework 2018 

The Social Housing Green Paper 2018 

The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Prescribed 
Description) (England) Order 2018 

Regional  

 Oxfordshire Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2015-2019 

Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal 2018 

Local  

 Cherwell District Council Business Plan 2018-2019 

 Homelessness Strategy 2018-2020 

 Cherwell District Council’s Tenancy Strategy 2017 

 Cherwell District Council’s Housing Allocations Scheme 2018 

 Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 

 
A summary of the key legislation and policies outlined is available on the council website. 
 
 

 

Page 66



7 

 

4. Cherwell – People & Place 

Cherwell district lies at the north-western edge of Oxfordshire.  It covers an area of 277 
square miles and includes the towns of Banbury and Bicester, Kidlington (a large village) 
and 72 smaller villages.  The M40 passes through the district and there are good rail 
connections to London and Birmingham.  Cherwell also has a close relationship with the 
world class university city of Oxford.  The city’s successful economy built around the 
universities and high tech industries and businesses combined with the attractiveness of the 
surrounding countryside make the county a highly desirable place to live which influences 
the housing market. 
 
Cherwell has an estimated population of 147,602 (2017).  Over 60% of residents live in one 
of the districts main urban centres, Banbury (32%), Bicester (21%) and Kidlington (9%), with 
the remainder living in the rural areas (38%).  The population is growing, it increased by 
0.7% in the last year, this is above the UK growth rate and the rate of population growth in 
Oxfordshire as a whole.  International migration does contribute to the increase in the 
population locally, however a key driver of population growth is in-migration from Oxford 
probably related to acute housing affordability issues in the City.  Cherwell is expected to 
continue to grow with the population forecast to be 203,900 in district by 2031. 
 
The district has a total of 66,693 dwellings, of which 66% are owner occupied, 22% private 
rented and 12% social housing.  The levels of home ownership and private renting in 
Cherwell are now ahead of national levels and the amount of social housing falling behind.  
The number of detached and semi-detached properties in the district is ahead of national 
averages whilst the number of terraced properties and flats is below. 
 
Although the majority of homes in the district are warm and safe a significant minority (11%) 
have serious hazards including risk of falls and being cold. 3% suffer from more general 
disrepair. There is also souble the proportion of homes with an ‘excess cold’ hazard than in 
England as a whole (6% compared to 3%). 
 
The life expectancy of people in Cherwell is higher than the national average and the district 
is expected to see a substantial increase in the older person population.  The age group that 
that will see the greatest increase is people over 85, with an increase of 142% resulting in a 
significant increase in the demand for accommodation that is suited to an older population 
and the need for associated care and support services.  The majority of our residents are in 
good health while 14.1% have a long term limiting health problem or disability (17.6% 
nationally).   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 67



8 

 

 
 

5. Housing Strategy Priorities 
 
Priority 1:   
Increase the supply and diversity of affordable housing to ensure 

the right types of housing are available in the right places 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
Why is this important?   
 

 We need 1,140 new homes in Cherwell per year until 2031 with 35% of this being 
affordable 

 

 We need to respond to diverse needs ranging from smaller homes for young people 
and people looking to downsize through to larger family homes 

 

 We have a growing population of older people whose housing needs need to be 
anticipated and planned for 
 

 Home ownership is out of reach for households on low and average incomes 
 

 Social rent is the only truly affordable housing option for many people and there is a 
lack of supply in this area 

 

 Cherwell has a strong track record of housing delivery and has exceeded new build 
targets. But the market on its own does not deliver the volume and range of 
affordable products that our communities need 

 

 New build housing has been concentrated in the main towns of Banbury and Bicester 
and there is a need to increase delivery of affordable housing in rural areas of the 
district 
 

 We have also committed to helping Oxford city meet its need for 1,400 new homes 

per year  

 
 
 

Our objectives are to: 
1.1  Understand the need for the full range of affordable and specialist housing in the 
 district, including type, tenure and location 
1.2  Deliver a range of affordable homes that meet the needs of local residents and 
 workers 
1.3  Work in partnership with private developers, registered providers and local 
 landowners to gain greater control over the delivery of housing, including new 
 affordable housing 
1.4  Maximise and make best use of financial assets and resources, including those of 
 the Council, Registered Providers and Homes England, to deliver affordable housing 
 in the district 
 
 

Page 68



9 

 

What we plan to do 
 
1.1 Understand the need for the full range of affordable and specialist housing in the 
district, including type, tenure and location 
 

 Improve our understanding of specific housing needs by drawing on our own internal 
data and intelligence and that of our partners 
 

 Work with parish councils, community groups and residents in rural parts of the 
district to identify and respond to housing needs in the villages 

 

 Join up with Oxfordshire County Council and health partners to understand and 
respond to the current and future housing needs of older people and other vulnerable 
groups that require specialist housing e.g. people with learning disabilities 

 

 Ensure that the development of new housing contributes to vibrant and sustainable 
town centres 

 

 Ensure that we listen to the people whose housing needs we are trying to meet by  
consulting and checking back that we are delivering the right types of housing 

 
1.2 Deliver a range of affordable homes that meet the needs of local residents and 
workers 
 

 Explore the viability of delivering homes for social rent within new developments 
 

 Increase the supply and uptake of affordable housing for keyworkers 
 

 Diversify the provision of affordable housing through innovation and partnership 
working i.e. shared ownership, self-build, custom build and community-led schemes 

 

 Ensure that the delivery of new housing is supported by and integrated with 
community facilities, businesses and employment, schools, transport and health and 
other services  

 

 Work alongside landowners and house builders, including the University of Oxford,  
to develop affordable housing on allocated sites for households and key workers 
from Oxford with unmet housing need 
 

 Contribute to the Oxfordshire Growth Deal programme to ensure affordable housing 
targets are met 

 

 Work with existing Cherwell residents and partners to ensure the housing needs of 
expanding communities are met as well as the needs of Oxford residents 

 

 Workn within Local Plan parameters to increase the delivery of affordable housing 
within rural areas where unaffordability and the constraints on development are often 
a challenge 

 
1.3 Work in partnership with private developers, registered providers, landowners and 
local communities to gain greater control over the delivery of housing, including new 
affordable housing 
 

Page 69



10 

 

 Continue to seek the maximum amount of affordable housing when negotiating with 
developers on new schemes1 

 

 Take a more proactive approach to working with registered providers to encourage 
them to come forward with land-led development proposals 

 

 Work closely with Homes England and other partners to pursue and bring forward 
public sector land for development 

 

 Explore the potential for the council to take a lead role in land assembly 
 

 Undertake social value assessments to enable decisions to be made about whether 
council land should be disposed of at or below market value – for the development of 
housing including affordable housing 

 
1.4 Maximise and make best use of financial assets and resources, including those of 
the Council, Registered Providers and Homes England, to deliver affordable housing 
in the district 
 

 Work with Build!2, registered providers and community led developers to maximise 
grant funding that can be used for affordable housing development, including homes 
for social rent 

 

 Raise the profile of our affordable housing needs and ambitions with Homes England 
in order to maximise the amount of funding we can access from the Shared 
Ownership and Affordable Homes Programme 2016-21 

 

 Identify land in our ownership that can be considered for affordable housing 
development  

 

 Lever Oxfordshire Growth Deal funding to support housing delivery in Cherwell 
 

 Review our internal resources and structures to ensure we have the expertise and 
capacity in place to deliver on our affordable housing ambitions 

 
   
 
 
                       

                                                           
1
 Local Plan affordable housing requirements are 30% in Banbury and Bicester and 35% in the rest of the 

district 

2
 Build! is Cherwell District Council’s in-house housing development and management company 

Page 70



11 

 

Priority 2:  
Improve the quality and sustainability of our homes and build 
thriving, healthy communities 
 
Improve the quality and sustainability of our homes and build 
thriving, healthy communities 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Why is this important? 

 

 An estimated 11% (6,638 dwellings) owner occupied and private rented dwellings a 
serious health hazard as defined by the Housing Health and Safety Rating System 
 

 Our owner occupied and private rented dwellings have a lower energy efficiency rating 
than the national average 

 

 Just over 900 (6.2%) private rented dwellings in the district are estimated to have an 
Energy Performance Certificate rating below band E.  This is below the rating now 
required, for a landlord to grant a new tenancy to new or existing tenants 

 

 It is estimated that 8% of all households (over 3,000 owner-occupied households and 
1,777 private rented households) experience fuel poverty, which is lower than the 
national average of 11% of households. The highest concentrations of fuel poverty are 
in the rural areas of our district 

 

 As of March 2018 there were 495 properties that had been empty for more than six 
months 

 

 Due to new licensing requirements the number of licensable HMOs has increased from 
84 to an estimated 431 

 

 Oxfordshire is expected to see a substantial increase in the population of older people 
with the total number of people aged 55 and over expected to increase by 49% over 
20 years 

 

 Older people are more likely to live in owner-occupied and social rented 
accommodation than the private rented sector 

 

 22% of households in Cherwell include someone with a long term health problem or 
disability 

 

 There is a correlation between age and long term health conditions or disability with 
83% of persons aged 85 or older having a disability 

Our objectives are to: 
2.1  Improve the energy efficiency of the housing stock and reduce fuel poverty for low 

income and vulnerable households 
2.2 Support residents to have a suitable home where they can live independently 
2.3 Ensure the efficient use of the housing stock and maximise opportunities to meet 

housing needs 
2.4 Improve the quality of new homes and the existing housing stock 
2.5 Ensure effective enforcement action is taken to improve unsatisfactory rented 

accommodation 
2.6 Demonstrate a corporate commitment to sustainable, healthy and thriving 

communities 
 

Page 71



12 

 

 

 There is an evidenced need for a diverse range of supported housing including 
learning disabilities, people with physical disabilities and vulnerable young people 
including young parents 

 

 The district is going through a period of high growth, with this rate of increase we must 
ensure the community infrastructure is in place to support sustainable communities 

 

 Where we have achieved impact with our existing programmes we have the 
opportunity to expand on this good practice e.g. Graven Hill, Bicester Healthy New 
Town and Bicester Eco Town 

 

 There is growing evidence that significant benefits for local people can be achieved by 
joining up the planning of housing, infrastructure and the economy with planning for 
residents’ health and wellbeing 

 
 
What we plan to do 
 
2.1 Improve the energy efficiency of the housing stock and reduce fuel poverty for low 
income and vulnerable households 
 

 Increase awareness of council services and initiatives in relation to warm homes, 
energy efficiency and retro-fit technologies 
 

 Work in a coordinated way with local health partners to ensure residents in most 
need receive support to make their homes warmer (making every contact count) 

 
2.2 Support residents to have a suitable home where they can live independently 
 

 Continue to support and meet the demand for adaptations to assist older and 
disabled people to remain living independently in their own homes 

 

 Support the delivery of new build adapted properties 
 

 Provide supported housing as identified through Oxfordshire County Council's 
commissioning plans for Adult’s and Children’s Services 
 

 Promote use of technology to enable disabled and older people to live independently 
 

 Deliver the Government’s Vulnerable Persons Relocation Scheme in Cherwell 
 
2.3 Ensure the efficient use of the housing stock and maximise opportunities to meet 
housing needs 
 

 Reduce the number of empty properties in the district, including refurbishment of flats 
above shops and conversion of commercial space to residential.  

 
2.4 Improve the quality of new homes and the existing housing stock 
 

 Improve conditions in the private rented sector by implementing actions arising from 
HMO licencing responsibilities, our formal and informal enforcement interventions 
and our grant and loan work 

Page 72



13 

 

 
Increase our enforcement profile and interventions so that non-compliant landlords do not 
profit from providing poor quality accommodation 

 

 Take a leadership role to influence developers and demonstrate that increased 
standards in new build housing are deliverable  

 
2.5 Demonstrate a corporate commitment to sustainable, healthy and thriving 
communities 
 

 Identify key partnerships that require housing representation and influence to deliver 
healthy communities, including establishment of a Cherwell Housing Board 
 

 Increase corporate coordination in relation to housing activities across the council 
 

 Implement a framework of engagement with RP partners to deliver thriving, healthy 
communities 

 

 Adopt a corporate approach to commissioning services to support sustainable 
communities 
 

 Use the learning from Bicester Healthy New Town to roll out new approaches to 
promoting health and wellbeing and tackling deprivation in other parts of the district 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 73



14 

 

 
Priority 3:  
Enhance opportunities for residents to access suitable homes and 
have housing choices. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Why is this important? 

 

 Cherwell is a high growth area and the demand for housing is unlikely to subside in 

the foreseeable future 

 

 Our customer base is expanding with more households, including working 

households, needing advice and help to access housing. This is because household 

income has not kept up with house prices and market rents in the private rented 

sector 

 

 Housing Options services have traditionally worked with vulnerable people and those 

threatened with homelessness. As more households experience affordability issues 

with housing we need to offer advice to a wider group of people  

 

 Housing needs outweigh supply of social and affordable rented housing so we need 

to widen the housing options on offer, this could include self-build opportunities at 

Graven Hill, shared ownership, rooms in shared houses and private rented sector 

properties  

 

 The need for keyworker housing is high across the county, particularly for those 
working in Oxford city, and the Housing Options service needs to reflect this 

 
What we plan to do 

 

3.1 Provide an enhanced Housing Options service  
 

 Provide a Housing Options service that responds to the diversity of need 
 

 Promote a personalised approach which helps customers identify housing solutions 
that will meet their needs and aspirations   

 

 Support customers to make positive and realistic choices about the type of housing 
they want to live in 

 

 Ensure staff have the skills and training to offer good quality advice 
 

Our objectives are to: 
3.1  Provide an enhanced housing options service 
3.2  Keep the Allocations Scheme under review to ensure it meets housing needs 
3.3  Increase opportunities for people to access low cost home ownership and good 

 quality private rented accommodation 

Page 74



15 

 

 Ensure that good quality information on the housing opportunities in the district is 
made available across a range of media including comprehensive information on the 
web 

 

 Increase opportunities to work with partner organisations to ensure residents get 
good quality housing advice when they need it  
 

3.2 Keep the Allocations Scheme under review to ensure it meets housing needs 
 

 Review our Allocations Scheme to ensure it continues to meet the needs of our 
communities 
 

3.3 Increase opportunities for people to access low cost home ownership and good 
quality private rented accommodation 
 

 Improve our relationships with the local private rented sector to increase innovation 
and support development of  the market 

 

 Work with Graven Hill to review the self-build mortgage pilot and establish how this 
and other council-led initiatives can help local people choose self and custom build to 
meet their housing needs 

 

 Broaden the housing choices for older people including co-housing, shared 
ownership and smaller homes for open market sale3 

                                                           
3
 In line with the Older People’s Strategy ‘Living Longer, Living Better’ – Oxfordshire Health and Wellbeing 

Board 

Page 75



16 

 

 6. Resources 
 
The resources available to deliver the housing strategy in Cherwell are as follows: 
 
Council Resources 
 
Staff Resources - The main staff resource is the Housing Team which consists of: 

 The Housing Development and Strategy Team  

 The Housing Options Service – focused on homelessness, providing general housing 
advice and maintaining the Council’s housing register 

 The Private Sector Housing Team  
 

We will draw on officer time and expertise from other teams within the council as well 
including Build!, the Bicester Team, Planning Policy and Development Management, 
Transformation Team, Property and Investment Team and Communities Team.  We will also 
consider the potential for council-owned land and other assets to be used to help meet local 
housing needs. 
 
We are also sharing resource with Oxfordshire County Council at Assistant Director level to 
enable us to deliver our joint housing priorities and deliver better housing outcomes for older 
people, disabled people and other vulnerable groups. 
 
Commuted Sums - Off-site contributions in lieu of affordable housing are provided by 
developers in exceptional circumstances where affordable housing is not provided on site.  
In these circumstances developers are required to pay a commuted sum which can then be 
used as an additional source of funding for affordable housing delivery. 
 
New Homes Bonus - New Homes Bonus (NHB) is a grant paid by Central Government to 
local authorities to incentivise housing growth in their areas.  Under the scheme Central 
Government matches the council tax raised on new build homes, conversions and long term 
empty homes brought back into use.  The development of each additional affordable home 
attracts an enhancement of £350 per annum (over the period which the NHB is payable).  
Local authorities are not obliged to use the funding for housing purposes but we have set the 
enhanced payments (£350 per property per annum) aside to fund new affordable homes or 
services. 
 
Private Sector Housing Grants and Loans 
The Council received Disabled Facilities Grant funding of £1.012 million from the Better Care 
Fund (a programme seeking to join up health and care services) for 2018-19 and expects a 
similar or increased level of funding in future years.  Alongside this there is a proposed 
budget of £150,000 in 2019-20 for discretionary private sector housing grants (including 
essential repairs, energy efficiency and landlord home improvement grants).  We also have 
access to loan funding for improvements to private sector housing as we are members of 
Flexible Home Improvement Loans Limited.  
 
Partners’ Resources 
In order to enable the delivery of new affordable housing we work in partnership with 
Registered Providers, who use their staff time to facilitate new development and invest their 
own financial resources to fund new build affordable housing.  They also provide resources 
such as staff time to manage housing stock in our district and staff time and financial 
investment in community development activities.    
 
Growth Deal 

Page 76



17 

 

In March 2018 the Oxfordshire Authorities were successful in securing Housing and Growth 
Deal funding of up to £215 million from the Government to support the delivery of around 
100,000 new homes across Oxfordshire between 2011 and 2031.  This includes £60 million 
to deliver additional affordable housing and £150 million to deliver the infrastructure needed 
to accelerate the delivery of 100,000 homes across the County by 2031, both market and 
affordable.  We wish to maximise the amount of funding from this source into the district.  
Currently £3,250,000 is allocated for 106 affordable housing units to be provided in Cherwell.   
  
Homes England Funding 
In April 2016 bidding was opened to the Homes England Shared Ownership and Affordable 
Homes Programme (SOAHP) 2016 to 2021.  Initial allocations of capital grant for new 
affordable housing schemes were announced in January 2017 but this did not allocate the 
total budget, with £1.3 billion remaining available.  This is being allocated through 
Continuous Market Engagement together with a share of the £1.4 billion announced in the 
Autumn Statement for new affordable homes outside London.  In addition, in June 2018, an 
addendum to the SOAHP prospectus was published. This addendum invited bids against the 
available funding for a range of housing tenures, including social rent, which had previously 
not been funded. 
 
Other Funding 
There are additional sources of funding allocated to the council specifically for homeless 
work. These include:  
Homelessness Prevention Grant - Central Government gives local housing authorities 
funding for homelessness prevention work (Homelessness Prevention Grant) within the 
council’s wider local government settlement.  This funding has been used by the Housing 
Team to support a range of community and voluntary sector groups to provide services 
within the district that are focused on supporting the prevention of homelessness.  For 
example, the provision of drop in centres for people who are homeless or unsuitably housed, 
outreach and verification for rough sleepers and outreach for low to medium level victims of 
domestic abuse. The Homelessness Prevention Grant allocation for Cherwell District Council 
is as follows: 

Homelessness Prevention Grant 

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

£99,869 £100,211   £100,712 

 
Flexible Homelessness Support Grant - The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) also provides Flexible Homelessness Support Grant (FHSG) to local 
housing authorities.   FHSG is paid to local housing authorities as a grant and can be used in 
any way a local authority sees fit, to better manage temporary accommodation pressures.  
The grant is ring-fenced for activities to prevent and deal with homelessness.  

Flexible Homelessness Support Grant Allocation 

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

£178,538 £205,425 £265,225 

 
Homelessness Reduction Act: New Burdens Funding - The government is providing funding 
to local authorities to help meet the new burdens costs associated with the additional duties 
contained within the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017.  The local authority allocations 
cover: 2017/18; 2018/19; and 2019/20 and Cherwell District Council will receive the 
following: 
 

Homelessness Reduction Act:  New Burdens Funding 

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 Total Allocation 

£47,246 £43,277 £45,747 £136,270 

Page 77



18 

 

 
In addition, to the above, all local housing authorities were allocated £9,200 as a one-off 
payment towards new ICT costs in relation to the new legislation.  We used this money to 
pay for new homelessness ICT software. 

7. Consultation  

We consulted on the draft strategy for 7 weeks from December 2018 – January 2019.   

 
We held a consultation event with Elected Members and our Portfolio Holder in October 
2018, and have consulted widely with the public, internal stakeholders, public and voluntary 
sector partners and registered providers on the production of this revised version. 
 
We consulted with partners as the strategy was being developed. Specific partners have 
also contributed data and verified findings as relevant.  
 
Comments 
 
We welcome and comments or queries about this strategy. Please send them to: 
 
Housing Development and Strategy Team 
Cherwell District Council 
Bodicote House 
Bodicote 
Banbury  
OX15 4AA 
 
Email: housing@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 

 

 
  
  

 

Page 78



 

1 

 

 

Appendix 2 : CDC Housing Strategy Annual Action Plan:  2019-2020 

Priority 1: Increase the supply and diversity of affordable housing to ensure the right types of homes are available in the 

right places 

Action Target Responsibility Key Partners Resources Required Deadline 

1.1 Understand the need for the full range of affordable and specialist housing in the district, including type, tenure & location. 

1.1.1 Ensure new affordable housing 
is in line with local needs 

Complete research and 
prepare a report on the 
affordability of rented housing 
defined as ‘affordable’  

HS&PT RPs Officer time June 2019 

Complete 4 parish level 
housing needs surveys 

HS&PT Parish councils Officer time March 2020 

P
age 79



 

2 

 

Identify and deliver actions to 
help inform and deliver 
Oxfordshire’s housing related 
strategies, including :1) 
Strategy for Delivering an 
Increased Supply of Housing 
for Adults with Care and 
Support Needs, 2) Housing 
and Homeless Needs Analysis 
for Vulnerable Young People 
and Families 2019-2024, 3) 
Extra-Care Housing (ECH) 
Market Position Statement 

HS&PT Oxfordshire 
County Council 

Officer time June 2019 

Recommission supported 
housing for homeless 
households in Cherwell 

HS&PT Oxfordshire 
County Council, 
district and city 
councils 

Officer time September 
2019 

Re-commission the Young 
Peoples Pathway and Adult 
Homeless Pathway 

HS&PT Oxfordshire 
councils 

Officer time, Housing 
budget 

March 2020 

Update the State of the 
District’s Housing Report 

HS&PT -- Officer time December 
2019 

1.1.2 Increase data collection using 
the Council’s and partners’ internal 
databases 

Review Housing Register 
application form to capture 
strategic information on 
housing needs to inform the 
new build affordable housing 
programme 

HOT Abritas Officer time and 
approved capital 
budget for 
improvements to 
Abritas housing IT 
system.  

April 2019 

1.2 Deliver a range of affordable homes that meet the needs of local residents and workers. 

1.2.1 Broaden the range of new 
affordable housing delivered 

Deliver at least 407 new 
affordable homes including 10 
social rented units 

HS&PT RPs Officer time & housing 
budgets 

March 2020 

Develop a proposal for a 
‘Living Rent’ housing product 

HS&PT Build! Officer time June 2019 

P
age 80



 

3 

 

Start on site at Admiral Holland 
to build 14 affordable homes (7 
affordable rent & 7 shared 
ownership) 

Build! -- Build! Team staff & 
financial resources. 

April 2019 

Establish a formal 
commissioner/delivery vehicle 
relationship between CDC as 
strategic housing authority and 
Graven Hill Development 
Company 

HS&PT Graven Hill Officer time Ongoing 

1.2.2 Work with other Oxfordshire 
local authorities to deliver housing to 
meet Oxford’s unmet need 

Work with planning policy team 
to review effectiveness of 
planning policies to deliver 
community facilities to meet 
the needs of Kidlington 

Planning Policy 
Team, Build! and 
HS&PT 

-- Officer time March 2020 

Prepare proposals for the 
allocation of affordable 
housing on sites designated to 
meet Oxford’s unmet need 

HS&PT and 
Planning Policy 
Team 

Other Oxfordshire 
local authorities 

Officer time June  2019 

1.2.3 Increase the delivery of rural 
exception sites to enhance the 
affordable housing choice within rural 
areas 

Prepare a business case for 
Development capacity to take 
forward Growth Deal delivery 
and rural development 
potential 

HS&PT Finance Team Officer time April 2019 

Start on site at Ardley to build 
13 affordable homes on a rural 
exceptions site (7 affordable 
rent & 6 shared ownership) 

HS&PT Waterloo 
Housing, 
Development 
Management 
Team & Homes 
England 

Officer time, RP 
finance, Homes 
England/Growth Deal 
funding 

April 2019 

1.3 Maximise and make best use of financial assets and resources, both council and Registered Providers, to deliver more affordable 
 housing in the district. 

1.3.1 Use council assets for the 
delivery of affordable housing where 
appropriate 

Complete a review of council-
owned land in the district to 
establish which sites have 
potential for housing delivery 
to meet local housing needs 

HS&PT Property & 
Investment Team 
and Build! 

Officer time June 2019 

P
age 81



 

4 

 

1.3.2 Play an active and lead role on 
the Growth Board and in partnership 
with Homes England to maximise 
funding for additional affordable 
homes 

Deliver Cherwell affordable 
housing commitments and 
work with the partnership to 
meet county wide targets, 
linking with wider Growth Deal 
delivery (productivity, 
infrastructure, wider housing 
and the JSSP) 

AD, Housing and 
Social Care 
Commissioning 

Other Oxfordshire 
local authorities, 
RPs, developers 

Officer time, Growth 
Deal monies 

March 2020 

1.4 Work in partnership with registered provider partners, private developers and local landowners to accelerate delivery of housing, 
 including new affordable homes 

1.4.1 Support community led 
development 

 
 

Work with HNLC to assess the 
viability and social value of a 
community led development in 
Hook Norton 

HS&PT HNLC Officer time, strategic 
housing budget  

March 2020 

P
age 82



 

5 

 

Priority 2: Improve the quality and sustainability of our homes and build thriving, healthy communities 

 
Actions Target Responsibility 

and partners 
Resources Required Target 

 Date 

2.1 Improve the energy efficiency of the housing stock and reduce fuel poverty for low income and vulnerable households 

2.1.1  Increase awareness of council 
services and initiatives in relation to 
warm homes, energy efficiency and 
retro-fit technologies 
 

Work with the National Energy Foundation to 
promote awareness of grants and help available to 
make homes more energy efficient and tackle fuel 
poverty  
 

PSHT/ NEF Officer time June 2019 
 
 

Ensure that every contact with vulnerable households 
is used to assess fuel poverty and energy efficiency 
issues 
 

PSHT Officer time  June 2019 

Reshape the council’s service specification for the 
debt and money advice contract to include 
signposting and referrals to the Private Sector 
Housing team, Better Housing, Better Health and 
advice on switching utility companies  
 

AD, Housing 
and Social Care 
Commissioning 

Officer time Sept 2019 

Support the Low Carbon Hub and National Energy 
Foundation to continue developing the Oxfordshire 
Retro-fit project  
 

PSHT Officer time Ongoing 

2.2 Support all residents to have a suitable home where they can live independently 
 

P
age 83



 

6 

 

2.2.1 Continue to support and meet 
the demand for adaptations to assist 
older and disabled people to remain 
living independently in their own 
homes 

Complete at least: 

 160 disabled facility grants 

 140 Minor Works adaptations  

 Provide Small Repairs assistance to 250 
qualifying households for 250 vulnerable 
households 

Maximise the use of the DFG budget for the benefit 
of older an disabled residents by improving the 
process for assessments and commissioning of 
works. 

PSHT/Oxfordshi
re County 
Council 

Officer time  
DFG Budget 
Minor works budget 
Small repairs budget 

March 2020 

2.2.2 Support the delivery of new 
build adapted properties 

Complete  a review of the use of DFG finance to fund 
new build adapted properties 
 

HS&PT Officer time June 2019 

Complete a review of lifetime homes delivery and 

usage  

HS&PT Officer time Sept 2019 

Develop a proposal for a Cherwell Adapted Standard HS&PT Officer time/ 
Operational budgets 
 

Sept 2019 

2.2.3 Provide supported housing as 
identified through the Oxfordshire 
County Council's commissioning plans 
for Adult & Children’s Services 

Support OCC to decommission shared 
accommodation for people with learning disabilities 
and work in partnership with Sanctuary Housing to 
provide 6 units of self-contained supported housing 
for people with learning disabilities 
 

HS&PT & 
Sanctuary 
Housing, OCC 

Officer time March 2020 

2.2.4 Support the government’s 
Vulnerable Persons Relocation 
Scheme  
 

Resettle a further 6 Syrian refugee households HS&PT, 
Connection 
Support, faith 
groups, Home 
Office 

Officer time 
VPRS funding  

March 2020 

2.3 Ensure the efficient use of the housing stock and maximise opportunities to meet housing needs 

2.3.1 Reduce the number of empty 
homes in the district 

Take informal and formal action to bring at least 10 

long-term empty homes back into use 

PSHT Officer time March 2020 

P
age 84



 

7 

 

Deliver at least 4 new units of housing in the town 
centres by converting commercial space to 
residential and/or refurbishing flats above shops and 
explore the scope for more conversions  
 

Build! Officer time 
£350K New Homes 
Bonus and Build! 
funding 

March 2020 

2.4 Improve the quality of new homes and the existing housing stock 

2.4.1 Improve conditions in the private 
rented sector 

Implement actions arising from HMO licencing 

responsibilities:  

- Proactively identify HMOs that should be 

licensed under the new regulations 

- Review management standards in at least 

150 HMOs 

- Monitor impact of new legislation 

PSHT Officer time March 2020 

Improve at least: 

 100 premises through formal and informal 

enforcement interventions  

 20 premises through grant and loan work 

 

PSHT Officer time March 2020 

2.4.2 Take a leadership role to 
demonstrate that increased standards 
in new build housing are deliverable  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Work in partnership with A2Dominion to continue 
data collection and monitoring on travel patterns, 
energy, water use and waste generation at North 
West Bicester (NWB)   
 

Bicester Team Officer time  Ongoing  

Work in partnership with other Oxfordshire councils 
to develop an evidence base on sustainability and 
deliverability of higher standards for new build 
properties 
 

Bicester Team Officer time March 2020 

P
age 85



 

8 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepare a CDC Affordable Housing Standard Guide 
 

Build! and 
HS&PT 

Officer time  March 2020 

2.5 Demonstrate a corporate commitment to sustainable, healthy and thriving communities 

2.5.1 Identify key partnerships that 
require housing representation and 
influence to deliver healthy 
communities 
 

Complete an audit of partnerships and agree 
representation 

HS&PT Officer time April 2019 

2.5.2  Increase corporate coordination 
in relation to housing activities across 
the council 

Establish a Housing Board within CDC Assistant 
Director,Transfo
rmation Team, 
HS&PT, PSHT, 
Build!, Bicester 
Team 

Officer time June 2019 

2.5.3 Implement a new framework of 
engagement with RP partners to 
deliver thriving, healthy communities 

Meet regularly with RPs to plan housing delivery and 

the development of healthy communities, working in 

partnership and through Growth Deal 

AD, Housing 
and Social Care 
Commissioning 

Officer time April 2019 

2.5.4 Adopt a corporate approach to 
commissioning services to support 
sustainable communities 

Complete mapping exercise of ‘whole’ council 
investment in Cherwell communities 

HS&PT & 
Communities 
Team, OCC 

Officer time October 
2019 

Develop common monitoring approach to council 
grants/contracts for work supporting communities in 
Cherwell 

HS&PT & 
Communities 
Team 

Officer time October 
2019 

P
age 86



 

9 

 

Priority 3: Enhance opportunities for people to access suitable homes and have housing choices 

 
Action Target Responsibility Key Partners Resources Required Deadline 

3.1 Provide an enhanced Housing Options service 

3.1.1 Increase staff awareness of the 
range of housing options available 

Train all housing and customer 
services staff on all forms of 
housing available, including 
briefings, site visits and team 
meetings 

 

HS&PT Housing Options 
and PSHT, 
Graven Hill, Help 
to Buy, Build!, 
Bicester Team 

Officer Time Ongoing  

3.1.2 Increase customer awareness of  
the range of  housing options available 
 
 

Improve information available 
through the website and other 
media 

HS&PT Housing Options 

and PSHT, 

Graven Hill, Help 

to Buy, Build!, 

Bicester Team 

Officer Time Ongoing 

Develop a business case for a 
pilot post to help older people 
make timely and  positive 
choices to move to appropriate 
accommodation 
 

HS&PT and 
PSHT 

OCC Officer time Sept 2019 

Ensure Community Connect 
Navigator is fully aware of 
housing options and legal 
remedies through attendance 
at team meetings and possible 
co-location with  HOT and 
PSHT 
 

Communities 
Team, HOT, 
PSHT, 

 Officer Team April 2019 

P
age 87



 

10 

 

3.1.3 Improve access to the Housing 
Options service 

Implement an online housing 
application form 

HS&PT  Officer time and 
approved capital 
funding 

April 2019 

Prepare a business case for 
an enhanced housing options 
portal  

HS&PT  Officer time April 2019 

3.1.4 Deliver personalised advice on 
the full range of suitable housing 
options available in the district 

Complete a review of the 
housing advice ‘offer’ to 
customers to fully incorporate 
shared ownership, self-build, 
rent to buy, and all rented 
tenures 

HOT  Officer time  June 2019 

3.2 Keep the Allocation Scheme under review to ensure it meets housing needs  

3.2.1 Review the Housing Allocations 
policy  

 

Complete Allocations Policy 
annual Health Check 

HS&PT and HOT  Officer time  June 2019 

Prepare a report including  
summary of Health Check 
findings and recommended 
amendments to policy 

HS&PT and HOT  Officer time  June 2019 

3.2.2 Promote the most efficient use of 

existing adapted social housing stock. 

Review Allocation scheme to 

make best use of adapted 

properties for disabled and 

older people 

 

HS&PT and HOT PSHT Officer time Dec 2019 

3.3 Increase opportunities for people to access low cost home ownership and good quality private rented accommodation 

P
age 88



 

11 

 

3.3.1 Increase the provision of private 
rented sector accommodation through 
various means including council-led 
initiatives and establishing a dialogue 
with investment landlords 

Meet with RPs to establish 
their appetite and capacity to 
deliver  secure high quality 
private rented accommodation. 
 

HS&PT RPs Officer time  March 2020 

Review Cherwell Bond 
Scheme to incentivise more 
PRS landlords to let their 
properties at Local Housing 
Allowance rates 

HS&PT RPs Officer time March 2020 

Complete a feasibility study of 
options for council-led 
development of private rented 
accommodation 

HS&PT  Officer time March 2020 

 Look for partners either private 
sector landlords or RPs who 
could deliver affordable shared 
accommodation for under 35's  

HOT RPs, PRS 
landlords 

Officer time March 2020 

3.3.2 Provide wider opportunities for 
people to access self-build as a 
housing option 

Review the 2018 pilot for  self-
build mortgages and build on 
lessons learnt  
 

Transformation 
Team and lenders 

Graven Hill Officer time Dec 2019 

Develop links with local 
community led housing groups 
to identify the potential for 
delivery of community led and 
co-housing schemes in the 
district 

HS&PT Community 
groups 

Officer time Ongoing 

HS&PT : Housing Strategy and Partnerships Team 

HOT : Housing Options Team 

PSHT : Private Sector Housing Team 

OCC : Oxfordshire County Council 

P
age 89



 

12 

 

RP : registered provider 

DFG : Disabled Facilities Grant 

P
age 90



1 
 

Appendix 3 - HOUSING STRATEGY CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

 

DATE 
 

RECEIVED FROM ISSUES RESPONSE/ACTIONS 

3/12/2018 Cherwell District 
Council  – (Bicester 
Healthy New Town 
Programme Director) 

Page 12 Section 2.1 – I think there is an opportunity to link up 
the work Cherwell District Council undertakes to increase 
awareness of initiatives to promote warm, energy efficient 
homes with the National Health Service.  Can I suggest that you 
add : working in a co-ordinated way with local health partners to 
ensure that residents who are most in need are able to access 
appropriate support.  
Page 12 Section 2.21 - I suggest that you add an additional 
bullet point which states: - Increase use of technology to enable 
older people to live independently  
Page 13 Section 2.5 - The last bullet point refers to using the 
learning from Bicester Healthy New Town.  I would suggest that  
we need to articulate how housing can support the development 
of healthy communities by:- 

 Providing residents with a secure home that they can afford 

 Having a home that is healthy (warm, dry, and safe) 

 Developing a mix of attractive housing options that support 
ageing well and which enable residents to feel connected to 
their community 

 Supporting the energy efficiency of homes in order to 
reduce the consequences of fuel poverty 

 
Page 15 Section 3.3 - You state the need to broaden housing 
choices for older people – you may wish to reference the Older 
People’s Strategy Living Longer, Living Better produced for 
Oxfordshire’s Health & Wellbeing Board. 
 

 Broader options would also be of benefit to millennials. 

Agreed – added at 2.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Added : ‘Promote use of 
technology to enable 
disabled and older 
people to live 
independently’ 
 
 
We believe we have 
covered this in section 2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Reference added 

P
age 91



2 
 

Awareness of how hard it is to get on the ‘housing ladder’ is 
very high and I think we need to specifically refer to the 
needs of 20-30 year olds in the strategy 
 

31/12/2018 Deddington Parish 
Council 

As a matter of top priority Cherwell District Council should be 
applying for government funds - as grants or loans - that have 
recently been promised to local authorities that are building their 
own affordable housing. 
 
At present it is very difficult to get on the Cherwell District Council 
housing register. To live in unsatisfactory accommodation, or with 
parents, and have a low income is not sufficient - you have to be in 
fairly desperate circumstances to qualify. This means people have 
to pay often unreasonably high rents to private landlords - often for 
less than ideal accommodation - and the council subsidises the 
landlord by contributing housing benefit. 
 
Provision for homeless people is clearly hopelessly inadequate in 
Cherwell district, as elsewhere in the country - and has got worse. 
 
How much better to build and own housing yourself as a council, 
charge a genuinely affordable rent, receive the income yourselves 
and use it for repaying loans, maintenance of existing stock or 
building new housing.  
 
I notice part of the action plan is to identify council-owned land. 
Clearly this would make building new developments yourselves 
much more economic if you didn't have to buy land. 
 
If council-owned housing were much more widely available, it 
would probably drive down rents in the private sector, and reduce 
the need for housing benefit. 
 
In your action plan you speak of focusing on particular housing 
needs - for the elderly and the young, for example. If you are 

Acknowledgement 
02/01/2018 
Agreed - we access 
Homes England funding 
for our own 
developments of 
affordable housing 
through Build! and via 
the Oxfordshire Housing 
and Growth Deal. 
 
Housing register – we 
have 1,000 households 
on the register and it is 
open to any eligible 
household to apply. 
Local connection is 
required. We agree that 
more affordable housing 
is needed hence our 
focus on increasing 
supply. 
 
Our homelessness 
services work to prevent 
homelessness before 
crisis occurs and we 
provide temporary 
accommodation for 
families and vulnerable 
single people/couples 

P
age 92



3 
 

primarily reliant on commercial developers providing "affordable" 
housing on their new estates, it is unlikely to be of the type of 
housing needed nor in the location needed. Nor is there likely to be 
enough new affordable housing to make serious inroads into your 
housing list. 
 
I realise this council is by no means the worst but I do blame it for 
freezing the council rate for so many years - proudly - while council 
services deteriorate, including the provision of housing. This 
appears to be ideologically driven and not facing reality nor your 
responsibilities. Also to be tied to outdated Thatcherite ideology 
hostile to the provision of council housing suggests there is not a 
real will to solve the housing crisis in the best, most economic way 
for all parties. Encouraging rural exception sites, for instance, 
though not in themselves a bad thing, is a way of shifting the 
responsibility from the actual housing authority to bodies with much 
less experience and expertise and far fewer opportunities for 
economies of scale - ie, parish councils 
 
You can do better. 

  

who have lost their 
accommodation. We are 
working with registered 
providers to develop 
affordable housing 
though land led schemes 
as well as Section 106 
agreements. 
 
We accept that housing 
needs outweigh supply 
and we are looking at 
ways to step up delivery 
including the delivery of 
properties for social rent. 

08/01/2019 BPHA – (Assistant 
Director of 
Development) 

Enviable track record on the delivery of affordable housing in the 
district in last 5 or 6 years – inspiring to see your achievements 
listed 
  
At 1.3 (page 9) you talk about encouraging Registered Providers to 
take a proactive approach to land led opportunities, what sort of 
initiatives were you thinking about? 
  
Have you given some consideration to imposing the Housing 
Quality Standards through the planning system to improve the 
quality of new build homes in both the public and private sector? 
  
I notice you are keen to pursue further opportunities to convert 
offices to residential– this is as you are probably aware one of the 

Acknowledgement 
09/01/2019 
 
Examples : sharing the 
list of sites with extant 
planning permissions – 
with Registered 
Providers – to encourage 
them to consider these 
sites for development, 
promoting the Growth 
Deal funding 
opportunities to 
encourage Registered 

P
age 93



4 
 

Government intentions to extend the Permitted Development rights. 
Whilst this does bring people into the town centres which is vital for 
sustainable communities, we do need to be mindful that these 
conversions often sacrifice quality and amenity space. 

  

Providers to build in the 
district, looking at 
opportunities for further 
affordable housing 
delivery at Graven Hill. 
 
Agreed – town centre 
developments must build 
sustainable communities, 
and promote health and 
wellbeing and may suit 
particular target groups. 

10/01/2019 Respondents at 
Stakeholder 
Consultation Event  
(16 attendees) 
Priority 1 
 
 

 People being released from prison – avoiding street 
homelessness/Issues about lack of credit rating – wider 
system issue? 

 Lack of consistent protocol for referral/support 

 Tenancy support insufficient 

 Homeless Pathway –complex needs/location 

 Private Rented Sector – Bond scheme for homeless 
referrals  

 Issue about rent arrears (under 8 weeks) 

 Share landlord information (Registered Providers) Aspire 
Model 

 To provide data on levels of need (Mental Health) 

 Move on – Bromford “My place” model  

 Social Housing Guardianship – support for tenants – 10 
units in Oxfordshire - volunteer support in return for low 
rents (8 hours per month)   

 University Halls of Residence – premises (vacant) 

 Transition by Design (social enterprise) employment/charity 

 Ex-offenders – consider housing as key to reducing re-
offending 

 Co-housing – research Community led housing funding and 
information on-line for those interested in co-housing 

These are useful points – 
many relate to the 
Homelessness Strategy. 
We will specifically 
include the need for 
accommodation for 
young people e.g. well 
managed, affordable 
Houses in Multiple 
Occupation and other 
Private Rented Sector 
options. We will look at 
the Social Housing 
Guardianship model. 

P
age 94



5 
 

 Use of Council owned land   

 Difficulties in getting things through Planning – is this a 
capacity issue? 

 Transient leadership – Registered Providers and 
Developers need to know who’s who 

 Need Planning representation on Housing Board 

 Private Rented Sector is inaccessible – can’t place single 
homeless 

 Need well-run and managed Houses in Multiple Occupation 
– Registered Providers will build if we can find someone to 
manage 

 Can Registered Providers deliver Private Rented? 

 Obligation to provide self-build on sites  
 

10/01/2019 Respondents at 
Stakeholder 
Consultation Event  
Priority 2 
 
 

 It is essential that we hold developers to account – 
Registered Providers are spending ‘up to 18 months’ 
resolving significant issues arising because properties are 
‘not built properly in the first place’.  

 Council is signing off properties that are not fit, or are not 
built to the planned standard. 

 Lack of skills in the construction sector – potentially to get 
worse after Brexit.  Need for a construction skills academy?  
Also consider the housing options available to construction 
workers who are on insecure contracts. 

 Interest in modular factory built units to improve speed, 
consistency and quality of new builds 

 Faithworks reported problems delivering furniture to many 
new build properties because of access and design – 
especially getting upstairs in flats – Aspire suggested that 
they contact IKEA social works re flat pack units but this 
wouldn’t resolve the issue of lack of space or help reduce 
waste through reusing existing furniture     

 Need to ensure bus routes are available to new builds at an 
early stage to avoid social isolation.  Aspire noted that they 

Agreed – we have 
strengthened 2.4 
 
 
 
 
This is a concern. 
Cherwell District Council 
has funded the 
Apprenticeships Training 
Company whose focus is 
apprenticeships in 
construction. 
 
Modern methods of 
construction is part of the 
Growth Deal ambition. 
 
Faithworks’s experience 
corroborates our 
concerns about some 

P
age 95



6 
 

have Community Transport services so may be able to 
assist. 

 Many Registered Provider properties are in poor condition – 
damp and minor disrepair  Suggested Action: Private Sector 
Housing Team to visit Faithworks to ensure staff and 
volunteers understand our services and can signpost 
effectively 

 Faithworks to discuss with Registered Providers a project to 
retain white goods and carpets when property is vacated – 
appliances could be PAT tested/carpets could be cleaned 
and Registered Provider could have a disclaimer. 

 Co-housing/ Community Led Schemes – research 
document will soon be available from Oxford City Council.  
Explore options in Cherwell eg: using empty homes or other 
buildings as co-housing projects and “peer led” housing for 
care leavers 

 Tenancy Ready Training in Private Rented Sector – Aspire 
and Connections Support already do this 

 Oxford City Council are using their Tenancy Strategy to 
insist on lifetime tenancies and social rent in Registered 
Provider Accommodation to “lead by example” and also 
insist on 5 year tenancies in all dealing with Private Rented 
Sector            
 

new build properties and 
their suitability for 
adaptation and access. 
We will help broker 
dialogue between 
Faithworks and 
Registered Providers 
about retention of white 
goods/carpets etc. 
 
Our Housing Standards 
team is here to help 
tenants of Registered 
Providers as well as 
Private Rented Sector 
tenants and we do assist 
tenants affected by poor 
conditions. 
 
 
 
 

10/01/2019 Respondents at 
Stakeholder 
Consultation Event  
Priority 3 
 
 

 Action 3.1.3 – access to Housing Options service is difficult 
as there is no bus service between Bicester and Banbury.  It 
is difficult to understand how the telephone system works 
and conversations need to be jargon free. Face to face 
housing advice needs to be available in Bicester, Kidlington 
and the rural areas. Need a resource prior to hitting the 
Housing Options Team eg: Community navigators, legacy 
of Trailblazer. 

 Action 3.1.4 – Choice is very important – if people are living 
somewhere that they want to live it gives an incentive to pay 
rent, obey rules etc 

A mystery shopping 
exercise has been 
commissioned from 
Shelter to identify 
barriers that customers 
experience and improve 
access to our service. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 96



7 
 

 Drug/criminal exploitation – multi-agency working is 
essential 

 Ability for people with complex/high needs to sustain 
tenancy – need to think about viable options/support clients 
may have had a trauma which has led to poor behaviours, 
can take a long time. 

 Sofa surfers are rough sleepers in waiting 

 Shared housing is a viable option for some – need 
incentives from central government, may be difficult to 
manage and service charges can be high. 

 Access to private rented for sofa surfers – only option may 
be the Housing Register 

 Affordability many people in work are unable to afford 
Affordable Rent 

 What happens to people who have been evicted from Social 
Housing 

 Domestic abuse cases forced to move out of area 

 Take positive risks – giving people a fresh chance 

 Need to raise awareness of choices – there is a sense of 
entitlement to join the Housing Register which is not an 
immediate solution 

 Action 3.2.1- it is unclear that band 4 is for those without a 
reasonable preference 

 Access to the Housing Register may be difficult 

 Housing Register applicants are not notified if application is 
not renewed/closed due to lack of information. Applicants 
with No Fixed Abode are being sent letters but where are 
these going to – use support agency address if possible 

 Action 3.2.2 – Applicants need to understand why decisions 
are made regarding offers of accommodation.  Need to 
implement clear steps to move back to where they want to 
live. 

 Independent living can result in social isolation.  People 
need confidence to move to a new area – look at creating 

 
 
These are useful points 
and will inform 
improvements to our 
Housing Options service. 
 
 
 
 
The Allocations Scheme 
is being kept under 
regular review to ensure 
it meets the needs of 
people affected by 
domestic violence and 
we work closely with the 
refuge provider to ensure 
people who want to 
remain in Cherwell are 
helped to do so. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 97



8 
 

intentional communities and co-operative living   

 What is the proportion of new builds/re-lets of nominations 

 Support networks help sustain tenancies  

 
We will include data 
about allocation of new 
build properties vs re-lets 
in the State of the 
District’s Housing Report 
 

15/01/2019 Young Peoples’ 
Panel (Approximately 
6 partner agencies 
attending) 

 Concerns around the level of rent arrears (those attending 
mentioned arrears of several £1000s) that some young 
people have accrued while in supported housing and the 
potential impact this has on their ability to be considered for 
move-on accommodation via Cherwell District Council’s 
housing register.  

 

 A need for move –on accommodation with some low level of 
support – we discussed the model of ‘Peer-Led’ units being 
established in Oxford which are 3x 3 shared housing units 
with some floating support specifically for care leavers. 

 

 A need for foyer type accommodation to be separated by 
age group; so separate provision for 16-18 year olds so 
those entering provision don’t have the same ‘freedoms’, for 
example to be out late at night, as older residents.  

 

 The group also flagged concerns about the general lack of 
provision of mental health services for young people 
including unacceptable wait times for Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Service referrals and then first 
appointments.   
 

 Concern was also expressed about the reduction in Early 
Intervention services and the impact this may have on 
young people coming into the Pathway as they reach 16 – 
potentially increasing demand in years to come. Population 
growth around Bicester in particular was also noted as a 

Acknowledged – 
Assistant Director is 
leading on 
accommodation related 
Social Services 
Commissioning  at 
Oxfordshire County 
Council as well as 
Housing – so there are 
good opportunities to 
review and resolve these 
issues. 
 
The issue of rent arrears 
in the pathway will be 
addressed in Oxfordshire 
County Council’s 
commissioning of the 
new service to start in 
April 2020 – a review of 
rent and financing of the 
pathway as a whole is 
needed along with more 
communication between 
the pathway providers 
and their social worker or 
personal advisor.  
 

P
age 98



9 
 

potential factor in future need.  
 

These have also been raised as part of the recommissioning of the 
Young Person’s Pathway by the County Council. 
 
 

Regarding move on 
accommodation – 
Oxfordshire County 
Council has flagged this 
as an issue in all district 
consultations. In addition 
Oxfordshire County 
Council is launching The 
House Project which is a 
peer led housing project 
for care leavers. We are 
hoping that 2 shared 
houses will be populated 
in the spring. 
 
We are reviewing the 
use of the pathway for 
mixed ages and how we 
all deliver our statutory 
responsibilities most 
effectively. 
 
The need for additional 
support for Mental Health 
and other complex needs 
is also something we are 
aware of and will be 
addressing in the 
recommissioning of the 
service. 

16/01/2019 Oxfordshire County 
Council, Children, 
Education and 
Families 

We welcome the emphasis in the strategy on providing a range of 
affordable homes and the acknowledgement that social rent is the 
only truly affordable option for many people. 
 
We would like to highlight the needs of Care Leavers for whom 

 
 
 
 

We recognise the need 

P
age 99



10 
 

shared accommodation is the most realistic independent option. 
Like many authorities we are experiencing an increase in the 
number of children taken into care and suitable move-on 
accommodation for this group is a particular pressure. 
 
 
 
 
We are aware of 18 single young people seeking to move on from 
our Supported Housing Pathway in the Cherwell area over the next 
18 months. We believe that Houses in Multiple Occupation 
managed by a social registered landlord would provide a stable and 
affordable option for young people moving into independence 
 
We also expect 2 young families per year to move from the 
Supported Housing Pathway in the Cherwell area. They would 
need two bedded accommodation within easy reach of shops. 
Properties managed by a social registered landlord would be ideal. 
 
A thorough review is taking place of our young people’s supported 
housing pathway and we hope that a significant portion of this 
provision will continue to be in Cherwell. At present there are 17 
units of accommodation for young families, 35 units for single 
young people and 3 units for young people not able to live with 
others. We are seeking in the meantime to increase our provision 
for Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers in Banbury. 
 
We welcome the intention to work with partners to develop detailed 
understanding of specialist housing requirements.  
 
Under Action point 2.2.3 we note the commitment to provide 6 units 
of self-contained supported housing. We anticipate that 6 young 
adults with learning disabilities per year will require supported 
housing in the Cherwell area. In addition, we predict that 4 young 
wheel chair users will require adapted properties in Cherwell 

for shared 
accommodation for 
young people including 
care leavers and we will 
be looking to source this 
through a registered 
provider or the private 
sector or in-house. 
Care leavers are an 
identified priority group 
and we will be working 
with the county council to 
improve housing supply 
and outcomes for this 
group. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agreed – we need a plan 

P
age 100



11 
 

Properties for this client group need to have enough space for large 
electric wheelchairs to manoeuvre and to be strong enough to 
support ceiling track hoists. 
 
We note the commitment under Action 3.2 to keep the Allocations 
policy under review. We are hopeful that we can agree a protocol to 
allow potential foster carers to be considered for suitable housing 
which would allow them to fulfil their foster caring role.    
 
We are grateful for the opportunity to work with you more closely in 
the support of vulnerable families, some of whom may be deemed 
intentionally homeless. We are piloting a protocol which outlines 
additional support to be offered to allow “intentionally homeless” 
families a second chance at maintaining a tenancy. 
 
 

for meeting this 
quantified need. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This protocol is in draft 
and will be adopted by 
March 2019. 
 
 
This protocol is in place 
and will be used to 
support vulnerable 
families to become  
tenancy ready. 

16/01/2019 Cala Homes – 
(Affordable Housing 
Director) 

 Very interesting and clearly set out – no issues with the 
Strategy 

 Pointed out typo re numbering on p15  
 

Acknowledgement sent 
16/01/2019 

21/01/2019 GreenSquare Group 
- (Lettings Manager) 

Key Achievements – 8th bullet point should be amended to “We 
inspected 438 Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMOs) to ensure 
appropriate standards are achieved and maintained/ 9th bullet point 
– this doesn’t read quite right – what does it mean? 
 
Priority 1, Why is this Important 2nd bullet point – This 
commitment may well be a factor but it is kind of at odds with “why 
is it important” as there is no explanation why there is such a 
commitment and detracts from the issues in Cherwell district.  
Maybe it should be included as a bullet point at the end with 
“Furthermore we have a commitment…. 
 

Changes made to clarify 
both these points. 
 
 
 
This bullet point has 
been moved. 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 101



12 
 

What we plan to do – para 1.2 last bullet point  - How will this be 
achieved? 
    
Priority 3 objective 3.2 should read “Review the Allocations 
Scheme to ensure it meets housing needs”. 
Sounds like it will be under review and not finalised.  The 
allocations scheme in itself cannot meet housing need.  It is more 
that the scheme supports fair access to affordable housing taking 
into account people’s needs.   

There are opportunities 
to step up development 
within the parameters of 
the Local Plan. We 
recognise that we would 
need to resource and 
develop this work as we 
have focussed more on 
development in Banbury 
and Bicester over the 
last few years. 
 
Agreed – the housing 
register meets the needs 
of low income 
households with a level 
of need that meets 
scheme thresholds. We 
also need to meet needs 
through new 
developments and better 
incentives/engagement 
with private sector 
landlords. 

22/01/2019 Campaign to Protect 
Rural England - 
(Chairman)  

Thank you for your invitation to contribute to the district council’s 
housing strategy.  We have read your paper and appendices on the 
subject and would like to make the following comments.   
 

 We agree with your aim to supply more affordable homes, 
but much so-called ‘affordable housing’ is beyond the reach 
of many people, especially in Oxfordshire.  This may be 
partly the fault of employers paying insufficient wages and 
developers insisting on excessive profits, but we believe 
that you should address the serious shortage of social 
housing. 

Acknowledgement 
30/01/2019 
 
 
Noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 102



13 
 

 

 We support all efforts to increase energy efficiency and to 
reduce the running and environmental costs of new homes 
e.g. by the use of ground or air source heat pumps and 
underfloor heating.  We would much rather see solar panels 
attached to the roofs of buildings than in the middle of green 
fields, but care must be taken to ensure that they are not 
obtrusive.  Panels should be positioned to reflect the 
structure of a roof e.g. by matching the size and shape of 
existing tiles. 

 

 As an organisation supporting the protection of historic 
environments, we urge developments to take account of 
local distinctiveness and landscape character.  While there 
is a case for the use of good-quality modern architecture in 
an urban environment – and for factory-manufactured 
housing (which can speed up delivery and improve quality) 
– we believe that buildings in and around villages should 
generally be of traditional design and materials. 
 

 For districts such as Cherwell where pressure on the 
countryside is so intense, we urge the Council to build 
housing at a density that is appreciably higher than the 
current practice: we would like to see a target density of 
seventy houses per hectare in both towns and 
villages.  Such a policy would help protect more of the 
countryside and at the same time make houses cheaper 
and more affordable.  Terraces in towns and villages are 
more energy efficient than detached homes, and of course 
they need less land.  High density in Oxford City would also 
reduce pressure on the Green Belt, which we believe 
should be protected far more strongly than it is at present. 
 

 
Noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The minimum density of 
housing is set at different 
levels for urban and 
village areas and is 
much higher in the urban 
areas. We believe 70 
houses per hectare are 
too high for rural areas. 
The Partial Review of the 
Local Plan is likely to 
confirm a minimum 
density level of 30 in 
rural areas, based on the 
2018 Housing and 
Economic Land 

P
age 103



14 
 

Availability Assessment 
(HELAA). The HELAA is 
a technical study that 
determines the 
suitability, availability and 
achievability of land for 
development and was 
produced with input from 
a number of Cherwell 
District Council services. 
 

22/01/2019 Cherwell District 
Council Service 
Leads Consultation 
(9 attendees)   

 There is no reference to Gypsies and Travellers in the 
document, evidence – need, publications, policy. 

o Policy BSC6 of the adopted Cherwell Local Plan 
Part 1 sets out the requirement for accommodating 
the needs of gypsies and travellers and travelling 
show people. This was based on the Gypsy and 
Traveller Housing Needs Assessment (Jan 2013) 
and Needs Assessment for Travelling Show people 
(2008) 

o Since the Local Plan adoption, a Gypsy, Traveller 
and Travelling Show people Accommodation 
Assessment (Oxford, Cherwell, South Oxfordshire 
and Vale of White Horse) was published in June 
2017.  It was envisaged that this would help to 
inform the preparation of Local Plan Part 2.  This 
assessment takes into account the Government’s 
new definition of a traveller. 

o The 2018 Annual Monitoring Report provides the 
most up to date position on Cherwell’s position on 
travelling communities (pages 33-39). 

o If assessing against the adopted Local Plan Policy 
BSC6, we will need to deliver 29 pitches.  However, 
if we are looking at the latest evidence which has not 
been tested through Local Plan examination, we will 

We have reflected these 
needs in the State of the 
District’s Housing 
document. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 104



15 
 

only need to deliver 11 pitches. 
o For Travelling Show people, the need is 14 plots 

(BSC6) and 5 plots (latest evidence) 
Oxfordshire County Council recommends sites of no more 
than 10 pitches in order to best meet the needs. 

 Do we have a definition for Keyworkers? The Partial Review 
commits to “some” for Keyworker accommodation for 
Oxford’s need – Strategy needs to mention the County wide 
work 

 Community Led Schemes – there is nothing in the Local 
Plan so would have to be part of the Affordable Housing 
requirement 

 Affordable Housing Supply figures need to be consistent 
and need to be gross figures 

 Need something in the Strategy re the definitions of  
affordable housing in the new National Planning Policy 
Framework    

 Need to link Housing Development with employment and 
have new development near to the nodes of employment 

 Can we do more work on private sector housing in Bicester 

 Need to state for each action whether we are going to Lead, 
Support, Influence or Monitor 

 Strategy is too woolly and not SMART enough – need a 
timeframe for actions that will happen after year 1 and we 
need to state how we will monitor this 

 Do we need to give more general housing advice – need to 
decide if we have enough resource for this 

 Promote the Homeshare scheme currently being rolled out 
in Oxford by Age UK 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figures have been re-
checked and gross 
figures used throughout. 
 
We have reviewed the 
commitments in the 
Strategy and attempted 
to make them 
firmer/clearer. 
 
We are developing work 
to help keyworkers as 
part of our wider Housing 
Options offer i.e. going 
beyond homelessness to 
other priority groups that 
have a housing need. 
 
 

23/01/2019 Connections Support  Connections are getting referrals from clients placed in 
“affordable” housing who are struggling financially, some 
are having to look for transfers to cheaper properties   
  

Providers do undertake 
affordability check before 
accepting new tenants 
and we would not 
nominate clients to 

P
age 105



16 
 

housing that is 
unaffordable for them. 
However, people’s 
circumstances do 
change and we will 
provide debt and money 
advice through Citizens 
Advice, help with Benefit 
take up including 
Universal Credit and 
where necessary, help to 
find new 
accommodation. 

24/01/2019 Staff consultation (7 
attendees) 

 The Strategy seems well thought out 
 

 Better infrastructure is required eg: a ring road round 
Banbury 

 

 Housing Choices – more housing options for first time 
buyers eg: Rent Plus schemes/range of options in villages 
including options for young people/suggestion of a static 
caravan/cabin site where people could purchase a unit and 
stay for a maximum of 15 years to help them get on the 
property ladder  

 

 Social rent/Living rent – Living rent would make some 
places very expensive. Living rent would leave local people 
with more money to support the local economy/affordable 
should mean that you can afford to rent and also live and do 
daily activities/if you are not working you should still be able 
to afford to rent/live even those who work struggle to afford 
rents  

 

 Older people – options are required for intergenerational 
living – not just market options a “knock on” benefit would 

 
 
 
 
 
We agree that more 
options are needed for 
young people trying to 
get accommodation and 
get on the housing 
ladder. Some of this is 
about promoting options 
and offering advice. 
 
The properties let 
through the housing 
register are at social rent 
(around 50% of market 
rent) or affordable rent 
(up to 80% of market 
rent). We generally 
advise that a household 

P
age 106



17 
 

be employment for parents of young children and flexible 
working for older people.  Extra Care is required but this 
needs to be affordable 

 
 
 
 

 Warmer Homes/Fuel Poverty – are there any schemes 
which provide grants for insulation for those in work/need 
for better information about options for improving insulation 
and heating in older properties which are difficult to 
insulate/need to talk to Communications Team regarding 
communicating quickly and effectively information on 
switching providers, boiler schemes etc/oil is expensive and 
many areas have no gas  
 

 Private Renting - too expensive Cherwell District Council 
should be more proactive regarding promoting the advice it 
can offer tenants 
 
 

should not be spending 
more than 30-35% of 
their income on rent but 
this can vary according 
to household 
circumstances. 
 
Yes – the Affordable 
Warmth Network is 
supported by Cherwell 
District Council and can 
help. Our own Private 
Housing Team can also 
help and advise. 
 
 
Agreed. We have no 
powers to cap rents but 
we can help tenants be 
aware of their rights and 
can assist where 
landlords are not 
complying. 
 

25/01/19 Cherwell landlord 
and resident 
(Via letting agent/ 
Landlords forum)  

I think the section 2.3 on the provision of new accommodation 
above or connected with commercial premises lacks ambition.   I 
think the action plan mentions only four new units before 
2020.   There seems to me to be plenty of potential in Banbury for 
many first and ground floor conversions of commercial property into 
new residential units and it would be nice to see the council making 
much more use of the potential in this way, through planning 
consent and grants etc.    We can no longer assume that high 
streets will be fully occupied as retail units.    

 

Acknowledgement 
28/01/2019 

25/01/19 Partner @ David The Tripartite has the following detailed comments, which it is Acknowledgement 

P
age 107



18 
 

Locke Associates, on 
behalf of the 
Tripartite (University 
of Oxford, Merton 
College and The 
Smith Trust) who 
own and control most 
of the land at 
Begbroke proposed 
to be allocated by 
Policy PR8 of the 
Draft Cherwell Local 
Plan 2011-2031 (Part 
1) Partial Review – 
Oxford’s Unmet 
Housing Need (‘the 
Plan’). 

requested are considered by the Council before progressing and 
finalising the Housing Strategy:  
1. Firstly, the Tripartite has significant concerns about the proposed 
greater requirement and preference for social-rented affordable 
housing. Whilst it is acknowledged that social-rented housing is an 
important element of affordable housing, the Tripartite considers 
employer-linked affordable rented housing at Begbroke to be 
entirely appropriate for directly meeting Oxford’s unmet needs 
especially as Priority 1 (Section 5, Objective 1.2) refers to:  
 
a) the Council being committed to helping Oxford City Council meet 
its need for 1,400 homes per year;  
b) increase the supply and uptake of affordable housing for key-
workers;  
c) diversify the provision of affordable housing;  
d) develop affordable housing for people from Oxford; and  
e) contribute to the Oxfordshire Growth Deal programme to ensure 
housing targets are met.  
In addition, Section 5, Objective 1.3 refers to the Council working in 
partnership with private developers and landowners to gain greater 
control over the delivery of housing, which is consistent with the 
University’s strategy and approach;  
 
2. Secondly, in respect of Priority 2, the Tripartite considers that 
this objective will be realised via Policy PR8 and other policies in 
the Plan, on the assumption that the Plan and allocation are found 
‘sound’ after the completion of the examination by the Inspector;  
 
3. Thirdly, in respect of Priority 3, the Tripartite considers that this is 
consistent and compatible with the University’s aspirations as it 
refers to ‘the need for key-worker (another term for employer-
linked) housing [being] high…..particularly for those working in 
Oxford City, and the Housing Options service needs to reflect this.’ 
This is strongly supported;  
 

25/01/2019 
1. Agreed – it is not 
our intention to be 
prescriptive about the 
proportion of 
affordable housing 
that should be social 
rented but we do 
need to look at ways 
to increase social 
rented housing as the 
only truly affordable 
option for many of the 
households we work 
with. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Noted. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 108



19 
 

4. Fourthly, also for Priority 3, the Tripartite supports the Council 
improving relationships with the local private sector to increase 
innovation and support development of the market. The Tripartite 
believes this is consistent with the provision of employer-linked 
affordable housing (affordable rent) along with “build-for-rent” as 
set out in the revised version of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (July 2018). The University will also consider including 
some accommodation, which comprises ‘rooms in shared houses’, 
to meet specific accommodation and affordability needs;  
 
5. Fifthly, in the Council’s Annual Action Plan, as set out above, the 
Tripartite would support close liaison with the Planning Policy Team 
given the issues set out and also encourages and supports close 
liaison between the Council and Oxford City Council on initiatives to 
meet Oxford’s unmet need, given that they comprise part of the 
same Housing Market Area and there is a need for joint working on 
cross-boundary strategic priorities.  
 
I trust that these comments are of assistance and request that they 
are carefully considered by the Council and the Strategy amended 

to take the Tripartite representations into account 
 

I attach the following documents, which comprise the Tripartite 
representations on the Draft Housing Strategy: 
  

 David Lock Associates Letter on behalf of the Tripartite 
dated 25 January 2019  

 Appendix 1 – Letter of Dr David Prout to Councillor Wood 
 Appendix 2 – Statement in support of University subsidised 

staff housing  
 Appendix 3 – David Lock Associates Note on Amendments 

to Draft Policy PR2 of the Plan  
 Appendix 4 – Policy extracts from Draft Oxford City Local 

Plan  
 

Noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Noted – this partnership 
is underway. 

P
age 109



20 
 

25/01/19 Savills - instructed on 
behalf of The 
University of Oxford, 
Christ Church, 
Merton College, 
Exeter College and 
Trustees of the 
Water Eaton Estate  
 

The Clients collectively own land at North Oxford proposed for 
allocation in the emerging Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 (Part 1) 
Partial Review under emerging policies PR6a and PR6b. 
 
As part of these allocations there is a requirement within the 
emerging policy to provide up to 50% affordable housing as part of 
the 1180 dwellings proposed. The Clients have previously 
submitted detailed representations to the Council relating to 
provision of affordable housing within the emerging allocations. 
 
The definition of affordable housing in this context is as set out in 
the National Planning Policy Framework 2018 (NPPF). As you will 
be aware, the definition expands the types of tenure that can be 
considered to be affordable housing including key worker 
accommodation and starter homes. 
 
In this regard, it is expected that a significant proportion of 
affordable housing on the emerging allocation will be delivered by 
the University of Oxford, Colleges and by Registered Providers. 
Indeed, the University’s Strategy 2018-23 contains a commitment 
to commence construction of at least 1000 subsidised units of 
accommodation for University/College staff by 2023. Attached is a 
statement produced by the University on its approach to subsidised 
accommodation for staff that was recently submitted to the Council 
to assist in the examination of the Part 1 Local Plan Partial Review. 
Such an approach needs to be taken into account within 
the Housing Strategy document. 
 
Against the above background, we have the following comments to 
make about the Housing Strategy 
document. 
 
Page 6 – Last line in the table - it should be clear which Cherwell 
Local Plan the document refers to. This should be the Part 1 
adopted Plan and the emerging Partial Review Plan dealing with 

Acknowledgement 
25/01/2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
These representations 
are being taken in to 
account as part of the 
Partial Review of the 
Local Plan. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Partial Review is not 
yet completed so we still 
refer to the Local Plan 

P
age 110



21 
 

Oxford’s unmet need. 
 
 
Page 8 – second bullet point in relation to the Oxford City need - it 
should be made clear that this is a total of 4400 dwellings over the 
planned period to 2031 and with the expectation of 50% of this 
being delivered as affordable housing which aligns with the policy 
position within the City. 
 
Page 8 - sixth bullet – this states that social rent is the only truly 
affordable housing option for many people. The National Planning 
Policy Framework contains a definition of affordable housing. This 
sets out varying tenure options under the holistic affordable 
housing title. It is therefore considered to be inappropriate simply to 
refer to social rent in this paragraph. We would recommend that the 
text be altered so that it refers to the wider definition set out within 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 
Page 8 – subheading 1.1 – last bullet – this refers to drawing on 
internal “data and intelligence from that of our partners”. This 
should extended to include major employers in the local area, for 
example the University of 
Oxford and Colleges. 
 
Page 9 – third bullet – this refers to ensuring that the development 
of new housing contributes to vibrant and sustainable town centres. 
We are unclear of the relevance of this criterion and how this would 
assist with the Housing Strategy. It is recommended it is deleted. 
 
Page 9 – subheading 1.2 first bullet point – this refers to exploring 
the viability of delivering homes for social rent within new 
developments. The tenure mix required on any site is set out within 
the policies contained within the adopted and emerging Local 
Plans. Changes to planning policy would be required to affect this 

2011-2031 as the 
adopted document. 
 
The allocation policy for 
affordable housing in 
Cherwell that is intended 
to help meet Oxford’s 
unmet need is currently 
being worked on. 
 
The National Planning 
Policy Framework is 
guidance and does 
include a wider definition 
of affordable housing. 
But we may take the 
view that we need more 
homes for social rent – 
as a local need within the 
supply of affordable 
housing. 
 
Agreed – we welcome 
employer data on the 
housing needs of 
keyworkers.  
 
 
 
 
The Local Plan sets out 
the ‘rules’ for 
developments of 11+ 
units in terms of 
affordable housing %. 

P
age 111



22 
 

change. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Page 9 – paragraph 1.2 second bullet point – this refers to 
increasing the supply and uptake of affordable housing for key 
workers. The Clients are fully supportive of this approach and are 
investigating this in the context of emerging allocations PR6a and 
PR6b. 
 
Page 9 - sub-paragraph 1.2 fifth bullet point – this refers to 
developing affordable housing in identified sites for people from 
Oxford with unmet housing need. This specifically relates to our 
Clients land under the emerging allocations. It is recommended that 
this criteria is changed to working alongside the landowners and 
house builders bringing forward allocated sites to develop 
affordable housing to meet the needs arising from Oxford’s 
unmet needs. 
 
Page 9 - sub-paragraph 1.3 first bullet point – this refers to seeking 
the maximum amount of affordable housing when negotiating with 
developers on new schemes. The wording should be amended to 
state the aim to seek the required amount of affordable housing in 
line with planning policy when negotiating with developers on new 
schemes. The National Planning Policy Framework lays down clear 
rules on viability issues which may dictate that a lower amount of 
affordable housing than the maximum would be appropriate when 
delivering a particular scheme. The Strategy should acknowledge 
this. 
 
 

However this does not 
dictate what % of 
affordable rented should 
be social rented and this 
is an issue for CDC to 
take an view on and 
discuss with developers.  
 
Noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
Agreed - reworded. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This is understood – the 
actual % affordable 
housing delivered an any 
particular site depends 
on viability but we aim to 
maximise affordable 
housing delivery. In 
relation to the Growth 
Deal we are seeking 
additionality above and 
beyond minimum 
affordable housing 

P
age 112



23 
 

 
 
Page 10 - sub-paragraph 1.4 last bullet point – this refers to 
reviewing internal resources and structures. It 
should refer to links within the Housing and Planning Departments 
to ensure a joined up approach to maximise 
delivery of appropriate housing tenures to meet the identified needs 
within the District. 
 
Page 14 – fifth bullet point – this refers to key worker housing. As 
mentioned previously in this letter the 
University of Oxford and Oxford Colleges are seeking to deliver a 
significant proportion of key worker 
accommodation to meet the needs of the University and Colleges 
over the next 5 years. This aspiration is therefore fully supported 
and should be taken in to account in the Housing Strategy.  
 
We would welcome a discussion with Officers to fully explain the 
needs and aspirations of our Clients and how 
the Housing Strategy 2018-2023 can be amended to take on board 
these aspirations and ensure successful implementation and 
delivery. 

delivery. 
 
Agreed – this refers to 
our collective resources 
and must involve good 
joint working between 
Housing and Planning. 
 
 
Noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We are engaged in the 
Keyworker housing 
workstreams coordinated 
by Oxfordshire County 
Council and understand 
the level of need. 
 

25/01/19 Estates Department 
University of Oxford 

The University of Oxford welcomes this opportunity to comment on 
the District Council’s draft Housing Strategy 2018 – 2023. 
 
It is actively engaged in supporting the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-
2031 Partial Review – Oxford’s Unmet Housing Need (‘the Plan’), 
as explained most recently in a letter dated 6 December 2018 from 
Dr David Prout, Pro-Vice-Chancellor (Planning and Resources) to 
Councillor Barry Wood. The University’s strategic objective is to 
develop its landholding at Begbroke (PR8 in the Plan) to provide a 
substantial amount of residential accommodation for University and 
College staff at a subsidised rent for key workers (including 

Acknowledgement 
28/01/2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 113



24 
 

academic staff, early career research staff and technical and 
support staff). In order for that objective to be realised, provision for 
key worker housing or employer-linked housing would need to be 
recognised as meeting affordable housing requirements by the 
Council.  
 
To support this objective the University has prepared a paper 
‘Statement in support of University provision of subsidised staff 
housing’, which has been submitted to the Council as part of the 
examination of the Plan.  
 
It appreciates that this Housing Strategy sets out Cherwell District 
Council’s plans for its own housing service for the period 2018-
2023, although the strategy acknowledges that much of what is in 
the strategy is aspirational and can only be delivered with its 
partners. The University, as a landowner in the southern part of the 
District, is keen to be recognised as a valuable partner for the 
District Council.  
 
The University fully supports the three Priorities in the draft Housing 
Strategy:  
 
It would be pleased if the Housing Strategy could acknowledge the 
part the University’s plans can play in assisting the District Council 
meet its objectives to increase the supply of key worker housing 
especially to meet the needs of Oxford.  The accompanying District 
Council’s State of Housing 2018 report explains that the housing 
that is required to meet Oxford’s unmet need will be expected to 
include specific provision for key workers using Oxford City’s 
definition.  The draft Proposed Submission Draft Oxford Local Plan 
2036 sets out Oxford City Council’s clear support for the provision 
of employer-linked affordable housing (Policy H3 and related 
paragraphs 3.22-3.23), which is its approach to the specific 
provision for key workers.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 114



25 
 

There are a number of instances in the draft Housing Strategy 
where the contribution to be made by the University could be 
recognised, as follows:  
 
Priority 1: “Increase the supply and diversity of affordable housing 
to ensure the right types of housing are available in the right 
places.” 
 
The draft strategy explains that Cherwell’s need is 1,140 homes per 
year until 2031 (35% of those being affordable) and that the 
Council has committed to helping Oxford City meet its need for 
1,400 new homes per year over the same period.  
 
Under this priority the Council outlines how it plans to ‘Deliver a 
range of affordable homes that meet the needs of local residents 
and workers. (Section 5, Objective 1.2):  

 Increase the supply and uptake of affordable housing for 

keyworkers  

 Diversify the provision of affordable housing through 

innovation and partnership working i.e. shared ownership, 

self-build, custom build and community-led schemes 

 Develop affordable housing on identified sites for people 

from Oxford with unmet housing need and contribute to the 

Oxfordshire Growth Deal programme to ensure housing 

targets are met 

The University is offering, as a partner, to meet each of these bullet 
points. As part of the Tripartite it has consistently promoted the 
development of employer linked housing as affordable housing to 
reflect the clear recognition the University and colleges wish to 
develop their own land for their own purposes.  With 1,950 
dwellings proposed to be allocated at Begbroke, provision of 50% 
or 975 as affordable key worker - or employer linked housing at 
PR8 would make a significant contribution to meeting the needs of 
Oxford and be directly related to many of the housing and related 

Rewording included at 
1.2 to reflect this point. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 115



26 
 

problems faced by the University’s staff in the city.  This should be 
recognised in the draft Housing Strategy. 
 
Priority 2: “Improve the quality and sustainability of our homes and 
build thriving, healthy communities” 
The draft strategy explains that Cherwell District Council wish to 
‘Improve the quality of new homes and the existing housing stock’ 
(Section 5, Objective 2.4). 
The University’s approach to the residential accommodation for its 
staff would meet this objective via Policy PR8 and other Policies in 
the Plan. This should be recognised in the draft Housing Strategy. 
 
Priority 3: “Enhance opportunities for residents to access suitable 
homes and have housing choices”.  
The draft strategy describes that housing needs outweigh supply of 
social and affordable rented housing so it is necessary to widen the 
housing options on offer, which could include self-build 
opportunities at Graven Hill, shared ownership, rooms in shared 
houses and private rented sector properties. It also explains that 
the need for keyworker housing is high across the county, 
particularly for those working in Oxford city, and the Housing 
Options service needs to reflect this. 
Under this priority the Council outlines how it plans to ‘Increase 
opportunities for people to access low cost home ownership and 
good quality private rented accommodation’ (Section 5, Objective 
1.3):  

 Improve our relationships with the local private rented 

sector to increase innovation and support development of 

the market 

The University is offering, as a partner, to develop on its own land 
for its own use good quality private rented accommodation. It is 
proposing to build subsidised housing for rent for its staff through 
the innovative ‘build-for-rent’ model.  The National Planning Policy 
Framework (2018) in particular makes it clear that ‘build-to-rent’, 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We work to the National 
Planning Policy 
Framework and are open 
to models of affordable 
housing that are diverse 
and targeted at groups 
with evidenced need. 
This could include good 
quality affordable rented 
private sector units. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 116



27 
 

defined as ‘Purpose built housing that it typically 100% rented 
out…part of a wider multi-tenure development compromising either 
flats or houses…on the same site and/or contiguous with the main 
development….offer(ing) longer tenancy arrangements of three 
years or more, and typically professionally managed stock in single 
ownership[p and management control’ is categorised as a form of 
affordable housing (see Annex 2: Glossary to National Planning 
Policy Framework (2018)). This should be recognised in the draft 
Housing Strategy. 
 

25/01/2019 A Private Landlord As a private landlord who takes pride in providing good standards 
of accommodation and who invests in the area I would like to see 
the council engage directly with landlords to tell us what specifically 
they want and need. 
 
This should happen particularly at the planning stage. If we need to 
target a better Energy Performance Certificate or more 
accommodation for a particular category of people like people with 
disabilities it is always possible. However as a landlord as we aim 
to meet those requirements they also need to more supportive of 
our plans and not be a hurdle that we need to get over. 
 

Agreed. We have a 
Landlords Forum and 
newsletter and need to 
find ways to help 
landlords be aware of 
their responsibilities and 
how we can work 
together. Collaborative 
working with responsible 
and positive landlords is 
a priority for us. 

25/01/2019 Results from Survey 
Monkey – Statistics: 
 

61 total responses 
 
46 from CDC residents 
2 x residents of other LAs nearby 
1 x private landlord  
1 x registered provider 
1 x other local authority 
2 x statutory partners 
3 x CDC staff 
 
Do you agree with the 3 Priorities? Yes = 56/ N0 = 5 
 
The Action plan outlines the range of actions that the Council plans 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
92% agreed with the 3 
priorities, 8% disagreed. 
 
34% agree, 45% 

P
age 117



28 
 

to take over the next year (2019/20). Do you think the actions will 
deliver the strategy? Yes = 21/ No = 28 
 

disagree, 21% did not 
answer this question. 
We need to ensure the 
action plan directly 
relates to the strategic 
commitments. The action 
plan is only for 1 year 
and will need to be 
developed and refreshed 
year on year. 
 
 

Specific 
responses as 

follows:  

Bromford - from 
Survey Monkey 

"We welcome the opportunity to respond to the consultation 
outlining Cherwell District Council’s Housing Strategy 2018 – 2023.  
Bromford have been, and are an active developing partner in the 
District. We welcome the importance of place, alongside people in 
the foreword to the strategy. Bromford is committed to developing 
homes in areas that people want to live in and the environment and 
feeling of place and belonging is vital to the development of 
sustainable communities and support the District’s aspiration to 
achieve this. Bringing all elements together, including jobs, 
transport, shops, infrastructure and having a coordinated approach 
to how they interact with new housing is something we support.  
Bromford are committed to developing and building partnership 
relationships and ways of working with ambitious, forward looking 
Local Authorities, where the local authority and Bromford’s 
aspirations are known and understood and complement one 
another. Therefore, we welcome the commitment from the District 
in the strategy to work in partnership with key stakeholders in the 
delivery of affordable housing.   We support the objectives of the 
District’s proposed strategy priorities and respond to each element 
of the consultation as below;  Priority 1 - Increase the supply and 
diversity of affordable housing to ensure the right types of housing 
are available in the right places  1.1 Understand the need for a full 
range of affordable and specialist housing in the district including 

These are all useful 
points to be taken in to 
account in our 
assessment of housing 
need and in our 
conversations with RPs 
about the delivery of 
affordable housing. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 118



29 
 

type, tenure and location.   We support the improvement of 
understanding specific housing needs and would encourage the 
District to engage with registered providers to include the valuable 
data and insight that we have, particularly in relation to affordable 
home ownership.  We support the endeavour to work with parish 
councils and local groups to develop plans on how to respond to 
the housing needs in the villages. We also support the commitment 
to ensure that new development contributes to the vibrant and 
sustainable communities the district is aiming to create, however 
we would request that the District considers the impact of the 
emergence of large estate management charges that are occurring 
on many new developments, which negatively impact the 
affordability of both rented and aspiring affordable home ownership 
customers. This is exacerbated where there are the requirements 
for large open spaces as an example, which are then having to be 
privately maintained. One potential proposal could be to seek to 
limit, or cap the level of estate charge that can be levied on 
affordable housing delivered through S106.  1.2  Deliver a 
range of affordable homes that meet the needs of local residents 
and workers.  The commitment from the District to also support the 
unmet housing need of Oxford City is similar to that of South 
Gloucestershire, Bath & North East Somerset, North Somerset and 
Bristol. It might be beneficial to speak to colleagues in these areas 
in relation to the progress made and some of the challenges that 
have been discussed.   1.3 Work in partnership with private 
developers, Registered Providers, landowners and new 
communities to gain greater control over the delivery of housing 
including affordable housing.  We welcome the commitment by the 
District to work closely with all partners and would welcome the 
opportunity to work with the District in relation to the opportunities 
to deliver more affordable housing. As an association we are 
forecasting to deliver 194 new homes in the district this year, with 
our aspirations aligning with the District.  Bath Road, Banbury : 78 
homes for older persons, delivering 42% affordable housing in the 
shape of shared ownership and affordable rent opportunities, as 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We have noted the 
estate management fees 
issue and the impact on 
affordability and will look 
at how to address this. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 119



30 
 

well as 46 properties available for market sale.     1.4
 Maximise and make best use of financial assets and 
resources, including those of the council, registered providers and 
Homes England, to deliver affordable housing in the district.  We 
support the District’s commitment to reviewing its land holdings that 
could be considered for affordable housing, we would also urge the 
District to consider what it defines as ‘best value’ return for any land 
identified, whether this be a monetary value or whether outcomes 
that meet a number of the District’s ambitions would be considered 
valuable.    Priority 2 – Improve the quality and sustainability of our 
homes and build thriving, healthy communities 2.4 Improve the 
quality of new homes and the existing housing stock. We support 
the District’s aspiration to demonstrate that increased standards in 
new build housing are deliverable and this aligns with our aspiration 
to deliver quality homes. We would request that the District 
consider what it means when it defines quality, as this could include 
size, layout, components, location, services, local provision. 
Bromford envisages that view is required to ensure that both the 
quality and quantity of housing is balanced. Priority 3 – Enhance 
opportunities for residents to access suitable homes and have 
housing choices.  We support the District’s objective to increase the 
opportunity to access low cost home ownership and feel that there 
is opportunity to work in partnership to raise the profile of the 
options available to individuals, to work with the District to increase 
understanding of various home ownership products.        

 
We recognise that more 
could be done to 
promote low cost home 
ownership options and 
we need to take a role in 
this. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We are committed to 
working with Registered 
Providers to ensure 
affordable housing is of 
good quality and can be 
adapted when people’s 
needs change. 
 
 

 A CDC employee - 
from Survey Monkey 

2.4.1 I would like to see a commitment to using the full range of 
new powers for the enforcement of the Private Rented Sector 
 
2.1.1 “Increase awareness” is not measurable.   An additional 
quantitative action could be added e.g. improvement of X Energy 
Performance Certificates/Standard Assessment Procedures or Y 
grants etc.   2.4.1 add additional enforcement-focused actions 
(especially relating to new powers) 
 
I would like to see the following elements become central to 

We have put in place 
policies to enable us to 
use our new powers 
under the Housing and 
Planning Act 2016 for 
example and are 
committed to taking 
enforcement action 
where education and 
informal action have not 

P
age 120



31 
 

enforcement of the Private Rented Sector:  Driving up 
landlord/agent knowledge   Removing the [financial] benefits of 
non-compliance and working to make Private Rented Sector 
enforcement more cost-neutral (putting burden of enforcement on 
rogue landlords and ensuring non-compliance does not pay). Key 
to this is exploring innovative options for charging for services, civil 
penalties, rent repayment orders etc.  A strategic Private Rented 
Sector energy efficiency project incorporating the Housing, Health 
and Safety Rating System, thermal imaging etc., enforcement of 
Minimum Energy Efficiency Standard, grants, loans, and promotion. 
Possible opportunity to apply for specific project funding?  Future 
work will likely be needed to increase tenant awareness of the 
housing (suitability for habitation) bill 
 
Licence is a noun, e.g. a landlord’s House in Multiple Occupation 
licence.  Licensing is a verb, e.g. the process of Houses in Multiple 
Occupation licensing. 
 

been successful. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Agreed – typos have 
been checked. 

 Previous resident, 
renting nearby – from 
Survey Monkey 

The houses will not be truly affordable. 
 
Make the houses significantly cheaper, including rental properties. 
 
Rental market for professional locals who are stuck in expensive 
rentals and struggling even though they have a good job. 
 
I am a teacher with 30 years’ experience. Following divorce I am 
having to rent. I earn £2600 a month and my rent is £1500. I am 
expected to help my eldest child with university fees as my salary is 
above the threshold for a full loan. It is ridiculous that I cannot 
afford to live in the Oxfordshire area as a single parent. Universal 
credit gives me £245. If I lived in the North of England would be 
considered well off. There needs to be a huge change in the price 
of housing. 
 

Average house prices 
are high but we could 
advise on possible 
options for someone in 
this income bracket. 

 A resident of The council should be prioritising council housing over housing for Noted. 

P
age 121



32 
 

Cherwell District 
Council – from 
Survey Monkey 

private ownership or rent. 
The addition of council housing should be added to future years’ 
plans.  
 
Yes…the current housing in Banbury is based on private ownership 
but mainly private rental ownership which pushes prices to buy and 
rents up. The town need a large amount of council houses and flats 
to rebalance the market. 

Cherwell District Council 
has developed its own 
affordable housing 
through development 
arm Build! and we work 
with Registered 
Providers to deliver 
affordable housing for 
rent. We want to do more 
to deliver affordable 
housing. 

 A resident of 
Cherwell District 
Council – from 
Survey Monkey 
 

It will work where focussed, but I suspect it will mean little to middle 
income earners 
 
Help increase insulation further, support self generation, and 
practical guidance on heating (not just turn heating down 1 degree) 
 
Renewable energy people can buy into without currently having 
funds for solar panels.    Wider use of thermal cameras to identify 
poor insulation. 
 

Agreed – we need to 
promote the help 
available through the 
Affordable Warmth 
Network. 

 A resident of 
Cherwell District 
Council – from 
Survey Monkey 

I think we definitely need more affordable housing in the district, 
which has clearly been addressed in this strategy. I think shared-
ownership is an excellent way for people to be able to afford to get 
on the property ladder and I think there should be more shared-
ownership opportunities in the district.   However, as good as it is 
for us to be providing affordable housing, I think the current rule of 
providing 35% affordable housing on schemes of 11 units or more 
needs reviewing. For some developers, this rule may mean that a 
development idea has to be scrapped altogether as it wouldn’t be 
financially viable. Perhaps it would be better to have this rule on a 
sliding scale and/or more flexibility for developers. And to 
compensate for this, maybe CDC could consider building larger 
sites which are purely for shared-ownership. 
 

Developers can deliver 
below the percentage of 
affordable housing 
required by Planning but 
only where they can 
demonstrate that the 
scheme would otherwise 
not be viable and this is 
corroborated through 
Cherwell District 
Council’s own analysis. 

P
age 122



33 
 

 A resident of 
Cherwell District 
Council – from 
Survey Monkey 

We need affordable housing and lots of it £300,000.00 for a house 
is unattainable by the normal person 
 
Make developers build more affordable housing 
 

Noted. 

 A resident of 
Cherwell District 
Council - from 
Survey Monkey 

There needs to be a stronger core commitment to social housing 
quotas in all new building projects, properly policed and adhered to, 
alongside an increase in council-held social housing stock. 
 
Increase Cherwell District Council’s housing stock; redraw 
contracts for new building projects; make infrastructural 
improvements partly the (well structured) responsibility of 
developers; make planning permission contingent on Cherwell 
District Council’s own infrastructural projects (GPs, schools, 
transport links, shops) and on the developers’ own contribution to 
such improvements; make planning permission information more 
public and easier to access 
 
Infrastructure link with housing projects. Better planning and 
consultation. Bigger Cherwell District Council social housing stock. 
More stringent housing affordability criteria. 
 

Build! holds and 
manages around 200 
affordable units owned 
by the Council. We have 
identified the need for 
more homes at social 
rent (as opposed to 
‘affordable’ rent) but 
there are challenges in 
terms of grant funding to 
achieve this.  
We take the message 
that Housing and 
Planning need to work 
closely together on 
affordable housing and 
infrastructure for 
housing.  

 A resident of 
Cherwell District 
Council – from 
Survey Monkey 

Significant increase in council owned affordable rent properties.  
Private rental is too insecure. 
Council built homes to replace the ones sold off due to Central 
Government policies 
 

We have 150 
households that we have 
successfully helped in to 
the private rented sector 
(PRS) via Cherwell Bond 
Scheme. Many of these 
tenancies have lasted for 
years and are stable. 
The PRS does have its 
place and is a positive 
option where it is 
affordable, well managed 

P
age 123



34 
 

and good quality. We 
know that more 
affordable housing is 
required and this tends 
to be delivered by RPs 
and Build! 

 A resident of 
Cherwell District 
Council – from 
Survey Monkey 

With central government, you need to enforce planning regulations 
in particular the requirement for developers to actually build homes 
that ordinary people can afford and not let them get away with 
excuses as keeps happening. 
 
Lobby central government for legislative assistance to achieve your 
goals. Expose developers which renege on promises. 
 
Good luck and make sure homes are built in appropriate places, 
close to facilities and not scatter gunned all over the area. 
 
 

Noted. We will scrutinise 
and challenge viability 
assessments where 
necessary when 
developers argue that 
affordable housing 
delivery requirements 
cannot be met. 

 A resident of 
Cherwell District 
Council – from 
Survey Monkey 
 
 

Too many houses are being built for the wrong reasons and in the 
wrong places, such as flood plains 

Noted. 

 A resident of 
Cherwell District 
Council – from 
Survey Monkey 

Council consistently fails to take account of people’s needs  
 

Noted.  

 A resident of 
Cherwell District 
Council – from 
Survey Monkey 

Always empty promises . 
 
You need to look after existing properties. Cherwell heights a 
disgrace. Pot holes dirty street signs. Road down bankside is 
disgusting . New roundabout you built in the middle weeds . All 
paths up Cherwell heights need attention. Look after what you've 
got before building more. Schools full senior schools overcrowded. 

Noted. Housing is still in 
development on this site. 

P
age 124



35 
 

Gp surgeries full . 
 
Better roads everywhere is gridlocked. 
 

 A resident of 
Cherwell District 
Council – from 
Survey Monkey 

No more building. Think of wildlife rather than the council tax. 
 
Save Greenbelt. Stop destroying habitats to line your pockets. 
 
No more loss of Environments. Plant more trees. Replace the ones 
you cut down with indigenous trees that will be beneficial to 
indigenous wildlife. More English Oaks and Horse chestnut trees... 
Not Sycamores. Plant more wild indigenous flowers. Put up more 
bird, bat & bug boxes. 
 
No more Houses. 
 

Noted. We aim to meet 
the housing needs of our 
communities that do not 
have access to suitable, 
affordable housing and 
at the same time 
preserve wildlife and 
plant life wherever 
possible.  

 A resident of 
Cherwell District 
Council – from 
Survey Monkey 

Very slow getting things done always a hold back, excuse after 
excuse 
 
Eco friendly , solar panels, etc   Transport for the elderly and the 
young and not just for bretch hill who have buses every half to a 
hour service should be spread out evenly. 
 
Teenage park where they got something to do like a bmx ,skate 
board, basketball, netball park ,  Jogging park not enough for 10yrs 
old upwards to do in this town 
 
Should be more focused on the elderly not retirement flats like little 
bungalows with a garden old people like garden growing 
vegetables or flowers and it keep them active   Also the young one 
bedroom flats/house be a good starting point in life make them to 
have responsibilities having a housing officer to check on them 
 

Noted. We recognise we 
need to do more to 
deliver the diversity of 
housing that older and 
young people need. 

 A resident of 
Cherwell District 

I am against the new housing development that Cherwell District 
Council is trying to get passed and using taxpayers money to do it. 

Noted. We need to 
balance new 

P
age 125



36 
 

Council – from 
Survey Monkey  

There is no infrastructure in place for the housing increase. It’s a 
nightmare now trying to get to Oxford in the morning, what will 
happen with 1000 plus more cars on the roads. It now takes 3 
weeks to get a doctor’s appointment, what will happen with 4000 
new homes. Flooding will increase and what will happen with the 
beautiful walks we now enjoy with our family and 4 legged friends, 
not to mention the wildlife, where do they go. This is not thought out 
and it seems all the Councillors that are for this, live outside the 
area waiting to get backhanders. Why should Yarnton, Begbroke & 
Kidlington build houses for Oxford, they have many abandoned 
houses/locations they can redevelop within their own City.   
 
These houses are not going to help the homeless, look at the 
houses being built in Botley and surrounding areas. £600,000. 
Build within Oxford, do not use the Greenbelt! 
 
As stated above, this is totally ludicrous. There are more suitable 
locations for Oxfords unmet housing needs, try their own City limits 
where the roads would not be overcrowded to get into the City. All 
the unused buildings where we would not have to build on our 
precious greenbelt.   
 

development with the 
need for jobs and 
infrastructure. We are 
committed to sustainable 
transport options and to 
designing this in to new 
developments. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 A resident of 
Cherwell District 
Council – from 
Survey Monkey 

For a period Banbury people should be given priority in all sorts of 
houses that are to be built,  Too many 4/5/6 bedroom properties 
being built.   
 
Concentrate on local people, Stick to greenfield areas set out.  
Fight planning in these areas. 

Noted. We are aware 
from our register that 
there is a particular 
shortage of affordable 1 
and 2 bedroom 
properties. 

27/01/2019 A Resident of 
Cherwell District 
Council  

I am more than a little surprised that many of the tasks proposed in 
the ‘strategy’ are not already being done. Is there reason for these 
being included at this stage? 
 e.g. Isn’t there already a definition of ‘affordable’, in the Cherwell 
context, and if not, why not? .  
 
I have concentrated my attention on Appendix A, as this will lay the 

The affordable options 
that CDC allocates 
through its Housing 
Service are homes for 
social rent and at 
affordable rent (up to a 
maximum of 80% market 

P
age 126



37 
 

ground for future action and have to say that this document is not 
laid out in a very economical way, requiring 10 pages of paper 
when probably fewer would have sufficed had the acres of unused 
spaced been properly utilised.  
 
Also commenting on the document is not easy as the there is no 
‘consultation response’ provision as is usual in Cherwell 
consultations.  
 
Could the tabulations be re-cast in a fashion that provides a blank 
column (on the right, say, as columns 1, 3 & 5 could be narrower ? 
) and also provide this in a format that allows comments to be 
inserted in this ‘blank’ column on an ‘interactive’ basis before 
return.  
This would avoid an enormous amount of work for commentators in 
identifying the subject of comment? The tabulation in this form 
would also allow those without Internet to return their comments by 
post. 
To receive comments opposite the relevant item would surely aid 
analysis? 
 

rent). In terms of 
development we work to 
the NPPF and our 
planning requirements 
are 30%/35% affordable 
housing within new 
developments. This can 
include low cost home 
ownership options but 
cannot be wholly so. 

16/01/2019 
(approximate 
date) 

Comments on Social 
Media via repost on 
Banburyshire Info – 
total of 48 comments 
 

Affordability (x7 posts in total) 
Build ‘Affordable housing that is actually affordable’ (x1)/ ‘I’d like to 
see council housing, not housing association or unaffordable’(1)/ 
build Council housing (x2)/ Social housing  (x2)/ Concerns about 
rent levels in Sanctuary properties (existing tenant) (x1) 
Sanctuary (x1 post) 
Concerns about sanctuary not doing repairs (x1 post) 
Improvements to infrastructure  (x 7 posts) 
‘Infrastructure BEFORE we build anymore bloody houses! (x1) 
Roads/ repairs to roads (x2 posts) 
Request for a ‘ring of nature walks/ cycle paths around Banbury so 
there are free things for people to do. (x1) 
More places to park/ estates with pubs with a garden for kids/ 
shops/ doctors/ dentist close by/ bus route/ ‘stop building close to 

Noted – these points are 
useful in our 
conversations with 
partners and confirm 
what a number of 
commentators have said. 

P
age 127



38 
 

roads then fencing them off so you have to go round in circles’ (x1) 
Build a hospital/ improve the Horton (x2) 
Housing design standards (x3 posts) 
‘Build upwards a few stories rather than sprawling estates where 
everyone overlooks everyone else’ (x1) 
‘No more rabbit hutches for people to live in’ (x1) 
Build more 1 beds for single people (x1) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 128



  
Appendix 4 

 
Equality Impact Assessment – Housing Strategy 2019-24 

 
 
 

CONTENTS 
 
 
 
 
APPENDIX 1 STAGE 1    INITIAL SCREENING DETAILS………………………………………3 
 
STAGE 1 INITIAL    SCREENING ASSESSMENT………………………………………….4 
 
STAGE 1 NARRATIVE    QUESTION NARRATIVE………………………………………………5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Equality Impact Assessment 
 

Page 129



 
 
 
APPENDIX 1 STAGE 1 - INITIAL SCREENING DETAILS ASSESSING POLICIES AND ACTIVITIES - GUIDANCE 
FOR STAFF 
 
Notes: 
1. As a result of this exercise, you will have checked that your policy or activity does not have adverse impact on 
equality groups and you will have identified relevant action that you need to take, and the likely costs/resources 
associated with any improvement. The equality groups covered are at present: Disability, Gender Reassignment, 
Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, Religion or Belief, Sex, Sexual Orientation, Age & Marriage or Civil Partnership. 
 
Note. This is not simply a paper exercise - it is designed to make sure that your policy or activity is delivered 
fairly and effectively to all sections of our local community. 
 
2. Please note that the Council is required to publish the results of these assessments, and updates, therefore your 
completed Appendices may be public documents. 
 
3. Appendix 1 questionnaire (to be completed for each relevant Strategy, Policy or Service Development) is for 
use regardless of whether your policy or activity is aimed at external customers or internal staff.  
 
 
Please tick/delete as appropriate:  Is this EIA for a,  
 
 Strategy   New/Existing    
 
 Policy   Existing 
 
Service Development  New/Existing 
 
 
Name of Strategy, Policy or Service Development:   
 
AIMS, OBJECTIVES & PURPOSE OF THE POLICY OR ACTIVITY: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PLEASE LIST THE MAIN STAKEHOLDERS/BENEFICIARIES IN TERMS OF THE RECIPIENTS OF THE 
ACTIVITY OR THE TARGET GROUP AT WHOM THE POLICY IS AIMED:  
 
Residents, Registered Providers, Homes England, Oxfordshire Growth Board, Parish councils/community groups, 
Oxfordshire County Council and other voluntary and statutory agencies. 
 
 
IF THE ACTIVITY IS PROVIDED BY ANOTHER DEPARTMENT, ORGANISATION, PARTNERSHIP OR AGENCY 
ON BEHALF OF THE AUTHORITY, PLEASE GIVE THE NAMES OF THESE ORGANISATIONS/AGENCIES:  
 
Cherwell District Council is responsible for producing and implementing the housing strategy.  Various partners and 
stakeholders will help Cherwell District Council deliver actions within the action plan. 
 
 
 
 
LEAD OFFICER: Joanne Barrett   TEL: Ext 2369 
SERVICE AREA:  Housing    DIRECTORATE: Operations 
ASSESSMENT DATE:  01/02/2019  ASSESSMENT REVIEW DATE:      

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

X X 

  

  

The Housing Strategy sets out the strategic direction for the housing service 
and the delivery of housing in Cherwell for the period 2018-2023.  An action 
plan sits alongside the strategy document which will be updated annually. 

Page 130



STAGE 1 – INITIAL SCREENING ASSESSMENT 
 
 

Q Screening Questions Y/N 

1. 
 

Does the policy or activity knowingly prevent us in anyway from meeting our 
statutory equality duties under the 2010 Equality Act? 

N 

2 Is there any evidence that any part of the proposed policy or activity could 
discriminate unlawfully, directly or indirectly, against particular equality groups? 

N 

3 Is there any evidence that information about the policy or activity is not 
accessible to any equalities groups? 

N 

4 Has the Council received any complaints about the policy or activity under 
review, in respect of equality issues? 

N 

5 Have there been any recommendations in this area arising from, for example, 
internal/external audits or scrutiny reports? 

N 

6 Will the proposed policy or activity have negative consequences for people we 
employ, partner or contract with? 

N 

7 This Strategy, Policy or Service Development has an impact on other council 
services i.e. Customer Services and those services have not yet been consulted. 

Y 

8 Will there be a negative impact on any equalities groups? If so please provide 
brief details below. 

N 

 Equality Impact:                    Evidence:  

 

Disability 

Gender Reassignment 

Pregnancy & Maternity 

Race 

Religion or Belief 

Sex 

Sexual Orientation 

Age 

Marriage & Civil Partnership 

9 Is the proposed policy or activity likely to have a negative affect on our relations 
with certain equality groups or local community?  If so please explain. 

N 

10 There has been no consultation with equalities groups about this policy or 
activity? Answer yes if you agree with this statement. 
If there has been consultation, please list the equality groups you have consulted 
with:  
The consultation phase for the Housing Strategy ran for 7 weeks and included a 
stakeholder consultation event and meetings with key stakeholders. The Strategy 
was publicly available on the website and accessible formats were available on 
request. 
Meetings with key stakeholders included meeting with those representing some 
of the equality groups such as Banbury Youth Homeless Project and the 
Vulnerable Young Person’s Panel. 
61 responses were received through the online consultation with 46 of those 
responses being residents of Cherwell. 
 

N 

11 Has this assessment missed opportunities to promote equality of opportunity and 
positive attitudes? 

N 

 
Proceed to In Depth (Full) Assessment (complete Appendix 2) if the answer is YES to 
more than one of the above questions. 
 
For any YES answers include an improvement action in your Equality Improvement 
Plan. 
Declaration 
I am satisfied that an initial screening has been carried out on this policy or activity and an In Depth (Full) Equality 
Impact Assessment  is not required. I understand that the EIA is required by the Council and take responsibility for 
the completion and quality of this assessment. 
 

Page 131



Completed by: Joanne Barrett/Paul France    Date: 6/2/19 
Countersigned by Assistant Director: Gillian Douglas   Date: 6/2/19 
 

 
 

Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
Please detail below your evidence which has determined whether you have answered either Yes or No to the 
initial screening questions. 
 
 

Screening Questions Screening Narrative 

Does the policy or activity 
knowingly prevent us in any way 
from meeting our statutory 
equality duties under the 2010 
Equality Act? 

NO, the strategy and action plan include actions/activity 
to better meet the housing needs of equalities groups, 
particularly older people, young people and disabled 
people who often have specific housing needs that are 
not met through mainstream market options. All 
housing policy and development will be planned and 
implemented with reference to our public sector 
equality duties. 
 

Is there any evidence that any 
part of the proposed policy or 
activity could discriminate 
unlawfully, directly or indirectly, 
against particular equality 
groups? 

NO, the strategy and action plan seek to support 
compliance with the Equalities Act 2010 and better 
understand and meet the needs of equalities groups. 
 

Is there any evidence that 
information about the policy or 
activity is not accessible to any 
equalities groups? 

NO, the draft strategy was published on the Council’s 
website with accessible information in different formats 
and community languages being available on request.  
We hosted a stakeholder consultation event which 
included stakeholders that work with or represent 
equalities groups and vulnerable people including 
rough sleepers, care leavers, disabled adults and 
survivors of domestic abuse. We have also had 
focused consultation meetings with specific 
stakeholders, some of which also represent some of 
the equalities groups.  

 

Has the Council received any 
complaints about the policy or 
activity under review, in respect 
of equality issues? 

NO, none of the consultation responses were in 
complaints about equalities issues but several 
confirmed the need to do more to tackle inequalities in 
access to and provision of suitable and affordable 
housing. 

Have there been any 
recommendations in this area 
arising from, for example, 
internal/external audits or scrutiny 
reports? 

NO, there have been not been recommendations in 
respect of specifically identified equality issues. 
Consultation responses have included suggestions to 
expand on and further consider initiatives that affect 
equalities groups, such as housing initiatives for 
younger or older people, foster carers and children 
leaving care. 
 

Will the proposed policy or 
activity have negative 
consequences for people we 
employ, partner or contract with? 

NO, the Housing Strategy is intended to set out the 
strategic direction of the housing service and includes a 
clear plan of action. This will be positive for the people 
we employ and our partners. 
This positive action has been highlighted in some of the 
consultation responses we received which includes, for 
example: 

 “We welcome the intention to work with 
partners to develop detailed understanding of 

Page 132



specialist housing requirements.” 

 “Appreciate that this Housing Strategy sets out 
Cherwell District Council’s plans for its own 
housing service for the period 2018-2023, 
although the strategy acknowledges that much 
of what is in the strategy is aspirational and can 
only be delivered with its partners.” 

 “We welcome the commitment from the District 
in the strategy to work in partnership with key 
stakeholders in the delivery of affordable 
housing” 

  

This Strategy, Policy or Service 
Development has an impact on 
other council services i.e. 
Customer Services and those 
services have not yet been 
consulted. 

YES, the strategy has been drafted in partnership with 
other key Council led services and companies that link 
to housing activity including Build!, Graven Hill, 
Communities Team and the Bicester Team.  This work 
has resulted in activity in the action plan that will involve 
the Customer Services Team and Property Investment 
Team and this will require further planning ahead of 
implementation.  The Housing Team will proactively 
engage with all teams affected by the new strategy and 
that have a role to play e.g. Planning. 
 

Will there be a negative impact 
on any equalities groups? 

NO, the strategy and action plan seek to better 
understand, meet the needs and impact positively on 
equalities groups as opposed to having a negative 
impact. 
 
 

Is the proposed policy or activity 
likely to have a negative affect on 
our relations with certain 
equalities groups or local 
community?  If so please explain. 
 

NO. Relations with certain equality groups and the 
community should only be positively affected by this 
strategy although we acknowledge that some 
stakeholders would like to see the pace of delivery 
being speeded up.  

There has been no consultation 
with equalities groups about this 
policy or activity? Answer yes if 
you agree with this statement. 
If there has been consultation, 
please list the equality groups 
you have consulted with: 

 

NO. 
The consultation phase for the Housing Strategy ran for 
7 weeks and included a stakeholder consultation event 
and meetings with key stakeholders. The Strategy was 
publicly available on the website and accessible 
formats were available on request. 
We hosted a stakeholder consultation event which 
included some stakeholders that represent equality 
groups.  
Meetings with key stakeholders individually also 
included meeting with those representing some of the 
equality groups such as Banbury Youth Homeless 
Project and the Vulnerable Young Person’s Panel. 
61 responses were received through the online 
consultation alone with 46 of those responses being 
residents of Cherwell. 
 

Has this assessment missed 
opportunities to promote equality 
of opportunity and positive 
attitudes? 

NO. But this is an ongoing activity that needs to kept on 
the housing agenda. 

 
The results of the Stage 1 Assessment confirm that a Stage 2 Assessment is not required.   
This Equality Impact Assessment to be monitored and reviewed one year after Policy implementation. 

 

Page 133



Equality Impact Assessment 
 
 
 
 
Notes: 
1. The in-depth (full) assessment must consider all available data and research. This could include the results of 
employee or stakeholder surveys, the results of consultation, audits, service reviews, employment monitoring data, 
population data, research findings, and data collected through monitoring the implementation of the policy or activity 
and evaluations of projects/programmes, data about the performance of local services. 
2. The assessment above must also state how the policy was assessed and the details of the methods of 
involvement of appropriate people, for example, staff networks, external stakeholders and equality groups. 
 
 
Completed by: Joanne Barrett/Paul France   Role: Joint Housing Manager  
Date Started:  12/11/2018    Date completed: 6/2/19 
 
 
 

Declaration 
I am satisfied that an In Depth (Full) Assessment has been undertaken. 
I understand that this EIA is required by the Council and take responsibility for its completion and quality. 
 
 
Countersigned by Assistant Director:  Gillian Douglas   Date: 6/2/19 
 

Page 134



Appendix 1 

Topic and suggested by Update Status / Proposed action 

Car Parking 
 
Councillor Sean Gaul:  
(Feasibility of free parking in Bicester 
Town Centre) 
(Councillor Neil Prestidge: 
Decriminalised parking in Kidlington) 

The next meeting of the review group is arranged for 6 
March with the view to completing a proposed Car 
Parking Strategy.  

It is anticipated that a draft Strategy will be submitted 
to the 26 March 2019 Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
meeting for consideration. 

Canalside Strategy.   
 
Councillor Cassi Perry: 
If done well, canals can be very 
successful in drawing people to a 
town.  What is the strategy to include 
the Oxford Canal as an attraction to 
Banbury Town  

A report ‘Banbury Strategic Investment Vision’ went to 
the 1 October Executive.  The report set out how CDC 
would use its own resources to enable the overall vision 
for Banbury and Banbury Canal-side to be realised. 

The timetable for the Supplementary Planning 
Document for Banbury and Canal-side is being reviewed  

Kidlington and Bicester Town Centre – 
Progress against master plans 
 
Councillor Neil Prestidge 
Councillor Lucinda Wing: 
Should a strategy to encourage High 
Street Retailers to town centres be in 
the Masterplan? 

At the meeting of the Committee in October 2018, 
clarification was sought regarding reference to ‘failing’ 
town centres. 
Committee clarified that it was action against 
masterplans that was sought, therefore the topic title has 
been amended.   

Officers have been advised of the clarification provided 
by Committee. Officers from Planning Policy have 
indicated they would be willing to respond to any 
relevant questions and the item is currently listed 
under “items to be allocated” pending confirmation of 
officers’ availability to attend a meeting.  

Emergency Planning 
 
Councillor Cherry 

The item has been scheduled for the 26 March 2019 
meeting of the Committee 

Following consideration of this item at the meeting it 
will be removed from the Topic list. 

Youth Provision  
 

This topic arose following the Show and Tell on 
Community Safety to the November 2018 meeting and 
added as a potential topic for 2019/20 

This item will be considered as part of the 2019/20 
work programme 

 

P
age 135

A
genda Item

 8

http://modgov.cherwell.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=115&MId=3014&Ver=4


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 

Overview and Scrutiny Indicative Work Programme - 2018/2019 
 

Item Description Contact Officer 

   
 

 
26 March 2019  
 

Show and Tell  - Customer Services 
 

Customer Service Improvement project to 
be delivered by April 2019 

Claire Taylor, Director Customers and Service 
Development 
Geoff Kent, Assistant Director Customer and 
Corporate Services 
 

Show and Tell – Landscape 
maintenance Contract – Environment 
Directorate 

Overview of the Landscape Maintenance 
Contract 

Graeme Kane – Chief Operating Officer 
Ed Potter – Assistant Director – Environmental 
Services 
 

Consideration of Car Parking Review 
Recommendations 

Outcome of Car Parking Scrutiny Review 
Woking Group 

Graeme Kane – Chief Operating Officer 
Ed Potter – Assistant Director – Environmental 
Services 
Natasha Clark, Democratic and Elections 
Lesley Farrell, Democratic and Elections 

Emergency Planning 
 

An update on the process, in particular in 
light of joint working with OCC 
 

Graeme Kane, Chief Operating Officer 

Work Programme   Standing item: Updates on topics 
suggested for consideration and review of 
work programme  

Emma Faulkner, Democratic and Elections 
Lesley Farrell, Democratic and Elections 

   
 

   

 

P
age 137



Appendix 2 

Item Description Contact Officer 

Items to be allocated 
 

Masterplan update focus on supporting 
thriving town centres   

Information on progress of masterplan 
implementation and support being offered 
to town centres to assist regeneration 

Paul Feehily, Interim Executive Director Place and 
Growth 
David Peckford, Deputy Manager – Planning Policy 
and Growth Strategy 

CDC’s support of Veterans Request from Cllr Corkin for the 
Committee to add to their workplan.   
 

Nicola Riley -  Assistant Director Wellbring 

Show and Tell –  Wellbeing Directorate  Overview of the Wellbeing Directorate Nicola Riley – Assistant Director Wellbeing 
 

   
 

 

P
age 138


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	6 Monthly Performance, Risk and Finance Monitoring Report - December 2018
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 2 Cover
	Appendix 2 Cover
	Appendix 2a cover
	June Appendix 1-3
	Appendix 1 June 18
	June18 cover
	Appendix 1 Performance Cover Sheet May






	JBP Dec
	CDC Dec KPI 

	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4

	7 Draft Housing Strategy 2019-2024: 'Cherwell - A Place to Prosper'
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4

	8 Work Programme - 2018/2019
	Appendix 2




